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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
September 30, 2019

December 31, 2018

(unaudited)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Investments
Accounts receivable, net
Royalty receivable
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets

29,433

$

16,380

—

7,245

10,477

13,244

170

145

11,558

9,534

1,435

1,408

53,073

47,956

13,362

14,439

6,136

—

462

462

24

109

Other Assets
Restricted cash
Intangible assets, net
Other long-term assets

232

Total assets

17

$

73,289

$

62,983

$

4,601

$

3,445

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

8,515

7,930

Operating lease liabilities

1,454

—

Advance on research and development

2,500

—

17,070

11,375

Total current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

—

616

Contract liability

11,500

—

Long-term debt, less debt issuance costs

19,435

14,792

Operating lease liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies

5,384

—

53,389

26,783

—

—

—

—

1

1

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value:
Authorized: 5,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018; no shares issued and
outstanding as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018
Common stock, $0.00001 par value:
Authorized: 200,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018; 68,379,064 and
65,290,879 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity

518,636

513,336

(498,712)

(475,667)

(25)

(1,470)

19,900
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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73,289

36,200
$

62,983

CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended September 30,
2019

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018

2019

2018

Revenue
Product

$

17,112

Royalty
Total revenue

$

18,332

$

56,918

$

56,723

191

10,652

622

11,017

17,303

28,984

57,540

67,740

Cost of revenue

9,675

9,265

30,459

30,123

Gross profit

7,628

19,719

27,081

37,617

Sales and marketing

6,153

9,053

21,231

29,273

Research and development

3,162

3,867

9,402

13,411

General and administrative

5,165

6,582

15,783

18,524

Operating expenses

Goodwill impairment
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

—

6,731

—

6,731

14,480

26,233

46,416

67,939

(6,852)

(6,514)

(19,335)

(30,322)

Other income and expenses
Interest income
Interest expense
Foreign currency exchange transaction (loss) income
Total other (expenses) income, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax provision

58

164

(573)

(788)

(2,363)

(2,289)

(1,313)

(272)

(1,568)

(1,285)

475

(1,828)

(896)

(3,675)

(3,099)

(8,680)

(7,410)

(23,010)

(33,421)

21

Net loss

256

27

35

74

$

(8,701)

$

(7,437)

$

(23,045)

$

(33,495)

$

(0.13)

$

(0.12)

$

(0.36)

$

(0.58)

Net loss per share
Basic and diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic and diluted

64,750,275

60,225,504

63,651,412

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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58,224,963

CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Three Months Ended September 30,
2019

Net loss

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018

(8,701)

$

2019

(7,437)

$

2018

(23,045)

$

(33,495)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments

1,227

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities,
net of tax
Comprehensive loss

261

—
$

(7,474)

1,445

3
$

(7,173)

1,206

—
$

(21,600)

32
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(32,257)

CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Common Stock
Shares

Balance, June 30, 2019

Par Value

68,689,192

Issuance of common stock—restricted stock

Additional PaidIn Capital

$

1

(310,128)

$

—

518,563

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(490,011)

$

(1,252)

Total

$

Compensation expense related to issued stock options and
restricted stock awards

—

73
73
(8,701)

Net loss

(8,701)

Other comprehensive income

1,227
68,379,064

Balance, September 30, 2019

27,301

—

$

1

$

518,636

$

(498,712)

$

(25)

1,227
$

19,900

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019
Common Stock
Shares

Balance, December 31, 2018

65,290,879

Additional Paid-In
Capital

Par Value

$

1

$

513,336

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(475,667)

$

(1,470)

Total

$

36,200

Issuance of common stock—option exercise

34,669

—

121

121

Issuance of common stock—restricted stock

2,278,322

—

—

—

775,194

—

3,000

3,000

2,179

2,179

Issuance of common stock—Innovatus
Compensation expense related to issued stock options
and restricted stock awards
Net loss

(23,045)

(23,045)

Other comprehensive income
Balance, September 30, 2019

1,445
68,379,064

$

1

$

518,636

$

(498,712)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(25)

1,445
$

19,900

CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2018
Common Stock
Shares

Balance, June 30, 2018

63,113,630

Issuance of common stock—restricted stock

(31,946)

Issuance of common stock—ATM

556,334

Additional PaidIn Capital

Par Value

$

1

$

—

Compensation expense related to issued stock options
and restricted stock awards

509,790

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(458,360)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income
(Loss)

$

Total

(2,262)

$

—

499

499

960

960

Net loss

(7,437)

(7,437)

Other comprehensive loss

264
63,638,018

Balance, September 30, 2018

1

49,169

—

511,249

(465,797)

264

(1,998)

43,455

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Common Stock
Shares

Balance, December 31, 2017

45,528,519

Issuance of common stock—option exercise
Issuance of common stock—restricted stock
Issuance of common stock—2018 offering
Issuance of common stock—ATM

Additional PaidIn Capital

Par Value

$

—

80,000

—

$

486,570

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(436,821)

$

$

112

46,513
112

2,139,832

—

—

—

15,333,333

1

21,324

21,325

556,334

—

499

499

2,744

2,744

Compensation expense related to issued stock options
and restricted stock awards
Cumulative-effect adjustment from adoption of ASC 606
Net loss

4,519

4,519

(33,495)

(33,495)
1,238

Other comprehensive loss
Balance, September 30, 2018

(3,236)

Total

63,638,018

$

1

$

511,249

$

(465,797)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(1,998)

1,238
$

43,455

CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2019

2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

$

(23,045)

$

(33,495)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense

3,192

3,015

Stock-based compensation expense

2,179

2,744

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net

1,506

1,250

Non-cash lease expense

863

—

Provision for bad debts on trade receivables

58

(16)

Impairment of goodwill

—

6,731

Impairment of long-term assets

60

1,940

Disposal of long term-assets

—

Loss on extinguishment of debt
Non-cash interest expense

(2)

1,085

—

225

82

Amortization/accretion on investments

(4)

17

Deferred tax

—

(1)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

2,708

Royalty receivable
Inventories

(10,434)

(2,023)

(875)

Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Contract liability

1,552

(25)
(254)

416

976

(179)

11,500

Advance on research and development

—

2,500

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

—

1,501

(27,255)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment

(2,102)

(2,946)

Purchase of investments

—

Maturity of investments

7,250

31,095

5,148

8,700

Net cash provided in investing activities

(19,449)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options
Debt issuance costs
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Payments on long-term debt

121

112

(737)

—

(919)

—

20,000

—

(15,000)

—

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Foreign exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents

3,000

21,824

6,465

21,936

(61)

(44)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

13,053

3,337

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

16,380

18,348

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

29,433

$

21,685

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for interest
Non cash investing and financing activities:

1,772

1,887

Operating leases right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations

6,988

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)
Note A—Organization and Basis of Presentation
Conformis, Inc., and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”), is a medical technology company that uses its proprietary iFit Imageto-Implant technology platform to develop, manufacture and sell joint replacement implants that are individually sized and shaped, which the
Company refers to as customized, to fit each patient’s unique anatomy. The Company’s proprietary iFit technology platform is potentially
applicable to all major joints. The Company offers a broad line of customized knee implants designed to restore the natural shape of a patient’s
knee.
The Company was incorporated in Delaware and commenced operations in 2004. The Company introduced its iUni and iDuo in 2007,
its iTotal CR in 2011, its iTotal PS in 2015, and its Conformis Hip System in 2018 through a limited commercial launch. The Company has its
corporate offices in Billerica, Massachusetts.
These consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2019 and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and
2018, and related interim information contained within the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, have been prepared assuming that
the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of
business.
Liquidity and operations
Since the Company’s inception in June 2004, it has financed its operations primarily through private placements of preferred stock, its
initial public offering in July 2015, bank debt and convertible debt financings, equity financings, equipment purchase loans, and product
revenue beginning in 2007. The Company has not yet attained profitability and continues to incur operating losses and negative operating cash
flows, which adversely impacts the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. At September 30, 2019, the Company had an
accumulated deficit of $498.7 million and cash and cash equivalents of $29.4 million, and $0.5 million in restricted cash allocated to lease
deposits.
In January 2017, the Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which was declared effective by the SEC on May 9,
2017 (the "Shelf Registration Statement"). The Shelf Registration Statement allows the Company to sell from time to time up to $200 million of
common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, or units comprised of any combination of these securities, for its own account in one
or more offerings. On May 10, 2017, the Company filed with the SEC a prospectus supplement (the “Prospectus Supplement”), for the sale and
issuance of up to $50 million of its common stock and entered into a Distribution Agreement (“Distribution Agreement”) with Canaccord Genuity
Inc. ("Canaccord") pursuant to which Canaccord agreed to sell shares of the Company's common stock from time to time, as our agent, in an
“at-the-market” offering ("ATM") as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Company is not
obligated to sell any shares under the Distribution Agreement. As of September 30, 2019, the Company has sold 785,280 shares under the
Distribution Agreement resulting in net proceeds of $1.5 million.
On June 25, 2019, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the "2019 Secured Loan Agreement") with Innovatus
Life Sciences Lending Fund I, LP ("Innovatus"), as collateral agent and lender, East West Bank and the other lenders party thereto from time to
time (collectively, the "Lenders"), pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to make term loans and revolving credit facility to the Company to
repay existing indebtedness, for working capital and general business purposes, in a principal amount of up to $30 million. The Company used
the proceeds from the debt financings to pay off its senior secured loan and security agreement (the "2017 Secured Loan Agreement") with
Oxford Finance LLC ("Oxford"). In addition, Innovatus purchased approximately $3 million of the Company's common stock at the previous
day's closing price. For further information regarding the 2017 Secured Loan Agreement and the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement, see “Note K
—Debt and Notes Payable” in the financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
On September 30, 2019, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Asset Purchase Agreement") with Howmedica
Osteonics Corp., a subsidiary of Stryker Corporation also known as Stryker Orthopaedics ("Stryker"). In connection with entering into the Asset
Purchase Agreement, the Company and
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Stryker also entered into a Development Agreement (the "Development Agreement"), a License Agreement (the "License Agreement"), a
Distribution Agreement (the "Distribution Agreement". and, together with the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Development Agreement and the
License Agreement, the "Agreements") and other ancillary agreements contemplated by the Agreements. Under the terms of the
agreements, the Company agreed to sell and license to Stryker certain assets relating to the Company's patient-specific instrumentation
technology, and to develop, manufacture, and supply patient-specific instrumentation for use in connection with Stryker's "off-the-shelf" noncustom knee implant offerings. The Company received $14 million upfront and will receive up to an additional $16 million in milestone
payments pursuant to the License Agreement and the Development Agreement. Under the long-term Distribution Agreement, the Company will
supply patient specific instrumentation to Stryker. The Company may be required to pay back a portion of the initial payment as it is contingent
on successful completion of milestones set forth in the Development Agreement and License Agreement.
The Company may need to engage in additional equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. The Company may not be able to
obtain additional financing on terms favorable to it, or at all. To the extent that the Company raises additional capital through the future sale of
equity or debt, the ownership interests of its existing stockholders will be diluted. The terms of these future equity or debt securities may include
liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of the Company's existing common stockholders or involve negative covenants
that restrict the Company's ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt or making capital expenditures.
The Company anticipates that its principal sources of funds in the future will be revenue generated from the sale of its products,
including the successful full commercial launch of the Conformis Hip System, successful completion of the developmental milestones set forth
in the Development Agreement and License Agreement milestones, potential payments from the Stryker Distribution Agreement, potential
future capital raises through the issuance of equity or other securities, potential debt financings including accessing the revolving credit facility,
and revenue that may be generated in connection with licensing its intellectual property. Additionally, in order for the Company to meet its
operating plan, gross margin improvements and operating expense reductions will be necessary to reduce cash used in operations. When the
Company needs additional equity or debt financing proceeds to fund its operations, whether within the next 12 months or later, the Company
may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to the Company, or at all.
Basis of presentation and use of estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting periods. The most significant estimates used in these consolidated financial statements include revenue recognition, accounts
receivable valuation, inventory reserves, intangible valuation, purchase accounting, impairment assessments, equity instruments, stock
compensation, income tax reserves and related allowances, and the lives of property and equipment, and valuation of right-of-use lease assets
and lease liabilities. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The accompanying Interim Consolidated Financial Statements as of September 30, 2019 and for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018, and related interim information contained within the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are
unaudited. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP. In management’s opinion, the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and include all adjustments (including normal recurring adjustments) necessary
for the fair presentation of the Company’s financial position as of September 30, 2019, results of operations for and stockholders' equity for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, and comprehensive loss, and cash flows for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018. The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the
results expected for the full year or any interim period.
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Note B—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Company's financial results are affected by the selection and application of accounting policies and methods. Except for the
adoption of ASU No. 2016-02 "Leases" ("Topic 842" or "ASC 842") described below in "Leases", there were no material changes in the nine
months ended September 30, 2019 to the application of significant accounting policies and estimates as described in our audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Concentrations of credit risk and other risks and uncertainties
Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk primarily consist of cash, cash equivalents, and accounts receivable. The
Company maintains the majority of its cash with accredited financial institutions.
The Company and its contract manufacturers rely on sole source suppliers and service providers for certain components. There can be
no assurance that a shortage or stoppage of shipments of the materials or components that the Company purchases will not result in a delay in
production or adversely affect the Company’s business. On an ongoing basis, the Company validates alternate suppliers relative to certain key
components as needed.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, no customer represented greater than 10% of revenue. There
were no customers that represented greater than 10% of the total gross receivable balance as of September 30, 2019 or December 31, 2018.
Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries ImaTx, Inc. ("ImaTx");
ConforMIS Europe GmbH; ConforMIS UK Limited; ConforMIS Hong Kong Limited; and Conformis Cares LLC. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Cash and cash equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investment instruments with original maturities of 90 days or less when purchased, to be cash
equivalents. The Company’s cash equivalents consist of demand deposits, money market accounts, money market funds, and repurchase
agreements on deposit with certain financial institutions, in addition to cash deposits in excess of federally insured limits. Demand deposits and
money market accounts are carried at cost which approximates their fair value. Money market funds are carried at fair value based upon level 1
inputs. Repurchase agreements are valued using level 2 inputs. See “Note C-Fair Value Measurements” below. The associated risk of
concentration is mitigated by banking with credit worthy financial institutions. The Company had $0.8 million as of September 30, 2019 and
$1.1 million as of December 31, 2018 held in foreign bank accounts that are not federally insured. In addition, the Company has recorded
restricted cash of $0.5 million as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Restricted cash consisted of security provided for lease
obligations. Innovatus has a security interest in the Company's cash accounts held at multiple institutions for the ratable benefit of the Lenders.
Investment securities
The Company classifies its investment securities as available-for-sale. Those investments with maturities less than 12 months at the
date of purchase are considered short-term investments. Those investments with maturities greater than 12 months at the date of purchase are
considered long-term investments. The Company’s investment securities classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value based upon
quoted market prices at period end. Unrealized gains and losses, deemed temporary in nature, are reported as a separate component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
A decline in the fair value of any security below cost that is deemed other than temporary results in a charge to earnings and the
corresponding establishment of a new cost basis for the security. Premiums (discounts) are amortized (accreted) over the life of the related
security using the constant yield method. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned and reported in other income. Realized
gains and losses are included in earnings and are derived using the specific identification method for determining the cost of securities sold.
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Fair value of financial instruments
Certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents (excluding money market funds), accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities are carried at cost, which approximates their fair value because of the
short-term maturity. Based on borrowing rates currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms, the carrying value of the
Company’s long-term debt approximates its fair value.
Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable consist of billed and unbilled amounts due from medical facilities. Upon completion of a procedure, revenue is
recognized and an unbilled receivable is recorded. Upon receipt of a purchase order number from a medical facility, a billed receivable is
recorded and the unbilled receivable is reversed. As a result, the unbilled receivable balance fluctuates based on the timing of the Company's
receipt of purchase order numbers from the medical facilities. In estimating whether accounts receivable can be collected, the Company
performs evaluations of customers and continuously monitors collections and payments and estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts
based on the aging of the underlying invoices, collections experience to date and any specific collection issues that have been identified. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded in the period in which revenue is recorded or when collection risk is identified.
Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process components and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost,
determined using the first-in first-out method, or net realizable value. The Company regularly reviews its inventory quantities on hand and
related cost and records a provision for any excess or obsolete inventory based on its estimated forecast of product demand and existing
product configurations. The Company also reviews its inventory value to determine if it reflects the lower of cost or market, based on net
realizable value. Appropriate consideration is given to inventory items sold at negative gross margin, purchase commitments and other factors
in evaluating net realizable value. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recognized provisions in cost of
revenue of $0.9 million and $2.2 million, respectively, to adjust its inventory value to the lower of cost or net realizable value for estimated
unused product related to known and potential cancelled cases, which is included in cost of revenue. During the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018, the Company recognized $0.5 million and $1.4 million, respectively, in cost of revenue for estimated unused product.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over their useful life or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter.
Assets capitalized under capital leases are amortized in accordance with the respective class of assets and the amortization is included with
depreciation expense. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.
Intangibles and other long-lived assets
Intangible assets consist of developed technology and a favorable lease asset from the Company's acquisition of Broad Peak Manufacturing
LLC in August 2017. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. The Company tests impairment of long-lived assets
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. For assets with determinable useful lives, amortization is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated economic lives of the respective intangible assets. Furthermore, periodically the
Company assesses whether long-lived assets, including intangible assets, should be tested for recoverability whenever events or
circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. The amount of impairment, if any, is measured based on fair value,
which is determined using estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated from such assets or group of assets. During the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recognized $0.1 million in impairment charges related to unused furniture and fixtures that
were abandoned in September. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recognized a $1.9 million
impairment charge related to unused manufacturing equipment that was abandoned in July 2018. Impairment charges are included in General
and administrative expense.
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Leases
The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02-Leases ("Topic 842" or "ASC 842"), as of January 1, 2019, in accordance with ASU No.
2018-11-Leases (Topic 842) ("ASU 2018-11"), issued by the FASB in July 2018. ASU 2018-11 allows an entity to elect not to recast its
comparative periods in the period of adoption when transitioning to ASC 842 (the “Comparatives Under 840 Option”). Effectively, an entity
would be permitted to change its date of initial application to the beginning of the period of adoption of ASC 842. In doing so, the entity would
apply ASC 840 in the comparative periods and provide the disclosures required by ASC 840 for all periods that continue to be presented in
accordance with ASC 840. Further, the entity would recognize the effects of applying ASC 842 as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained
earnings as of the effective date. Under the Comparatives Under 840 Option, this date would represent the date of initial application. The
Company is not required to restate comparative periods for the effects of applying ASC 842, provide the disclosures required by ASC 842 for
the comparative periods, nor change how the transition requirements apply, only when the transition requirements apply. The Company elected
to report results for periods after January 1, 2019 under ASC 842 and prior period amounts are reported in accordance with ASC 840.
The Company has elected not to separate non-lease components from all classes of leases. Non-lease components have been
accounted for as part of the single lease component to which they are related.
Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; the Company recognizes lease expense for
these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Company has elected the hindsight practical expedient to determine the lease term for existing leases. This practical expedient
enables an entity to use hindsight in determining the lease term when considering options to extend and terminate leases as well as purchase
the underlying assets.
Adoption of the new standard resulted in the recording of additional right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of $7.0 million and $7.7
million, respectively, as of January 1, 2019. The difference between the additional lease assets and lease liabilities is related to deferred rent,
which was previously recorded as deferred rent within Accrued expenses and Other long-term liabilities under ASC 840. The adoption of the
standard did not impact the Company’s consolidated net earnings and had no impact on cash flows.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when, or as, obligations under the terms of a contract are satisfied, which occurs when control of the promised
products or services is transferred to customers. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in
exchange for transferring products or services to a customer (“transaction price”). When determining the transaction price of a contract, an
adjustment is made if payment from a customer occurs either significantly before or significantly after performance, resulting in a significant
financing component. Applying the practical expedient in paragraph 606-10-32-18, the Company does not assess whether a significant
financing component exists if the period between when the Company performs its obligations under the contract and when the customer pays
is one year or less. None of the Company’s contracts contained a significant financing component as of September 30, 2019. Payment is
typically due between 30 - 60 days from invoice.
To the extent that the transaction price includes variable consideration, such as prompt-pay discounts or rebates, the Company
estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be included in the transaction price utilizing the expected value to which the
Company expects to be entitled. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price if, in the Company’s judgment, it is probable that a
significant future reversal of cumulative revenue under the contract will not occur. Actual amounts of consideration ultimately received may
differ from the Company's estimates. Estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the
transaction price are based largely on an assessment of the Company’s anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and
forecasted) that is reasonably available.
If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance obligation.
Contracts that contain multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price based on the estimated relative
standalone selling prices of the promised products or services underlying each performance obligation. The Company determines standalone
selling prices based on observable
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prices or a cost-plus margin approach when one is not available. Revenue is recognized at the time the related performance obligation is
satisfied by transferring control of a promised good or service to a customer. The Company's performance obligations are satisfied at the same
time, typically upon surgery, therefore, product revenue is recognized at a point in time upon completion of the surgery. Since the Company
does not have contracts that extend beyond a duration of one year, there is no transaction price related to performance obligations that have
not been satisfied.
Certain customer contracts include terms that allow the Company to bill for orders that are cancelled after the product is manufactured
and could result in revenue recognition over time. However, the impact of adopting over time revenue recognition was deemed immaterial.
Unconditional rights to consideration are reported as receivables. Incidental items that are immaterial in the context of the contract are
recognized as expense.
The Company has concluded that Stryker meets the definition of a customer for a portion of the obligations under the Agreements. At
September 30, 2019, the Company recognized $11.5 million as a long-term contract liability and is continuing to evaluate impact of the
Agreements for revenue recognition going forward.
Disaggregation of Revenue
See "Note M—Segment and Geographic Data" for disaggregated product revenue by geography.
Variable Consideration
Revenues from product sales are recorded at the net sales price (transaction price), which includes estimates of variable consideration
for which reserves are established and which result from rebates that are offered within contracts between the Company and some of its
customers. The amount of variable consideration which is included in the transaction price may be constrained, and is included in the net sales
price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue recognized will not occur in a future
period.
The following table summarizes activity for rebate allowance reserve (in thousands):
September 30, 2019

Beginning Balance

$

December 31, 2018

96

$

119

Provision related to current period sales

107

Adjustment related to prior period sales

12

40

Payments or credits issued to customer

(74)

(192)

$

Ending Balance

141

129

$

96

Costs to Obtain and Fulfill a Contract
The Company currently expenses commissions paid for obtaining product sales. Sales commissions are paid following the
manufacture and implementation of the implant. Due to the period being less than one year, the Company will apply the practical expedient,
whereby the Company recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the
assets that the Company otherwise would have recognized is one year or less. These costs are included in sales and marketing expense.
Further, the Company incurs costs to buy, build, replenish, restock, sterilize and replace the reusable instrumentation trays associated with the
sale of its products and services. The reusable instrument trays are not contract specific and are used for multiple contracts and customers,
therefore does not meet the criteria to capitalize under ASC 606.
Shipping and handling costs
Shipping and handling activities prior to the transfer of control to the customer (e.g. when control transfers after delivery) are considered
fulfillment activities, and not performance obligations. Amounts invoiced to customers for shipping and handling are classified as revenue.
Shipping and handling costs incurred are included in general and administrative expense. Shipping and handling expense was $0.3 million and
$0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and was $1.3 million and $1.1 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Taxes collected from customers and remitted to government authorities
The Company’s policy is to present taxes collected from customers and remitted to government authorities on a net basis and not to
include tax amounts in revenue.
Research and development expense
The Company’s research and development costs consist of engineering, product development, quality assurance, clinical and
regulatory expense. These costs primarily relate to employee compensation, including salary, benefits and stock-based compensation. The
Company also incurs costs related to consulting fees, revenue share, materials and supplies, and marketing studies, including data
management and associated travel expense. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
Advertising expense
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred, which are included in sales and marketing. Advertising expense was $0.2 million and $0.1
million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and $0.3 million and $0.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Segment reporting
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available and is evaluated on
a regular basis by the chief operating decision-maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment
and in assessing performance of the segment. The Company’s chief operating decision-maker is its chief executive officer. The Company’s
chief executive officer reviews financial information presented on an aggregate basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating
financial performance. The Company has one business segment and there are no segment managers who are held accountable for operations,
operating results and plans for products or components below the aggregate Company level. Accordingly, in light of the Company’s current
product offerings, management has determined that the primary form of internal reporting is aligned with the offering of the Conformis
customized joint replacement products and that the Company operates as one segment. See “Note M—Segment and Geographic Data”.
Comprehensive loss
At September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of foreign currency translation
adjustments and changes in unrealized gain and loss of available-for-sale securities, net of tax. The following table summarizes accumulated
beginning and ending balances for each item in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (in thousands):
Foreign currency
translation adjustments

Balance December 31, 2018

$

(1,470)

Change in period
Balance September 30, 2019

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale securities, net of tax

Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)

$

$

1,445
$

(25)

—
—

$

—

(1,470)
1,445

$

(25)

Foreign currency translation and transactions
The assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates at the balance sheet
date, and income and expense items are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the quarter. Net translation gains and losses
are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, including intercompany balances not of a long-term investment nature, are included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

13

Income taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases, operating losses and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect
on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income in the period that includes the enactment date.
In evaluating the need for a valuation allowance, the Company considers all reasonably available positive and negative evidence,
including recent earnings, expectations of future taxable income and the character of that income. In estimating future taxable income, the
Company relies upon assumptions and estimates of future activity including the reversal of temporary differences. Presently, the Company
believes that a full valuation allowance is required to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.
The tax benefit from an uncertain tax position is only recognized if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial
statements from these positions are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized
upon ultimate resolution. The Company reviews its tax positions on an annual basis and more frequently as facts surrounding tax positions
change. Based on these future events, the Company may recognize uncertain tax positions or reverse current uncertain tax positions, the
impact of which would affect the consolidated financial statements.
The Company has operations in Germany. The operating results of German operations will be permanently reinvested in that
jurisdiction. As a result, the Company has only provided for income taxes at local rates when required.
The Company is subject to U.S. federal, state, and foreign income taxes. The Company recorded a provision for income taxes of
$21,000 and $27,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively and $35,000 and $74,000 for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of
income tax expense. As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, a cumulative balance of $47,000 and $34,000 of interest and penalties had been
accrued, respectively.
Medical device excise tax
The Company has been subject to the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (the “Act”), which imposes a tax equal to 2.3%
on the sales price of any taxable medical device by a medical device manufacturer, producer or importer of such device. Under the Act, a
taxable medical device is any device defined in Section 201(h) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, intended for humans, which
includes an instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, contrivance, implant, in vitro reagent, or other similar or related article, including any
component, part, or accessory, which meets certain requirements. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2016 includes a two-year
moratorium on the medical device excise tax, which moratorium suspended taxes on the sale of a taxable medical device by the manufacturer,
producer, or importer of the device during the period beginning on January 1, 2016 and ending on December 31, 2017. On January 22, 2018,
legislation was passed that suspends the medical device excise tax for sales in 2018 and 2019. The tax is not scheduled to take effect again
until sales on or after January 1, 2020. It is unclear at this time if the suspension will be further extended, and we are currently subject to the tax
after December 31, 2019. As such, the Company did not incur medical device excise tax expense during the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018.
Stock-based compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Stock Based Compensation. ASC 718 requires all
stock-based payments to employees and consultants, including grants of stock options, to be recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations based on their fair values. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the weighted-average fair value
of options granted and recognizes the compensation expense of stock-based awards on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the
award.
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The determination of the fair value of stock-based payment awards utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model is affected by the
stock price, exercise price, and a number of assumptions, including expected volatility of the stock, expected life of the option, risk-free interest
rate and expected dividends on the stock. The Company evaluates the assumptions used to value the awards at each grant date and if factors
change and different assumptions are utilized, stock-based compensation expense may differ significantly from what has been recorded in the
past. If there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested securities, the Company may be required to accelerate, increase
or cancel any remaining unearned stock-based compensation expense.
Net loss per share
The Company calculates net income (loss) per share in accordance with ASC 260, "Earnings per Share". Basic earnings per share (“EPS”)
is calculated by dividing the net income or loss for the period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period,
without consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing the net income or loss for the period by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the period and the weighted average number of dilutive common stock equivalents
outstanding for the period determined using the treasury stock method.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to stockholders (in thousands, except
share and per share data):
Three Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

2019

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018

2019

2018

Numerator:
Basic and diluted loss per share
Net loss

$

(8,701)

$

(7,437)

$

(23,045)

$

(33,495)

Denominator:
Basic and diluted weighted average shares

64,750,275

60,225,504

63,651,412

58,224,963

Loss per share attributable to Conformis, Inc. stockholders:
Basic and diluted

$

(0.13)

$

(0.12)

$

(0.36)

$

(0.58)

The following table sets forth potential shares of common stock equivalents that are not included in the calculation of diluted net loss
per share because to do so would be anti-dilutive as of the end of each period presented:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2019

Stock options and restricted stock awards

2,588,330

2018

27,919

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2019

3,340,154

2018

92,378

Recent accounting pronouncements
In July 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-07, "Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Final Rule Releases No. 3310532, Disclosure Update and Simplification, and Nos. 33-10231 and 33-10442, Investment Company Reporting Modernization, and
Miscellaneous Updates." This ASU updates the codification to reflect the amendments of various SEC disclosure requirements. The ASU
became effective on July 26, 2019.
In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-04, "Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses,
Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments." This ASU clarifies and answers questions related to ASU No. 201813 and ASU No. 2016-13 and has the same effective dates of the respective pronouncements described below.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, "Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40):
Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract". Under the new
guidance, implementation costs should be evaluated for capitalization using the same approach as implementation costs associated with
internal-use software and should be expensed over the term of the hosting arrangement, including any reasonably certain renewal periods.
This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any interim period.
Prospective adoption for eligible costs incurred on or after the date of adoption or retrospective
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adoption are permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU No. 2018-15 will have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, "Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to the
Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement". This ASU modifies disclosure requirements relative to the three levels of inputs used to
measure fair value in accordance with Topic 820. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim
periods. Early adoption is permitted for any eliminated or modified disclosures. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU No. 201813 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, "Credit Losses (Topic 326)." ASU No. 2016-13 requires that financial assets
measured at amortized cost, such as trade receivables, be represented net of expected credit losses, which may be estimated based on
relevant information such as historical experience, current conditions, and future expectation for each pool of similar financial asset. The new
guidance requires enhanced disclosures related to trade receivables and associated credit losses. In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU No.
2019-13, "Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) Targeted Transition Relief", which allows for a transition election on certain
instruments. The guidance is effective for Small Reporting Companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 and interim periods
in those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements.
Reclassification
Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. The Company reclassified the
cash flow presentation of unrealized foreign currency transaction gains or losses resulting from changes in exchange rates between the
functional currency and the currency in which a foreign currency transaction is denominated to reflect such cash flows as non-cash adjustment
to cash flows from operating activities. The Company reclassified an amount in cash flows from operating activities in the Statement of Cash
Flow at September 30, 2019 between non-cash interest expense and payment on extinguishment of debt resulting in a reclassification between
non-cash adjustment to reconcile cash provided in operating and financing activities.
Note C—Fair Value Measurements
The Fair Value Measurements topic of the FASB Codification establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with
US GAAP, clarifies the definition of fair value within that framework and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This guidance
requires disclosure regarding the manner in which fair value is determined for assets and liabilities and establishes a three-tiered value
hierarchy into which these assets and liabilities must be grouped, based upon significant levels of inputs as follows:
Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Observable inputs, other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, quoted
prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant
unobservable inputs.
The Company's investment policy is consistent with the definition of available-for-sale securities. All investments have been classified
within Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy because of the sufficient observable inputs for revaluation. The Company's Level 1 cash and
equivalents and investments are valued using quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in the active market. The Company’s Level
2 investments are valued using third-party pricing sources based on observable inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assets at the
measurement date; or other inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
The following table summarizes, by major security type, the Company's assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and
are categorized using the fair value hierarchy and where they are classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands):
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September 30, 2019
Gross Unrealized
Amortized Cost
Gains

Cash and cash equivalents

$

25,090 $

Gross Unrealized
Losses

Estimated Fair
Value

— $

— $

—

—

— $

— $

Cash and cash
equivalents

25,090 $

25,090

Level 1 securities:
Money market funds

4,343
$

Total

29,433 $

4,343

4,343

29,433 $

29,433

December 31, 2018
Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Estimated Fair
Amortized Cost
Gains
Losses
Value

Cash and cash equivalents

$

Cash and cash
equivalents

Short-term (1)
investments

9,837 $

— $

— $

9,837 $

9,837 $

—

Money market funds

1,046

—

—

1,046

1,046

—

U.S. treasury bonds

10,494

—

—

10,494

5,497

4,997

1,249

—

—

1,249

—

1,249

999

—

—

— $

— $

Level 1 securities:

Level 2 securities:
Corporate bonds
Commercial Paper
$

Total

23,625 $

999

—

23,625 $

16,380 $

999
7,245

(1) Contractual maturity due within one year.

Note D—Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2019

Total receivables

$

10,879

$

10,477

Allowance for doubtful accounts and returns

December 31,
2018

$

13,634

$

13,244

(402)

Accounts receivable, net

(390)

Accounts receivable included unbilled receivable of $2.0 million and $2.2 million at September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively. Write-offs related to accounts receivable were approximately $38,000 and $2,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively, and $70,000 and $67,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Summary of allowance for doubtful accounts and returns activity was as follows (in thousands):
September 30,
2019

Beginning balance

$

(390)

December 31,
2018

$

(635)

Provision for bad debts on trade receivables

(56)

72

Other allowances

(26)

58

Accounts receivable write offs

70
$

Ending balance

17

(402)

115
$

(390)

Note E—Inventories
Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2019

Raw Material

$

December 31,
2018

5,480

Work in process

$

1,716

Finished goods

1,518

4,362

Total Inventories, net

$

4,498
3,518

11,558

$

9,534

Note F—Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
Estimated
Useful
Life
(Years)

Equipment

5-7

Furniture and fixtures

5-7

Computer and software
Leasehold improvements
Reusable instruments

September 30, 2019

$

December 31, 2018

18,789

$

18,602

864

954

3

9,278

8,783

3-7

2,009

1,978

5

2,901

1,573

Total property and equipment
Accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

$

33,841

31,890

(20,479)

(17,451)

13,362

$

14,439

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment was $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018,
and $3.1 million and $2.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recognized $0.1 million in impairment charges related to
furniture and fixtures. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company recognized $1.9 million in impairment
charges related to unused manufacturing equipment.

Note G—Intangible Assets
The components of intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
Estimated
Useful Life
(Years)

Developed technology

10

September 30,
2019

$

Accumulated amortization
Developed technology, net
Acquired favorable lease

5

Accumulated amortization
Acquired favorable lease, net
Intangible assets, net

$

18

979

December 31, 2018

$

979

(955)

(881)

24

98

—

15

—

(4)

—

11

24

$

109

The Company recognized amortization expense of $24,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019, and 2018 and $73,000
for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, and 2018. The weighted-average remaining life of total amortizable intangible assets is less
than one year for the developed technology and license agreements and favorable lease asset.
Note H—Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2019

Accrued employee compensation

$

Deferred rent
Accrued legal expense
Accrued consulting expense

December 31,
2018

3,017

$

3,138

—

132

1,464

215

21

84

1,733

1,441

Accrued revenue share expense

728

1,134

Accrued clinical trial expense

437

549

1,115

1,237

Accrued vendor charges

Accrued other
$
19

8,515

$

7,930

Note I—Leases
The Company maintains its corporate headquarters in a leased building located in Billerica, Massachusetts. The Company maintains
its manufacturing facilities in leased buildings located in Wilmington, Massachusetts and Wallingford, Connecticut.
The Company's leases have remaining lease terms of approximately one to seven years, some of which include one or more options to
extend the leases for up to five years per renewal. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the sole discretion of the Company. The amounts
disclosed in the Consolidated Balance Sheet pertaining to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are measured based on management’s
current expectations of exercising its available renewal options.
The Company’s existing leases are not subject to any restrictions or covenants which preclude its ability to pay dividends, obtain
financing, or enter into additional leases.
As of September 30, 2019 the Company has not entered into any leases which have not yet commenced which would entitle the
Company to significant rights or create additional obligations.
The Company uses either its incremental borrowing rate or the implicit rate in the lease agreement as the basis to calculate the present
value of future lease payments at lease commencement. The incremental borrowing rate represents the rate the Company would have to pay
to borrow funds on a collateralized basis over a similar term and in a similar economic environment.
The components of lease expense and related cash flows were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2019
Rent expense

$

Variable lease cost (1)

381

$

90
$

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018

471

2019
378

$

—
$

378

2018
1,145

$

1,135

289
$

—

1,434

$

1,135

(1) Variable operating lease expenses consist primarily common area maintenance and real estate taxes of for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2019.
Deferred rent was $0.7 million as of December 31, 2018. Deferred rent is included in accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities.
As of September 30, 2019, the remaining weighted-average lease term of the operating leases was 5.2 years and the weightedaverage discount rate was 6.0%.
The future minimum rental payments under these agreements as of September 30, 2019 were as follows (in thousands):
Year

Minimum Lease Payments

2019 remainder of year

$

397

2020

1,615

2021

1,633

2022

1,399

2023

1,053

After 2023

1,885

Total lease payments

$

Present value adjustment

7,982
(1,144)

Present value of lease liabilities

$

20

6,838

Note J—Commitments and Contingencies
License and revenue share agreements
Revenue share agreements
The Company is party to revenue share agreements with certain past and present members of its scientific advisory board under which
these advisors agreed to participate on a scientific advisory board and to assist with the development of the Company’s customized implant
products and related intellectual property. These agreements provide that the Company will pay the advisor a specified percentage of the
Company’s net revenue, ranging from 0.1% to 1.33%, with respect to the Company’s products on which the advisor made a technical
contribution or, in some cases, products covered by one or more claims of one or more Company patents on which the advisor is a named
inventor. The specific percentage is determined by reference to product classifications set forth in the agreement and is often tiered based on
the level of net revenue collected by the Company on such product sales. The Company’s payment obligations under these agreements
typically expire a fixed number of years after expiration or termination of the agreement or a fixed number of years after the first sale of a
product, but in some cases expire on a product-by-product basis or expiration of the last to expire of the Company’s patents where the advisor
is a named inventor that claims the applicable product.
The Company incurred aggregate revenue share expense including all amounts payable under the Company’s scientific advisory board
revenue share agreements of $0.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019, representing 3.7% of product revenue and $1.2
million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019, representing 2.2% of product revenue, $0.7 million during the three months ended
September 30, 2018, representing 3.6% of product revenue, and $2.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, representing
4.3% of product revenue. Revenue share expense is included in research and development.
Other obligations
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is a party to certain non-cancellable contractual obligations typically related to product
royalty and research and development. The Company accrues a liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be
made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. There have been no contingent liabilities requiring accrual at September 30, 2019
or December 31, 2018.
Legal proceedings
In the ordinary course of the Company's business, the Company is subject to routine risk of litigation, claims and administrative
proceedings on a variety of matters, including patent infringement, product liability, securities-related claims, and other claims in the United
States and in other countries where the Company sells its products. An estimate of the possible loss or range of loss as a result of any of these
matters cannot be made; however, management does not believe that these matters, individually or in the aggregate, are material to its
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
On August 15, 2019, the Company sued Zimmer Biomet Holdings, Inc. and Zimmer, Inc. (together, “Zimmer Biomet”) in the United
States District Court for the District of Delaware seeking damages for Zimmer Biomet’s infringement of certain of the Company’s patents related
to patient-specific instrument and implant systems. The complaint alleges that Zimmer Biomet’s multiple lines of patient-specific instruments, as
well as the implant components used in conjunction with them, infringe four of the Company’s patents. The accused product lines include
Zimmer Biomet patient-specific instrument and implant systems for knee, shoulder, and hip replacement procedures. An adverse outcome of
this lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition or results of operations. The Company is
presently unable to predict the outcome of the lawsuit or to reasonably estimate a range of potential losses, if any, related to the lawsuit.
On August 29, 2019, the Company sued Medacta USA, Inc. (“Medacta”) in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware
seeking damages for Medacta’s infringement of certain of the Company’s patents
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related to patient-specific instrument and implant systems. The complaint alleges that Medacta’s multiple lines of patient-specific instruments,
as well as the implant components used in conjunction with them, infringe four of the Company’s patents. The accused product lines include
Medacta patient-specific instrument and implant systems for knee, shoulder, and hip replacement procedures. An adverse outcome of this
lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition or results of operations. The Company is presently
unable to predict the outcome of the lawsuit or to reasonably estimate a range of potential losses, if any, related to the laws
Legal costs associated with legal proceedings are accrued as incurred.
Indemnification
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and
warranties and provide for general indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves claims
that may be made against the Company in the future, but have not yet been made. To date, the Company has not paid any claims or been
required to defend any action related to its indemnification obligations. However, the Company may record charges in the future as a result of
these indemnification obligations. In accordance with its bylaws, the Company has indemnification obligations to its officers and directors for
certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while they are serving at the Company’s request in such capacity. There have been no
claims to date and the Company has a director and officer insurance policy that enables it to recover a portion of any amounts paid for future
claims.
Note K—Debt and Notes Payable
Long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2019

Oxford Finance, LLC, Term A Loan

$

Oxford Finance, LLC, Term B Loan

December 31,
2018

—

$

7,500

—

7,500

Innovatus, Term Loan

20,000

—

Term Loan principal

20,000

15,000

Innovatus, Term Loan accrued payment-in-kind interest
Less unamortized debt issuance costs
Long-term debt, less debt issuance costs

$

134

—

(699)

(208)

19,435

$

14,792

Principal payments, including the Term Loan Basic Interest Rate in-kind (described below), due as of September 30, 2019 consisted of
the following (in thousands):
Principal
Payment

2019 (remainder of the year)

$

—

2020

—

2021

—

2022

—

2023

8,986

2024

12,580

Total

$

21,566

2017 Secured Loan Agreement
On January 6, 2017, the Company entered into the 2017 Secured Loan Agreement with Oxford. Through the 2017 Secured Loan
Agreement, the Company accessed $15 million under Term Loan A at closing and an additional $15 million of borrowings under Term Loan B
on June 30, 2017. On December 13, 2018, the Company entered into a fifth amendment (the "Fifth Amendment") to the 2017 Secured Loan
Agreement, with Oxford, and pursuant to the Fifth Amendment, the Company pre-paid $15 million aggregate principal amount of the $30 million
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outstanding principal amount, as a pro rata portion of the Term A Loan and Term B Loan, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon
and a pro rata prepayment fee and final payment. Under the Fifth Amendment, the Company's cash collateral requirement was reduced to $5
million. On June 25, 2019, the Company elected to prepay the remainder of the Oxford term loan outstanding (along with accrued interest and
applicable final payment and prepayment fee) using the proceeds from the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement. The prepayment of the debt was
accounted for as a debt extinguishment and the Company incurred a loss on the extinguishment recognized in Interest expense of $1.1 million.
2019 Secured Loan Agreement
On June 25, 2019, the Company entered into the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement with Innovatus, as collateral agent and lender, East
West Bank and the Lenders, pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to make term loans and revolving credit facility to the Company to repay
existing indebtedness, for working capital and general business purposes, in a principal amount of up to $30 million.
The term loan facility established under the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement is secured by substantially all of the Company's and its
U.S. subsidiaries' properties, rights and assets.
The 2019 Secured Loan Agreement includes a trailing six months' revenue test, a liquidity covenant and an additional liquidity
covenant that is applicable if there are borrowings under the revolving credit facility. The 2019 Secured Loan Agreement also includes
customary representations, affirmative and negative covenants. Additionally, the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement includes events of default, the
occurrence and continuation of which could cause interest to be charged at the rate that is otherwise applicable plus 5.0% and would provide
Innovatus, as collateral agent, with the right to accelerate all obligations under the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement and to exercise remedies
against the Company and the collateral securing the credit facility, including foreclosure against assets securing the credit facilities, including
the Company's cash. These events of default include, among other things, the Company’s failure to pay any amounts due under the credit
facility, a breach of covenants under the credit facility, the Company’s insolvency, a material adverse change, the occurrence of any default
under certain other indebtedness in an amount greater than $250,000, one or more judgments against the Company in an amount greater than
$500,000, changes with respect to governmental approvals and FDA actions.
As of September 30, 2019, the Company was not in breach of covenants under the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement.
Term Loan - Innovatus
The term loan under the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement bears interest at a floating annual rate calculated at the greater of the variable
rate of interest as most recently announced by East West Bank as prime or 5.50%, plus 3.75% ("Term Loan Basic Interest Rate"), bearing an
effective interest rate of 9.25% at September 30, 2019. The Company is required to make interest only payments in arrears on the term loan for
four years; provided that the Company has elected to pay 2.50% per annum as such Term Loan Basic Interest Rate in-kind by adding an
amount equal to 2.50% per annum of the outstanding principal amount to the then outstanding principal balance on a monthly basis until the
third anniversary of the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement. Commencing July 1, 2023, and continuing on the payment date of each month
thereafter, the Company is required to make consecutive equal monthly payments of principal of the term loan, together with accrued interest,
in arrears, to the Lenders. All unpaid principal, accrued and unpaid interest with respect to the term loan, and a final fee in the amount of 5.0%
of the term loan commitment, is due and payable in full on the term loan maturity date on June 1, 2024.
At the Company’s option, the Company may prepay all, but not less than all, of the term loans advanced by the Lenders under the term
loan facility after the first year, subject to a prepayment fee and an amount equal to the sum of all outstanding principal of the term loans plus
accrued and unpaid interest thereon through the prepayment date, a final fee, plus all other amounts that are due and payable, including the
Lenders' expenses and interest at the default rate with respect to any past due amounts.
Revolving Credit Facility - East West Bank
Under the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement, East West Bank will make loans of up to $10 million from time to time outstanding, subject
to availability based on a borrowing base equal to (i) 85.00% of eligible customer accounts, subject to a maximum of 2.50% dilution based upon
collections, minus (ii) the Company’s foreign
23

accounts receivable credit insurance’s outstanding co-payment and minimum annual deductible (that has not been used at the applicable time).
Advances under the revolving credit facility bear interest at a rate of 0.50% above the greater of East West Bank’s prime rate or 5.50%. Interest
on the revolving advances is payable monthly in arrears. The revolving credit facility terminates and the principal and all amounts are due in full
on June 25, 2024, provided that if an optional or mandatory prepayment (other than regularly scheduled payments) is made under the term
loan, the Company must satisfy in full the obligations under the revolving credit line. The revolving credit facility requires a lockbox
arrangement, which provides for all receipts to be swept daily to reduce the borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility.
There were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility at September 30, 2019.
Note L—Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock
Common stockholders are entitled to dividends as and when declared by the board of directors, subject to the rights of holders of all
classes of stock outstanding having priority rights as to dividends. There have been no dividends declared to date.
In conjunction with the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement, on June 25, 2019, the Company entered into an investment agreement (the
"Investment Agreement"), with Innovatus, Innovatus Life Science Offshore Fund I, LP and Innovatus Life Sciences Offshore Fund I-A, LP
(collectively, the "Innovatus Investors"), pursuant to with the Company agreed to issue and sell to the Innovatus Investors an aggregate of
775,194 shares of the Company's common stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the "Shares"), in a private placement (the "Private
Placement"). The Investors paid $3.87 per Share. The Private Placement closed on June 25, 2019. The Company received aggregate gross
proceeds from the Private Placement of approximately $3.0 million, before deducting expenses associated with the transaction. The Company
has granted the Investors specified indemnification rights with respect to its representations, warranties, covenants and agreements under the
Investment Agreement.
Preferred stock
The Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.00001
par value, all of which is undesignated. No shares were issued and outstanding at September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Demand registration rights
In conjunction with the IPO, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Information and Registration Rights Agreement
effective June 29, 2015 (the “Registration Rights Agreement”), which provided, among other things, registration rights to certain investors that
had held the Company's preferred stock prior to the IPO. Subject to specified limitations set forth in a registration rights agreement, at any time,
the holders of at least 25% of the then outstanding registrable shares may at any time demand in writing that the Company register all or a
portion of the registrable shares under the Securities Act on a Form other than Form S-3 for an offering of at least 20% of the then outstanding
registrable shares or a lesser percentage of the then outstanding registrable shares provided that it is reasonably anticipated that the aggregate
offering price would exceed $20 million. The Company is not obligated to file a registration statement pursuant to these rights on more than two
occasions. Additionally, after such time as the Company became eligible to use Form S-3, subject to specified limitations set forth in the
registration rights agreement, the holders of at least 25% of the then outstanding registrable shares became able to at any time demand in
writing that the Company register all or a portion of the registrable shares under the Securities Act on Form S-3 for an offering of at least 25%
of the then outstanding registrable shares having an anticipated aggregate offering price to the public, net of selling expenses, of at least $5
million (a “Resale Registration Statement”). The Company is not obligated to effect a registration pursuant to a Resale Registration Statement
on more than one occasion. Under the Registration Rights Agreement, the registration rights expired on July 7, 2019.
In conjunction with the Private Placement, on June 25, 2019, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement (the "2019
Registration Rights Agreement"), with the Innovatus Investors, pursuant to which the Company agreed to register for resale the Shares held by
the Investors under certain circumstances. Under the
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Registration Rights Agreement, in the event that the Company receives a written request from the Innovatus Investors that the Company file
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) a registration statement covering the resale of all of the Shares, the Company
shall promptly but no later than 120 days after the date of such request prepare and file with the SEC such registration statement. The
Innovatus Investors have agreed to use best efforts not to make such a request, including by effecting any planned sales of Shares under Rule
144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The Company has agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to
cause such registration statement to become effective and to keep such registration statement effective until the date the Shares covered by
such registration statement have been sold or may be resold pursuant to Rule 144 without restriction. The Company has agreed to be
responsible for all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the registration of the Shares. The Company has granted the Innovatus
Investors customary indemnification rights in connection with the registration statement. The Innovatus Investors have also granted the
Company customary indemnification rights in connection with the registration statement.
Warrants
The Company also issued warrants to certain investors and consultants to purchase shares of the Company’s preferred stock and
common stock. Based on the Company’s assessment of the warrants granted in 2013 and 2014 relative to ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities
from Equity, the warrants are classified as equity. No warrants were issued in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019. According
to ASC 480, an entity shall classify as a liability any financial instrument, other than an outstanding share, that, at inception, both a) embodies
an obligation to repurchase the issuer’s equity shares, or is indexed to such obligation and b) requires or may require the issuer to settle the
obligation by transferring assets. The warrants do not contain any provision that requires the Company to repurchase the shares and are not
indexed to such an obligation. The warrants also do not require the Company to settle by transferring assets. All warrants were exercisable
immediately upon issuance.
Common stock warrants
The Company also issued warrants to certain investors and consultants to purchase shares of common stock. Warrants to purchase
28,926 shares of common stock were outstanding as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Outstanding warrants are currently
exercisable with varying exercise expiration dates from 2020 through 2024. At September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the weighted
average warrant exercise price per share for common stock underlying warrants and the weighted average contractual life was as follows:
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Number of
Warrants

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Number of
Warrants
Exercisable

Weighted
Average Price
Per Share

Outstanding December 31, 2018

28,926

$

9.80

4.66

28,926

$

9.80

Outstanding September 30, 2019

28,926

$

9.80

3.91

28,926

$

9.80

Stock option plans
As of September 30, 2019, 2,121,860 shares of common stock were available for future issuance under the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan
("2015 Plan"). The 2015 Plan provides for an annual increase, to be added on the first day of each fiscal year, beginning with the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2016 and continuing until, and including, the fiscal year ending December 31, 2025, equal to the lesser of (a) 3,000,000
shares of our common stock, (b) 3% of the number of share of our common stock outstanding on the first day of such fiscal year and (c) an
amount determined by the Board. Effective January 1, 2019, an additional 1,958,726 shares of our common stock were added to the 2015 Plan
under the terms of this provision.
On April 29, 2019, the stockholders approved the Conformis, Inc. 2019 Sales Team Performance-Based Equity Incentive Plan ("2019
Sales Team Plan") for up to 3,000,000 shares of common stock available to grant to certain sales representatives or independent sales agents.
The 2019 Sales Team Plan provides for the grant of performance-based equity, including incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards. Shares covered by awards under the
2019 Sales Team Plan that expire or are terminated, surrendered, or cancelled without having been fully exercised or are forfeited in whole or
in part (including as the result of shares subject to such award being repurchased by us
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at the original issuance price pursuant to a contractual repurchase right) or that result in any shares not being issued, will again be available for
the grant of awards under the 2019 Sales Team Plan. Equity granted under the 2019 Sales Team Plan will expire ten years from the date of
grant.
As of September 30, 2019, no shares of common stock were issued or outstanding under the 2019 Sales Team Plan.
Activity under all stock option plans was as follows:
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
per Share

Number of
Options

Outstanding December 31, 2018

2,876,199

Exercised
Expired
Cancelled/Forfeited

$

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (in Thousands)

6.57

(34,669)

3.50

(827,541)

7.14

(99,640)

$

21

1.56

Outstanding September 30, 2019

1,972,902

$

6.52

$

35

Total vested and exercisable

1,642,485

$

6.81

$
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The total fair value of stock options that vested during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 was $0.1 million and $0.4
million, respectively. The weighted average remaining contractual term for the total stock options outstanding was 4.83 years as of
September 30, 2019. The weighted average remaining contractual term for the total stock options vested and exercisable was 4.19 years as of
September 30, 2019.
Restricted common stock award activity under the plan was as follows:
Weighted Average Fair
Value

Number of Shares

Unvested December 31, 2018

2,473,372

$

2.45

Granted

3,045,995

0.64

Vested

(1,207,303)

1.86

Forfeited

(767,673)

Unvested September 30, 2019

3,544,391

1.10
$

1.39

The total fair value of restricted common stock awards that vested during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 was
$0.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively.
Stock-based compensation
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The determination of the fair
value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using a pricing model is affected by the value of the Company’s common stock as
well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. The valuation of the Company’s common stock prior to the IPO
was performed with the assistance of an independent third-party valuation firm using a methodology that includes various inputs including the
Company’s historical and projected financial results, peer company public data and market metrics, such as risk-free interest and discount
rates. As the valuations included unobservable inputs that were primarily based on the Company’s own assumptions, the inputs were
considered level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy.
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The fair value of options at date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, based on the following
assumptions:

Three Months Ended September 30,

Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate.
term on the options.

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2019

2018

2019

2018

1.89%

N/A

1.89%

2.75%-2.90%

6

N/A

6

6.25

—%

N/A

—%

—%

55.80%

N/A

55.80%

52.81%-56.44%

The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining terms similar to the expected

Expected term. The expected term of stock options represents the period the stock options are expected to remain outstanding and is based
on the “SEC Shortcut Approach” as defined in “Share-Based Payment” (SAB 107) ASC 718-10-S99, “Compensation-Stock CompensationOverall-SEC Materials,” which is the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. With certain stock option grants,
the exercise price may exceed the fair value of the common stock. In these instances, the Company adjusts the expected term accordingly.
Dividend yield. The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends and does not plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable
future, and, therefore, used an expected dividend yield of zero in the valuation model.
Expected volatility. Expected volatility measures the amount that a stock price has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuate during a period. The
Company does not have sufficient history of market prices of its common stock as it is a newly public company. Therefore, the Company
estimates volatility using historical volatilities of similar public entities.
Forfeitures.

The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur.

Stock-based compensation expense was $0.1 million and $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, and $2.2 million and $2.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Stock-based
compensation expense was calculated based on awards ultimately expected to vest. To date, the amount of stock-based compensation
capitalized as part of inventory was not material.
The following is a summary of stock-based compensation expense (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2019

Cost of revenues

$

2018

(23)

Sales and marketing

Nine Months Ended September 30,

$

2019

55

$

2018

276

$

141

(11)

174

Research and development

(19)

286

440

850

General and administrative

126

444

1,344

1,298

$

73

$

959

119

$

2,179

455

$

2,744

As of September 30, 2019, the Company had $0.8 million of total unrecognized compensation expense for options that will be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.77 years. As of September 30, 2019, the Company had $3.2 million of total unrecognized
compensation expense for restricted awards that will be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.85 years.
Note M—Segment and Geographic Data
The Company operates as one reportable segment as described in Note B to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The countries in
which the Company has local revenue generating operations have been combined into the following geographic areas: the United States
(including Puerto Rico), Germany and the rest of world, which consists of Europe predominately (including the United Kingdom) and other
foreign countries. Sales are attributable to a geographic area based upon the customer’s country of domicile. Net property, plant and equipment
are based upon physical location of the assets.
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Geographic information consisted of the following (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2019

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018

2019

2018

Product revenue
United States

$

Germany

15,144

$

1,527

Rest of world

17,112

$

1,684

441
$

16,271

18,332

$

5,677

377
$

49,924

6,957

1,317
$

48,653
1,113

56,918

$

September 30, 2019

56,723

December 31, 2018

Property and equipment, net
United States

$

13,304

$

13,362

Germany

$

14,367

$

14,439

58
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ITEM 2.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2018. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the ‘‘Risk Factors’’ section of our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, our actual results could differ materially from the results described, in or implied, by
these forward-looking statements.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements,
other than statements of historical facts, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our strategy, future
operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, our ability to raise additional funds, plans and objectives of
management and expected market growth are forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,”
“should,” “target,” “will,” or “would” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.
These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements about:
•

our estimates regarding the potential market opportunity and timing of estimated commercialization for our current and future products,
including our iUni, iDuo, iTotal CR, iTotal PS and Conformis Hip System;

•

our expectations regarding our sales, expenses, gross margin and other results of operations;

•

our strategies for growth and sources of new sales;

•

maintaining and expanding our customer base and our relationships with our independent sales representatives and distributors;

•

our current and future products and plans to promote them;

•

the anticipated trends and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate;

•

the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business, products, product candidates and technology;

•

the anticipated timing of our product launches;

•

the future availability of raw materials used to manufacture, and finished components for, our products from third-party suppliers, including
single source suppliers;

•

product liability claims;

•

patent infringement claims;

•

our ability to retain and hire necessary employees and to staff our operations appropriately;

•

our ability to compete in our industry and with innovations by our competitors;

•

potential reductions in reimbursement levels by third-party payors and cost containment efforts of accountable care organizations;

•

our ability to protect proprietary technology and other intellectual property and potential claims against us for infringement of the intellectual
property rights of third parties;
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•

potential challenges relating to changes in and compliance with governmental laws and regulations affecting our U.S. and international
businesses, including regulations of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and foreign government regulators, such as more stringent
requirements for regulatory clearance of our products;

•

the anticipated adequacy of our capital resources to meet the needs of our business or our ability to raise any additional capital;

•

our ability to continue as a going concern; and

•

our expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act.

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations
disclosed in the forward-looking statements we make. We have included important factors in the cautionary statements included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in the “Risk Factors” section, that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the
forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, collaborations, joint ventures or investments that we may make or enter into.
You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we have filed as exhibits to this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and our other filings with the SEC completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different
from what we expect. We do not assume any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
Trademarks
Solely for convenience, our trademarks and trade names in this report are referred to without the ® and ™ symbols, but such
references should not be construed as any indicator that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights thereto.
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Overview
We are a medical technology company that uses our proprietary iFit Image-to-Implant technology platform to develop, manufacture and
sell joint replacement implants that are individually sized and shaped, which we refer to as customized, to fit each patient’s unique anatomy.
The worldwide market for joint replacement products is approximately $18.1 billion annually and growing, and we believe our iFit technology
platform is applicable to all major joints in this market. We offer a broad line of customized knee implants designed to restore the natural shape
of a patient’s knee. We have sold a total of more than 90,000 knee implants, including more than 70,000 total knee implants and 20,000 partial
knee implants. In clinical studies, iTotal CR, our cruciate-retaining total knee replacement implant and best-selling product, demonstrated
superior clinical outcomes, including better function and greater patient satisfaction compared to off-the-shelf implants. In March 2016, we
initiated the broad commercial launch of the iTotal PS, our posterior-stabilized total knee replacement implant which addresses the largest
segment of the knee replacement market. On July 31, 2018, our first Conformis Hip Systems were implanted. We are in limited commercial
launch with the Conformis Hip System and intend to enter full commercial launch in the fourth quarter of 2019.
Our iFit technology platform comprises three key elements:
• iFit Design, our proprietary algorithms and computer software that we use to design customized implants and associated single-use
patient-specific instrumentation, which we refer to as iJigs, based on computed tomography, or CT scans of the patient and to prepare
a surgical plan customized for the patient that we call iView.
• iFit Printing, a three-dimensional, or 3D, printing technology that we use to manufacture iJigs and that we may extend to manufacture
certain components of our customized hip and knee replacement implants.
• iFit Just-in-Time Delivery, our just-in-time manufacturing and delivery capabilities.
We believe our iFit technology platform enables a scalable business model that greatly lowers our inventory requirements, reduces the
amount of working capital required to support our operations and allows us to launch new products and product improvements more rapidly, as
compared to manufacturers of off-the-shelf implants.
All of our joint replacement products have been cleared by the FDA under the premarket notification process of Section 510(k) of the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, and all of our knee replacement products have received certification to CE Mark. We
market our products to orthopedic surgeons, hospitals and other medical facilities and patients. We use direct sales representatives,
independent sales representatives and distributors to market and sell our products in the United States, Germany, the United Kingdom and
other markets.
We were incorporated in Delaware and commenced operations in 2004.
Components of our results of operations
The following is a description of factors that may influence our results of operations, including significant trends and challenges that we
believe are important to an understanding of our business and results of operations.
Revenue
Our product revenue is generated from sales to hospitals and other medical facilities that are served through a direct sales force,
independent sales representatives and distributors in the United States, Germany, the United Kingdom, Austria, Ireland, Switzerland,
Singapore, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Monaco, Hungary, Spain, Australia, Oman, Italy, the Netherlands, and British Virgin Islands. In order for
surgeons to use our products, the medical facilities where these surgeons treat patients typically require us to enter into pricing agreements.
The process of negotiating a pricing agreement can be lengthy and time-consuming, require extensive management time and may not be
successful.
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Revenue from sales of our products fluctuates principally based on the selling price of the joint replacement product, as the sales price
of our products varies among hospitals and other medical facilities. In addition, our product revenue may fluctuate based on the product sales
mix and mix of sales by geography. Our product revenue from international sales can be significantly impacted by fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates, as our sales are denominated in the local currency in the countries in which we sell our products. We expect our
product revenue to fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter due to a variety of factors, including seasonality, as we have historically experienced lower
sales in the summer months and around year-end, the timing of the introduction of our new products, if any, and the impact of the buying
patterns and implant volumes of medical facilities.
Ongoing royalty revenue is generated from our agreement with MicroPort Orthopedics Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of MicroPort
Scientific Corporation, and was generated through December 31, 2017 with Wright Medical Group, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary Wright
Medical Technology, Inc. Both agreements were entered into in April 2015.
Cost of revenue
We produce our computer aided designs, or CAD, in-house and in India and use them to direct most of our product manufacturing
efforts. We manufacture all of our patient-specific instruments, or iJigs, tibial trays used in our total knee implants, and polyethylene tibia tray
inserts for our iTotal CR and our iTotal PS product, in our facility in Wilmington, Massachusetts. We polish our femoral implants used in our total
and partial knee products in our facility in Wallingford, Connecticut. Starting in July 2018, we manufacture our patient-specific Conformis Hip
System implants in our facility in Wilmington, Massachusetts. We outsource the production of the remainder of the partial knee tibial
components, the manufacture of femoral castings and other knee and hip implant components to third-party suppliers. Our suppliers make our
customized implant components using the CAD designs we supply. Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs of raw materials, manufacturing
personnel, manufacturing supplies, outside supplier processes, inbound freight and manufacturing overhead, unused patient-specific product,
and depreciation expense.
We calculate gross margin as revenue less cost of revenue divided by revenue. Our gross margin has been and will continue to be
affected by a variety of factors, including primarily volume of units produced, mix of product components manufactured by us versus sourced
from third parties, our average selling price, the geographic mix of sales, product sales mix, the number of cancelled sales orders resulting in
wasted implants, and royalty revenue.
We expect our gross margin from the sale of our products, which excludes royalty revenue, to expand over time to the extent we are
successful in continuing to reduce our manufacturing costs per unit and increasing our manufacturing efficiency as sales volume increases. We
believe that areas of opportunity to expand our gross margin in the future, if and as the volume of our product sales increases, include the
following:
• absorbing overhead costs across a larger volume of product sales;
• obtaining more favorable pricing for the materials used in the manufacture of our products;
• obtaining more favorable pricing of certain components of our products manufactured for us by third parties;
• increasing the proportion of certain components of our products that we manufacture in-house, which we believe we can
manufacture at a lower unit cost than vendors we currently use;
• developing new versions of our software used in the design of our customized joint replacement implants, which we believe will
reduce costs associated with the design process; and
• continuing to transition our in-house CAD labor force to India, which we believe will reduce labor costs required to design our
products.
We also continue to explore other opportunities to reduce our manufacturing costs. However, these and the above opportunities may
not be realized. In addition, our gross margin may fluctuate from period to period.
Operating expenses
Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses.
Personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and consist of salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation, and
sales commissions.
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Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salary, employee benefits and
stock-based compensation for personnel employed in sales, marketing, customer service, medical education and training, as well as
investments in surgeon training programs, industry events and other promotional activities. In addition, our sales and marketing expense
includes sales commissions and bonuses, generally based on a percentage of sales, to our sales managers, direct sales representatives and
independent sales representatives. Recruiting, training and retaining productive sales representatives and educating surgeons about the
benefits of our products are required to generate and grow revenue. We expect sales and marketing expense to increase as we build up our
sales and support personnel and expand our marketing efforts. Our sales and marketing expense may fluctuate from period to period due to
the seasonality of our revenue and the timing and extent of our expenses.
Research and development. Research and development expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salary, employee
benefits and stock-based compensation for personnel employed in research and development, regulatory and clinical areas. Research and
development expense also includes costs associated with product design, product refinement and improvement efforts before and after receipt
of regulatory clearance, development prototypes, testing, clinical study programs and regulatory activities, contractors and consultants, and
equipment and software to support our development. As our revenue increases, we will also incur additional expenses for revenue share
payments to our past and present scientific advisory board members. We expect research and development expense to increase in absolute
dollars as we develop new products to expand our product pipeline, add research and development personnel and conduct clinical activities.
General and administrative. General and administrative expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salary, employee
benefits and stock-based compensation for our administrative personnel that support our general operations, including executive management,
general legal and intellectual property, finance and accounting, information technology and human resources personnel. General and
administrative expense also includes outside legal costs associated with intellectual property and general legal matters, financial audit fees,
insurance, fees for other consulting services, depreciation expense, freight, and facilities expense. We expect our general and administrative
expense will increase in absolute dollars as we increase our headcount and expand our infrastructure to support growth in our business and
our operations. As our revenue increases, we also incur additional expenses for freight. Our general and administrative expense may fluctuate
from period to period due to the timing and extent of the expenses.
Total other income (expenses), net
Total other income (expenses), net consists primarily of interest expense and amortization of debt discount associated with our term
loans outstanding during the year, debt extinguishment loss, and gains (losses) from foreign currency transactions. The effect of exchange
rates on our foreign currency-denominated asset and liability balances are recorded as foreign currency transaction adjustments in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.
Income tax provision
Income tax provision consists primarily of a provision for income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business. We
maintain a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets including net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credits and
other tax credits.
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Consolidated results of operations
Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
The following table sets forth our results of operations expressed as dollar amounts, percentage of total revenue and year-over-year
change (in thousands):
2019
Three Months Ended September 30,

2018
As a% of
Total
Revenue

Amount

2019 vs 2018
As a% of
Total
Revenue

Amount

$
Change

%
Change

Revenue
Product revenue

$

Royalty
Total revenue

17,112

18,332

63 %

191

99 %
1

$

10,652

37

(10,461)

(98)

(11,681)

(40)

17,303

100

28,984

100

Cost of revenue

9,675

56

9,265

32

Gross profit

7,628

44

19,719

68

$

(1,220)

(7)%

410

4

(12,091)

(61)

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing

6,153

36 %

9,053

31 %

Research and development

$

3,162

18

3,867

13

(705)

(18)

General and administrative

5,165

30

6,582

23

(1,417)

(22)

Goodwill impairment
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Total other income (expenses), net
Loss before income taxes

(2,900)

(32)%

—

—

6,731

23

(6,731)

(100)

84

26,233

91

(11,753)

(45)

(6,852)

(40)

(6,514)

(22)

(338)

(5)

(1,828)

(11)

(896)

(3)

(932)

(104)

(8,680)

(50)

(7,410)

(26)

(1,270)

(17)

(6)

(22)

21
$

$

14,480

Income tax provision
Net loss

$

—

(8,701)

(50)% $

27

—

(7,437)

(26)% $

(1,264)

(17)%

Product revenue. Product revenue was $17.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 compared to $18.3 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $1.2 million or 7%, due principally to decreased sales of our iTotal CR and partial
knee products. The decrease is partially offset by growth of $0.5 million our iTotal PS and Hip System.
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our product revenue by geography expressed as U.S. dollar amounts,
percentage of product revenue and year-over-year change (in thousands):
2019
Three Months Ended September 30,

United States

Amount

$

Germany

15,144

88% $

1,527

Rest of world
Product revenue

2018
As a % of
Product
Revenue

9

441
$

3

17,112

100% $

Amount

16,271
1,684
377
18,332

2019 vs 2018
As a % of
Product
Revenue

89% $
9
2
100% $

$
Change

(1,127)

%
Change

(7)%

(157)

(9)

64

17

(1,220)

(7)%

Product revenue in the United States was generated through our direct sales force and independent sales representatives. The
percentage of product revenue generated in the United States was 88% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 compared to 89% for
the three months ended September 30, 2018. We believe the lower level of revenue as a percentage of product revenue inside the United
States in the three months ended September 30, 2019 was due to denials of coverage from Aetna, the third largest commercial payor, as well
as the declining market for cemented cruciate retained total knee replacements. Partially offsetting the decline during the quarter was growth in
sales of the iTotal PS and the Conformis Hip System. Product revenue declined in Germany due to continued reimbursement challenges.
Royalty revenue. Royalty revenue was $0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 compared to $10.7 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $10.5 million or 98%.
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Royalty revenue decreased due to the $10.5 million royalty payment under the Settlement and License Agreement with Smith and Nephew
received in 2018.
Cost of revenue, gross profit and gross margin. Cost of revenue was $9.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019
compared to $9.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, an increase of $0.4 million, or 4%. Gross profit was $7.6 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2019 compared to $19.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $12.1
million or 61%. Gross margin decreased 2,400 basis points to 44% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 from 68% for the three
months ended September 30, 2018. This decrease in gross margin was driven primarily by the $10.5 million royalty Settlement and License
Agreement with Smith and Nephew, and lower sales volume, and an increase in unused product and scrap due to screw design changes made
during the limited launch of our Conformis Hip System.
Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense was $6.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019 compared to
$9.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $2.9 million or 32%. The decrease was due primarily to a decrease
in personnel costs of $1.4 million, a $0.7 million decrease in commissions, a $0.5 million decrease in program spending, and a $0.4 million
decrease in instrumentation and bioskill lab expenses, partially offset by a $0.1 million increase in other sales and marketing costs. Sales and
marketing expense increased as a percentage of total revenue to 36% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 compared to 31% for
the three months ended September 30, 2018.
Research and development. Research and development expense was $3.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019
compared to $3.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $0.7 million, or 18%. The decrease was due primarily
to personnel costs of $0.3 million, a decrease in revenue share expense of $0.2 million, and a decrease in prototype supplies and professional
services related to projects of $0.3 million due to timing, partially offset by an increase of $0.1 million in other costs. Research and development
expense increased as a percentage of total revenue to 18% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 from 13% for the three months
ended September 30, 2018.
General and administrative. General and administrative expense was $5.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019
compared to $6.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $1.4 million, or 22%. The decrease was primarily due
to a decrease in asset impairment charges of $1.9 million, partially offset by an increase of $0.2 million in insurance premiums, an increase in
legal fees of $0.1 million and an increase of $0.2 million in other general and administrative costs. General and administrative expense
increased as a percentage of total revenue to 30% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 from 23% for the three months ended
September 30, 2018.
Goodwill impairment. Goodwill impairment was $6.7 million for the three months ended September 30,
2018. The drop in our market capitalization and decrease in cash flow position were indicators of impairment and our analysis determined
goodwill was fully impaired.
Total other income (expenses), net. Other income (expenses), net was $(1.8) million for the three months ended September 30,
2019 compared to $(0.9) million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, a change of $(0.9) million. The change was primarily due to a
$1.0 million increase in foreign currency exchange transaction expense partially offset by a $0.2 million decrease in interest expense as a result
of less term debt outstanding.
Income taxes. Income tax provision was $21,000 and $27,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. We continue to generate losses for U.S. federal and state tax purposes and have net operating loss carryforwards creating a
deferred tax asset. We maintain a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.
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Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
The following table sets forth our results of operations expressed as dollar amounts, percentage of total revenue and year-over-year
change (in thousands):

2019

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018
As a%
of
Total
Revenue

Amount

2019 vs 2018
As a%
of
Total
Revenue

Amount

$
Change

%
Change

Revenue
Product revenue

$

56,918

56,723

84 %

622

1

11,017

16

(10,395)

(94)%

Total revenue

57,540

100

67,740

100

(10,200)

(15)%

Cost of revenue

30,459

53

30,123

44

Gross profit

27,081

47

37,617

56

21,231

37 %

Royalty

99 %

$

$

195

—%

336

1%

(10,536)

(28)%

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing

29,273

43 %

(8,042)

(27)%

Research and development

$

9,402

16

13,411

20

(4,009)

(30)

General and administrative

15,783

27

18,524

27

(2,741)

(15)

—

—

6,731

10

(6,731)

(100)

Goodwill impairment
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Total other income (expenses), net
Loss before income taxes

46,416

81

67,939

100

(21,523)

(32)

(34)

(30,322)

(45)

10,987

36

(3,675)

(6)

(3,099)

(5)

(23,010)

(40)

(33,421)

(49)

35
$

$

(19,335)

Income tax provision
Net loss

$

(23,045)

—
(40)% $

74

(576)

—

(33,495)

(19)

10,411

31

(39)

(49)% $

(53)

10,450

31 %

Product revenue. Product revenue was $56.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, compared to $56.7 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2018, an increase of $0.2 million or 0%. Increased sales of our iTotal PS and Conformis Hip System
products were partially offset by decreased sales of our partial knee products and iTotal CR.
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our product revenue by geography expressed as U.S. dollar amounts,
percentage of product revenue and year-over-year change (in thousands):

2019
Nine Months Ended September 30,

United States

Amount

$

34,793

2018
As a % of
Product
Revenue

Amount

61% $

32,382

2019 vs 2018
As a % of
Product
Revenue

$
Change

57% $

Germany

4,137

7

5,273

9

Rest of world

1,317

32

1,113

34

Product revenue

$

56,918

100% $

56,723

$

100% $

2,411
(1,136)

%
Change

7%
(22)

204

18

195

—%

Product revenue in the United States was generated through our direct sales force and independent sales representatives. Product
revenue outside the United States was generated through our direct sales force and distributors. The percentage of product revenue generated
in the United States was 61% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 compared to 57% for the nine months ended September 30,
2018. We believe the higher level of revenue as a percentage of product revenue inside the United States in the nine months ended
September 30, 2019 was due to sales growth of the iTotal PS and introduction of the Conformis Hip System products in the United States,
coupled with negative impact in the United States for denials of coverage from Aetna, the declining cemented cruciate retained total knee
replacement market, and continued reimbursement challenges of our iTotal CR and PS business in Germany.
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Royalty revenue. Royalty revenue was $0.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and $11.0 million or the nine
months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $10.4 million, or 94%. Royalty revenue decreased primarily due to the royalty payment
under the Settlement and License Agreement with Smith and Nephew received in 2018. Partially offsetting the decrease was an increase of
$0.1 million in royalty revenue from MicroPort Orthopedics Inc.
Cost of revenue, gross profit and gross margin. Cost of revenue was $30.5 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2019 compared to $30.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, an increase of $0.3 million, or 1%. Gross profit was $27.1
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 compared to $37.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease
of $10.5 million or 28%. Gross margin decreased 900 basis points to 47% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from 56% for the
nine months ended September 30, 2018. This decrease in gross margin was driven primarily by the $10.5 million royalty Settlement and
License Agreement with Smith and Nephew.
Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense was $21.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 compared to
$29.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $8.0 million, or 27%. The decrease was due primarily to decreases
in personnel costs of $4.6 million, marketing program and PR spending of $3.1 million, and $0.6 million in commissions. The decreases are
partially offset by an increase in reusable instrumentation depreciation of $0.3 million. Sales and marketing expense decreased as a
percentage of total revenue to 37% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 compared to 43% the nine months ended September 30,
2018.
Research and development. Research and development expense was $9.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019
compared to $13.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $4.0 million, or 30%. The decrease was due to
decreases of $1.9 million in personnel costs, $1.4 million in revenue share and clinical trial expenses, and $0.8 million in professional
consulting and prototyping expense, partially offset by an increase in other expenses of $0.1 million. Research and development expense
decreased as a percentage of total revenue to 16% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 from 20% for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018.
General and administrative. General and administrative expense was $15.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019
compared to $18.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $2.7 million, or 15%. The decrease in expenses was
due $1.9 million in asset impairments, $0.9 million in legal expenses and a $0.8 million in personnel costs. The decreases were partially offset
by increases in outbound freight costs of $0.2 million, insurance premiums of $0.2 million, professional services of $0.3 million, and other
general and administration expenses of $0.2 million. General and administrative expense remained consistent as a percentage of total revenue
at 27% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018.
Goodwill impairment. Goodwill impairment was $6.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The drop in our market
capitalization and decrease in cash flow position were indicators of impairment and our analysis determined goodwill was fully impaired.
Total other income (expenses), net. Other income (expenses), net was $(3.7) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019
compared to $(3.1) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, an increase of expense of $0.6 million, or 19%. The change was
primarily due to a $0.3 million increase in foreign currency exchange transaction expense and an increase of $0.3 million in interest expense
associated with long-term debt.
Income taxes. Income tax provision was approximately $35,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and $74,000 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2018. We continue to generate losses for U.S. federal and state tax purposes and have net operating loss
carryforwards creating a deferred tax asset. We maintain a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.

37

Liquidity, capital resources and plan of operations
Sources of liquidity and funding requirements
From our inception in June 2004 through the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we have financed our operations primarily
through private placements of preferred stock, our initial public offering, or IPO, equity offerings, bank and other debt and product revenue. We
have not yet attained profitability and continue to incur operating losses. As of September 30, 2019, we have an accumulated deficit of $498.7
million.
In January 2017, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which was declared effective by the SEC on May 9, 2017, or the
"Shelf Registration Statement". The Shelf Registration Statement allows us to sell from time-to-time up to $200 million of common stock,
preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, or units comprised of any combination of these securities, for our own account in one or more
offerings. On May 10, 2017, we filed with the SEC a prospectus supplement, pursuant to which we may issue and sell up to $50 million of our
common stock and entered into the Distribution Agreement with Canaccord Genuity, pursuant to which Canaccord has agreed to sell shares of
our common stock from time to time, as our agent in an “at-the-market” offering ("ATM") as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the U.S.
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We are not obligated to sell any number of shares under the Distribution Agreement. As of September 30,
2019, we have sold 785,280 shares under the Distribution Agreement resulting in net proceeds of $1.5 million.
On December 17, 2018, we entered into a stock purchase agreement, or the "Stock Purchase Agreement", with Lincoln Park Capital,
or "LPC". Upon entering into the Stock Purchase Agreement, we sold 1,921,968 shares of common stock for $1.0 million to LPC, representing
a premium of 110% to the previous day's closing price. As consideration for LPC’s commitment to purchase shares of common stock under the
Stock Purchase Agreement, we issued 354,430 shares to LPC. We have the right at our sole discretion to sell to LPC up to $20.0 million worth
of shares over a 36-month period subject to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. We will control the timing of any sales to LPC and
LPC will be obligated to make purchases of our common stock upon receipt of requests from us in accordance with the terms of the Stock
Purchase Agreement. There are no upper limits to the price per share LPC may pay to purchase the up to $20.0 million worth of common stock
subject to the Stock Purchase Agreement, and the purchase price of the shares will be based on the then prevailing market prices of our
shares at the time of each sale to LPC as described in the Stock Purchase Agreement, provided that LPC will not be obligated to make
purchases of our common stock pursuant to receipt of a request from us on any business day on which the last closing trade price of our
common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market (or alternative national exchange in accordance with the Stock Purchase Agreement) is below a
floor price of $0.25 per share. No warrants, derivatives, financial or business covenants are associated with the Stock Purchase Agreement
and LPC has agreed not to cause or engage in any manner whatsoever, any direct or indirect short selling or hedging of shares of our common
stock. The Stock Purchase Agreement may be terminated by us at any time, at our sole discretion, without any cost or penalty.
On June 25, 2019, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the "2019 Secured Loan Agreement") with Innovatus Life
Sciences Lending Fund I, LP ("Innovatus"), as collateral agent and lender, East West Bank and the other lenders party thereto from time to
time, or "Lenders", pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to make term loans and a revolving credit facility to the Company to repay existing
indebtedness, for working capital and general business purposes, in a principal amount of up to $30 million. We used the proceeds from the
2019 Secured Loan Agreement to pay off the $15 million term loan from Oxford Finance LLC. In addition, Innovatus purchased approximately
$3 million of our common stock at the previous day's closing price. For further information regarding the 2019 Secured Loan Agreement, see
"Note K—Debt and Notes Payable " in the financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
On September 30, 2019, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Howmedica Osteonics Corp., a subsidiary of Stryker
Corporation also known as Stryker Orthopaedics ("Stryker"). In connection with entering into the Asset Purchase Agreement, we also entered
into a Development Agreement, a License Agreement, and other ancillary agreements contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement with
Stryker. Under the terms of the agreements, we agreed to sell and license to Stryker certain assets relating to the Company's patient-specific
instrumentation technology, and to develop, manufacture, and supply patient-specific instrumentation for use in connection with Stryker's "offthe-shelf" non-custom knee implant offerings. We received $14 million upfront and will receive up to an additional $16 million in milestone
payments pursuant to the License Agreement and the Development Agreement. Under the long-term distribution Agreement, we will supply
patient-specific
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instrumentation to Stryker. We may be required to pay back a portion of the initial payment as it is contingent on successful completion of
milestones set forth in the Development and License agreements.
We expect to incur substantial expenditures in the foreseeable future in connection with the following:
•

expansion of our sales and marketing efforts;

•

expansion of our manufacturing capacity;

•

funding research, development and clinical activities related to our existing products and product platform, including iFit design
software and product support;

•

funding research, development and clinical activities related to new products that we may develop, including other joint
replacement products;

•

pursuing and maintaining appropriate regulatory clearances and approvals for our existing products and any new products that
we may develop; and

•

preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, and maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and position.

We anticipate that our principal sources of funds in the future will be revenue generated from the sales of our products, including the
successful full commercial launch of the Conformis Hip System, successful completion of the development milestones set forth in the
Development Agreement and License Agreement milestones, potential payments form Stryker pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, potential
future capital raises through the issuance of equity or other securities, debt financings, and revenues that we may generate in connection with
licensing our intellectual property. Additionally, in order for us to meet our operating plan, gross margin improvements and operating expense
reductions will be necessary to reduce cash used in operations. We will need to generate significant additional revenue to achieve and maintain
profitability, and even if we achieve profitability, we cannot be sure that we will remain profitable for any substantial period of time. It is also
possible that we may allocate significant amounts of capital toward products or technologies for which market demand is lower than anticipated
and, as a result, abandon such efforts. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it,
or if we expend capital on projects that are not successful, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business
challenges could be significantly limited, and we may even have to scale back our operations. Our failure to become and remain profitable
could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development efforts or continue to fund our operations.
We may need to engage in additional equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. We may not be able to obtain additional
financing on terms favorable to us, or at all. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the future sales of equity or debt, the
ownership interest of our stockholders will be diluted. The terms of these future or debt securities may include liquidation or other preferences
that adversely affect the rights of our existing common stockholders or involve negative covenants that restrict our ability to take specific
actions, such as incurring additional debt or making capital expenditures.
At September 30, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $29.4 million and $0.5 million in restricted cash allocated to lease
deposits. Based on our current operating plan, we expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2019, anticipated
revenue from operations, and the ability to draw down the revolving credit facility, and issue equity to LPC will enable us to fund our operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirements and pay our debt service as it becomes due for at least the next 12 months from the date of
filing. We have based this expectation on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, such as the revenue that we expect to generate from the
sale of our products, the gross profit we expect to generate from those revenue, the reduction in operating expenses in 2019, and we could use
our capital resources sooner than we expect.
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Cash flows
The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated, as well as the year-over-year change (in
thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2019

2018

$ Change

% Change

Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities

$

1,501

$

(27,255)

$

28,756

106 %

Investing activities

5,148

8,700

(3,552)

(41)

Financing activities

6,465

21,936

(15,471)

(71)

(17)

(39)

Effect of exchange rate on cash
Total

(61)
$

13,053

(44)
$

3,337

$

9,716

291 %

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.5 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019 and $27.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of $28.8 million. These amounts
primarily reflect net loss of $23.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and $33.5 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018. The net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was affected by $14.0
million cash receipt under the Asset Purchase Agreement with Stryker, an increase from inventory of $1.1 million, an increase from prepaid
expenses and other assets of $0.7 million, and a decrease from accounts receivable and royalty receivable of $1.2 million and $10.4 million,
respectively. Non-cash reconciling items include an increase due to loss from debt extinguishment of $1.1 million, an increase from stock
compensation expense of $0.6 million, a decrease in unrealized foreign exchange gain/loss of $0.3 million, a decrease of $0.9 million due to
lease expense, a decrease of $6.7 million in goodwill impairment, and a decrease of $1.9 million in long-lived asset impairment.
Net cash provided by investing activities. Net cash provided by investing activities was $5.1 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $8.7 million, a change of $3.6 million. These amounts primarily
reflect a decrease in cash used to purchase investments of $19.4 million, a decrease in cash provided from matured investments of $23.8
million, and a decrease in costs related to the acquisition of property, plant, and equipment of $0.8 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $6.5 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2019, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $21.9 million, a decrease of $15.5 million. These amounts
primarily reflect a decrease in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock of $18.8 million, a decrease due to payment on extinguishment
of debt of $0.9 million and payment of debt principal of $15 million, and a decrease of $0.7 million related to debt issuance costs, partially offset
by an increase of $20.0 million from debt proceeds.
Contractual obligations and commitments
There have not been any material changes to our contractual obligations and commitments disclosed in the Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report filed on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018
other than changes in our debt facilities as disclosed in Note K—Debt and Notes Payable in the financial statements and related notes
appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Revenue share agreements
We are party to revenue share agreements with certain past and present members of our scientific advisory board under which these
advisors agreed to participate on our scientific advisory board and to assist with the development of our customized implant products and
related intellectual property. These agreements provide that we will pay the advisor a specified percentage of our net revenue, ranging from
0.1% to 1.33%, with respect to our products on which the advisor made a technical contribution or, in some cases, which we covered by a claim
of one of or patents on which the advisor is a named inventor. The specific percentage is determined by reference to product classifications set
forth in the agreement and is tiered based on the level of net revenue collected by us on such product sales. Our payment obligations under
these agreements typically expire a fixed number of years after expiration or termination of the agreement, but in some cases expire on a
product-by-product basis or expiration of the last to expire of our patents where the advisor is a named inventor that claims the applicable
product.
The aggregate revenue share percentage of net revenue from our currently marketed knee replacement products, including
percentages under revenue share agreements with all of our scientific advisory board members, ranges, depending on the particular product,
from 3.4% to 5.8%. We incurred aggregate revenue share expense including all amounts payable under our scientific advisory board revenue
share agreements of $0.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019, representing 3.7% of product revenue, and $0.7 million
during the three months ended September 30, 2018, representing 3.57% of product revenue. Revenue share expense is included in research
and development. For further information, see “Note J—Commitments and Contingencies ” to the consolidated financial statements appearing
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Segment information
We have one primary business activity and operate as one reportable segment.
Off-balance sheet arrangements
Through September 30, 2019, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such as
structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements
or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
Critical accounting policies and significant judgments and use of estimates
We have prepared our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. Our preparation of these financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. The accounting estimates that require our most significant estimates
include revenue recognition, accounts receivable valuation, inventory valuations, intangible valuation, purchase accounting, impairment
assessments, equity instruments, stock compensation, income tax reserves and related allowances, the lives of property and equipment, and
valuation of right-of-use lease assets and liabilities. We evaluate our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our critical accounting policies are more fully described under the heading
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical accounting policies and significant
judgments and use of estimates” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Recent accounting pronouncements
Information with respect to recent accounting developments is provided in Note B to the consolidated financial statements appearing in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
41

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, respectively), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2019. The
term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment
in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of September 30, 2019, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
occurred during the three months ended September 30, 2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of our business, we are subject to routine risk of litigation, claims and administrative proceedings on a variety of
matters, including patent infringement, product liability, securities-related claims, and other claims in the United States and in other countries
where we sell our products.
On August 15, 2019, we filed a lawsuit against Zimmer Biomet Holdings, Inc. and Zimmer, Inc., or “Zimmer Biomet” in the United
States District Court for the District of Delaware seeking damages for Zimmer Biomet’s infringement of certain of the Company’s patents related
to patient-specific instrument and implant systems. The complaint alleges that Zimmer Biomet’s multiple lines of patient-specific instruments, as
well as the implant components used in conjunction with them, infringe four of our patents. The accused product lines include Zimmer Biomet
patient-specific instrument and implant systems for knee, shoulder, and hip replacement procedures. An adverse outcome of this lawsuit could
have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition or results of operations. The Company is presently unable to
predict the outcome of the lawsuit or to reasonably estimate a range of potential losses, if any, related to the lawsuit.
On August 29, 2019,we filed a lawsuit against Medacta USA, Inc., or“Medacta” in the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware seeking damages for Medacta’s infringement of certain of our patents related to patient-specific instrument and implant systems. The
complaint alleges that Medacta’s multiple lines of patient-specific instruments, as well as the implant components used in conjunction with
them, infringe four of our patents. The accused product lines include Medacta patient-specific instrument and implant systems for knee,
shoulder, and hip replacement procedures. An adverse outcome of this lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on the Company's
business, financial condition or results of operations. The Company is presently unable to predict the outcome of the lawsuit or to reasonably
estimate a range of potential losses, if any, related to the lawsuit.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
We operate in a rapidly changing environment that involves a number of risks that may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. The following description of risk factors consists of updates to the risk factors previously disclosed
in Part 1, Item 1A in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 (the “Form 10-K”). For a detailed discussion
of the other risks that affect our business, please refer to the entire section entitled “Risk Factors” in our Form 10-K. Other than as set forth
below, there have been no material changes to our risk factors as previously disclosed in our Form 10-K. Risk factors and other information
included in our Form 10-Q should be carefully considered. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we presently
deem less significant may also impair our business operations. Please see page 26 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of
some of the forward-looking statements that are qualified by these risk factors. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial
condition, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected.
If surgeons, hospitals and other medical facilities are unable to obtain favorable reimbursement rates from third-party payors for
procedures involving use of our products, if third-party payors adopt policies that preclude payment for the use of our products, or if
reimbursement from third-party payors for such procedures significantly declines, surgeons, hospitals and other medical facilities
may be reluctant to use our products and our sales may decline.
In the United States, surgeons and hospitals and other medical facilities who purchase medical devices such as our products generally
rely on third-party payors, principally federal Medicare, state Medicaid and private health insurance plans, to pay for all or a portion of the costs
and fees associated with the joint replacement surgery and the products utilized in the procedure, including the cost of our products. Our
customers' access to adequate coverage and reimbursement for the procedures performed using our products by government and third-party
payors is central to the acceptance of our current and future products.
We are aware of certain private insurers that at this time are not agreeing to reimburse for our products as they consider the use of
custom implants or patient-specific instrumentation for knee replacement surgery as investigational, unproven or experimental or not medically
necessary. For example, in the three months ended
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September 30, 2019, denials of coverage from Aetna, the third largest commercial payor, negatively impacted our product revenue in the
United States. While we are actively reaching out to these private insurers to discuss their reimbursement policies, we may not be able
convince these parties to change their reimbursement policies. In addition, the American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons currently has
published clinical guidelines that do not support the widespread use of patient-specific instrumentation in total knee arthroplasty generally, at
least until additional data regarding any purported advantages can be considered. We believe that this is an outcome directed to patientspecific instruments with off-the-shelf implants, not use of patient-specific instruments with custom implants. Surgeons, hospitals and other
medical facilities may not purchase our products if government and third-party payors deny coverage for such procedures or set reimbursement
rates at unfavorable levels for procedures involving use of our products. This could have a material adverse effect on our business and
operations.
An initial step in the process for a patient to receive one of our joint replacement products involves a CT scan of the patient's affected joint
and one or two CT images of other biomechanically relevant joints. The cost of the CT scan is not always reimbursed by third-party payors, and
some third-party payors may have policies against reimbursement of such scans when they have not been deemed medically necessary. In
addition, the costs of alternative imaging techniques that we could substitute in the future for a CT scan in our iFit process, such as magnetic
resonance imaging, or MRI, generally, are higher than the cost of a CT scan and also not always reimbursed by third-party payors when related
to joint replacement procedures. If third-party payors do not reimburse the costs of the CT scan or, in the future, any alternative imaging
technique, we could find that we have to find alternative ways to pay these costs, for example, we could pay these costs ourselves directly to
the imaging facility, or reduce the prices of our products that we charge hospitals and other medical facilities that bear these costs, in order to
maintain market acceptance of our products. In such events, our costs of sales could increase and our revenue could decrease, in each case
adversely affecting our financials, including, among other things, our gross margin. If payors do not reimburse the costs of the CT scan and we
are unable to find an alternative way to pay these costs, we may be unable to sell our products which could have a material adverse effect on
our business and operations.
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 or, collectively,
the ACA, has changed how some healthcare providers are reimbursed by the Medicare program and some private third-party payors. As
physicians consolidate into Accountable Care Organizations, or ACOs, these physicians, through the ACOs, are taking on the financial risk for
providing care to all patients in their ACO. Medicare and some private third-party payors calculate a set payment per beneficiary or member of
the ACO based on the specific ACOs’ historical aggregate payments for care provided to the respective beneficiaries, or in the instance of the
Comprehensive Care for Joint Replacement initiative a regional per procedure payment, known as a “bundle”, would be calculated. ACOs use
these payments to provide care for their patients. When the cost of providing care is less than payments received, the ACO is able to keep the
savings. ACOs are therefore incentivized to control and reduce the cost of patient care. Attempts to control and reduce the cost of care within
an ACO could result in fewer referrals for elective surgery, or require the use of the least expensive implant available, either or both of which
could cause our revenue to decline.
Since enactment of the ACA, there have been numerous legal challenges and Congressional actions to repeal and replace provisions of
the law. For example, with enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, which was signed by the President on December 22, 2017,
Congress repealed the “individual mandate.” The repeal of this provision, which requires most Americans to carry a minimal level of health
insurance, will become effective in 2019. According to the Congressional Budget Office, the repeal of the individual mandate will cause 13
million fewer Americans to be insured in 2027 and premiums in insurance markets may rise. Additionally, on January 22, 2018, President
Trump signed a continuing resolution on appropriations for fiscal year 2018 that delayed the implementation of certain ACA-mandated fees,
including the so-called “Cadillac” tax on certain high cost employer-sponsored insurance plans, the annual fee imposed on certain health
insurance providers based on market share, and the medical device excise tax on non-exempt medical devices. Further, the Bipartisan Budget
Act of 2018, among other things, amends the ACA, effective January 1, 2019, to increase from 50 percent to 70 percent the point-of-sale
discount that is owed by pharmaceutical manufacturers who participate in Medicare Part D and to close the coverage gap in most Medicare
drug plans, commonly referred to as the “donut hole”. The Congress will likely consider other legislation to replace elements of the ACA during
the next Congressional session.
The Trump Administration has also taken executive actions to undermine or delay implementation of the ACA. Since January 2017,
President Trump has signed two Executive Orders designed to delay the implementation of certain provisions of the ACA or otherwise
circumvent some of the requirements for health insurance mandated by the ACA. One Executive Order directs federal agencies with authorities
and responsibilities under the ACA to waive,
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defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any provision of the ACA that would impose a fiscal or regulatory burden on
states, individuals, healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices. The second Executive Order
terminates the cost-sharing subsidies that reimburse insurers under the ACA. Several state Attorneys General filed suit to stop the
administration from terminating the subsidies, but their request for a restraining order was denied by a federal judge in California on October
25, 2017. In addition, CMS has recently proposed regulations that would give states greater flexibility in setting benchmarks for insurers in the
individual and small group marketplaces, which may have the effect of relaxing the essential health benefits required under the ACA for plans
sold through such marketplaces. Further, on June 14, 2018, U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit ruled that the federal government was
not required to pay more than $12 billion in ACA risk corridor payments to third-party payors who argued were owed to them. The effects of this
gap in reimbursement on third-party payors, the viability of the ACA marketplace, providers, and potentially our business, are not yet known.
Outside of the United States, reimbursement systems vary significantly by country. Many foreign markets have government-managed
healthcare systems that govern reimbursement for orthopedic implants and procedures. Many countries use a system of Diagnosis Related
Groups to set a price for a particular medical procedure, including orthopedic implants that will be used in that procedure. In the EU, the pricing
and approval for use of medical devices is subject to governmental control, and pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take
considerable time after a device has been CE marked. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to
supply data that compares the cost-effectiveness of our products to other available therapies. Additionally, some foreign reimbursement
systems provide for limited payments in a given period and therefore result in extended collection periods. Further, reimbursement rates for our
products in other jurisdictions, including in Germany, where in the past we have attained reimbursement rates at higher price points than some
competitive products, has changed negatively for certain of our products in 2017, changed positively for 2019 and could further change
negatively in Germany and other jurisdictions. In addition, beginning in 2016, we have seen an increase in denials of the higher reimbursement
code for use of our products in Germany by the Medizinischer Dienst der Krankenkassen (translated: Medical Service of Health Insurance), or
MDK, and, in such instances, the amount of reimbursement to the hospitals and other medical facilities has been lowered to that of an off-theshelf knee.
If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, it may not be
profitable to sell our products outside of the United States, which would negatively affect the long-term growth of our business.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Unregistered Sales of Securities
We did not sell any shares of our common stock, shares of our preferred stock or warrants to purchase shares of our stock, or grant
any stock options or restricted stock awards, during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that were not registered under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and that have not otherwise been described in a Current Report on Form 8-K.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the Exhibit Index, which Exhibit Index is incorporated
herein by reference.
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number
10.1†

Description of Exhibit
Employment Agreement dated July 29, 2019, by and between Conformis, Inc. and J. Brent Alldredge, its Chief Legal
Officer and Corporate Secretary. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Form 10-Q (File
No. 001-37474]) filed on August 2, 2019).
First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2019, by and among Conformis, Inc. and the
other parties thereto.
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2019, by and between Howmedica Osteonics Corp. and
Conformis, Inc.
Distribution Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2019, by and between Howmedica Osteonics Corp. and Conformis,
Inc.
License Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2019, by and between Howmedica Osteonics Corp. and Conformis,
Inc.
Development Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2019, by and between Howmedica Osteonics Corp. and
Conformis, Inc.

10.2*
10.3*^
10.4*^
10.5*^
10.6*^

10.7*^

First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2019, by and between Howmedica Osteonics
Corp. and Conformis, Inc.

10.8*

Form of 2015 Stock Incentive Plan Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Agreement

10.9*

Form of 2019 Sales Team Performance-Based Equity Incentive Plan Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Agreement

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Interim Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Interim Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Database
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

31.2*
32.1*#
32.2*#
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF
*
†

Filed herewith.
Indicates management contract or plan.

#

This certification will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent specifically
incorporated by reference into such filing.
Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted because they are not material and would likely cause competitive harm to the
Registrant if disclosed.

^
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Date: 11/1/2019
CONFORMIS, INC.
By:

/s/ Mark A. Augusti
Mark A. Augusti
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: 11/1/2019
CONFORMIS, INC.
By:

/s/ Frederick W. Driscoll
Frederick W. Driscoll
Interim Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT to Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of August 15, 2019, by and among
INNOVATUS LIFE SCIENCES LENDING FUND I, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, as collateral agent (in such capacity, together with its successors
and assigns in such capacity, “Collateral Agent”), and the Lenders listed on Schedule 1.1 hereof or otherwise a party hereto from time to time including
EAST WEST BANK in its capacity as a Lender (“Bank”), and CONFORMIS, INC., a Delaware corporation, IMATX, Inc., a California corporation and
Conformis Cares LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (individually and collectively, jointly and severally, “Borrower”).
WHEREAS, Collateral Agent, Borrower and Lenders have entered into that certain Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2019 (as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”) pursuant to which Lenders have provided to Borrower certain
loans in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof; and
WHEREAS, Borrower, Lenders and Collateral Agent desire to amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, covenants and agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Borrower, Lenders and Collateral Agent hereby agree as follows:
1.

Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined shall have the respective meanings given to them in the Loan Agreement.

2.

Definition of “Permitted Liens” in Section 13 of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended by amending and restating clause (j) thereof as follows:
Liens (which may have priority to those in favor of the Collateral Agent) on rights under insurance policies and insurance proceeds, in an aggregate
amount not to exceed the amount permitted under clause (f) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness,” in favor of insurance companies granted
solely to secure financed insurance premiums and related amounts, to the extent that such financed insurance premiums constitute Permitted
Indebtedness under this Agreement;

3.

Limitation of Amendment.

a. The amendments set forth above are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written and shall not be
deemed to (a) be a consent to any amendment, waiver or modification of any other term or condition of any Loan Document, or (b)
otherwise prejudice any right, remedy or obligation which Lenders or Borrower may now have or may have in the future under or in
connection with any Loan Document, as amended hereby.

b. This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan Documents and all terms, conditions, representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Loan Documents, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and
effect.
4.

To induce Collateral Agent and Lenders to enter into this Amendment, Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Collateral Agent and Lenders as
follows:

a. Immediately after giving effect to this Amendment (a) the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are true,
accurate and complete in all material respects as of the
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date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of
such date), and (b) no Event of Default (other than the Existing Defaults) has occurred and is continuing;

b. Borrower has the power and due authority to execute and deliver this Amendment and to perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement,
as amended by this Amendment;

c. The organizational documents of Borrower delivered to Collateral Agent on the Effective Date, and updated pursuant to subsequent
deliveries by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Collateral Agent, remain true, accurate and complete and have not been amended,
supplemented or restated and are and continue to be in full force and effect;

d. The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do not contravene (i) any material law or regulation binding on or affecting Borrower, (ii) any
material contractual restriction with a Person binding on Borrower, (iii) any material order, judgment or decree of any court or other
governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower, or (iv) the organizational documents of Borrower;

e. The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do not require any order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation of, or filing,
recording or registration with, or exemption by any governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower,
except as already has been obtained or made; and

f. This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by Borrower and is the binding obligation of Borrower, enforceable against
Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation,
moratorium or other similar laws of general application and equitable principles relating to or affecting creditors’ rights.
5.

Except as expressly set forth herein, the Loan Agreement shall continue in full force and effect without alteration or amendment. This Amendment
and the Loan Documents represent the entire agreement about this subject matter and supersede prior negotiations or agreements.

6.

The Borrower hereby remises, releases, acquits, satisfies and forever discharges the Lenders and Collateral Agent, their agents, employees, officers,
directors, predecessors, attorneys and all others acting or purporting to act on behalf of or at the direction of the Lenders and Collateral Agent
(“Releasees”), of and from any and all manner of actions, causes of action, suit, debts, accounts, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements,
variances, damages, judgments, claims and demands whatsoever, in law or in equity, which any of such parties ever had, now has or, to the extent
arising from or in connection with any act, omission or state of facts taken or existing on or prior to the date hereof, may have after the date hereof
against the Releasees, for, upon or by reason of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever relating to or arising out of the Loan Agreement or the other
Loan Documents on or prior to the date hereof through the date hereof. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Borrower waives and
affirmatively agrees not to allege or otherwise pursue any defenses, affirmative defenses, counterclaims, claims, causes of action, setoffs or other
rights they do, shall or may have as of the date hereof, including the rights to contest: (a) the right of Collateral Agent and each Lender to exercise its
rights and remedies described in the Loan Documents; (b) any provision of this Amendment or the Loan Documents; or (c) any conduct of the
Lenders or other Releasees relating to or arising out of the Loan Agreement or the other Loan Documents on or prior to the date hereof.
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7.

This Amendment shall be deemed effective as of the date first set forth above upon the due execution and delivery to Collateral Agent of this
Amendment by each party hereto.

8.

This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

9.

This Amendment and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of
New York.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement to be executed as of the date first
set forth above.
BORROWER:
CONFORMIS, INC.

By

/s/ Paul S. Weiner

Name:

Paul S. Weiner

Title:

CFO

BORROWER:

IMATX, INC.

By:

/s/ Paul S. Weiner

Name:

Paul S. Weiner

Title:

CFO

BORROWER:
CONFORMIS CARES LLC

By:

/s/ Paul S. Weiner

Name:

Paul S. Weiner

Title:

CFO

COLLATERAL AGENT AND LENDER:
INNOVATUS LIFE SCIENCES LENDING FUND I, LP
By: Innovatus Life Sciences GP, LP
Its: General Partner
By:

/s/ Andrew Hobson

Name:

Andrew Hobson

Title:

Authorized Signatory

BOS 48725599v2

EAST WEST BANK:
EAST WEST BANK

By:

/s/ James Tai

Name:

James Tai

Title:

Managing Director / Head of Life Sciences
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Execution Version

Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause
competitive harm to the Company, if publicly disclosed. Double asterisks denote omissions.

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
by and between
HOWMEDICA OSTEONICS CORP.
and
CONFORMIS, INC.
September 30, 2019
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
PREAMBLE
THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of September 30, 2019, is made by and between
Howmedica Osteonics Corp., a New Jersey corporation (“Buyer”), and Conformis, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Seller”). Buyer
and Seller may each individually be referred to as a “Party” and together the “Parties”.
RECITALS
A.
Buyer and its Affiliates have developed and commercialized an Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant offered under the
trademark Triathlon (such Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant of Buyer, together with any other Stryker Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant,
“Triathlon”).
B. Seller currently offers Patient-Specific Instrumentation for use with its Patient-Specific Implants, including partial and
total knee and hip arthroplasty systems.
C. Buyer desires to purchase from Seller, and Seller desires to sell to Buyer, an interest in certain Seller assets relating to
Patient-Specific Instrumentation, on the terms set forth in this Agreement (the “Asset Purchase”).
D. On the Closing Date, Buyer (or an Affiliate of Buyer) and Seller will enter into (a) a license agreement in the form of
Exhibit A (the “License Agreement”), (b) a development agreement in the form of Exhibit B (the “Development Agreement”),
(c) a distribution agreement in the form of Exhibit C (the “Distribution Agreement”), and (d) a quality agreement in the form of
Exhibit D (the “Quality Agreement”).
ACCORDINGLY, the Parties agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS
1.1. Sale and Purchase of Assets. On the Closing Date, and subject to the terms and restrictions of this Agreement, Seller
hereby sells, assigns, conveys, transfers and delivers to Buyer, and Buyer hereby purchases, acquires and accepts from Seller, (i)
the entire right, title and interest in and to a single electronic copy of the Software Code and of the Manufacturing Documents, as
defined in Schedule 1.1, provided that, such right, title and interest is limited to the electronic copy itself and such copy itself does
not include any Intellectual Property rights or give rise to any rights under any Intellectual Property rights whatsoever and as such,
such copy itself, cannot establish patent exhaustion as to any Patents, including any Patents that might relate to the Software Code
or the Manufacturing Documents, (ii) an undivided one-half ownership interest in and to all Copyrights in the Software Code and in
the Manufacturing Documents, and (iii) an undivided one-half ownership interest in and to all Know-How embodied in, underlying
or otherwise contained in the Software Code and in the Manufacturing Documents, as can be gleaned from a review of such
Software Code and Manufacturing Documents without Seller’s assistance, provided that, for
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the avoidance of doubt, such Know-How does not include any Patents, including any Patents that might relate to the Software Code
or the Manufacturing Documents (the interests in clauses (ii) and (iii) above being the “Transferred IP”), such Transferred IP to be
held jointly with an undivided one-half interest retained by Seller, the one-half interests held by the Parties being subject to Section
1.1 (collectively, clauses (i) – (iii) constitute the “Purchased Assets”). For clarity, (a) other than delivery of a single electronic
copy of the Software Code and of the Manufacturing Documents, Seller shall have no obligation under this Agreement to deliver to
Buyer any other tangible assets or any Intellectual Property and (b) no Patents or rights therein are sold, assigned, conveyed,
transferred or delivered hereunder. Buyer and its Affiliates and any permitted assignees under Section 7.9 will not sell, license,
distribute or otherwise transfer or make available the Purchased Assets to any Third Party except pursuant to Section 1.1, Section
7.9, or to the extent expressly set forth in Section 2.3.4 of the Distribution Agreement.
1.2. Terms of Usage for Purchased Assets. Buyer, its Affiliates and any permitted assignees under Section 1.1 or Section
7.9, may only use the Purchased Assets for the Permitted Use. Seller, its Affiliates and any assignees under Section 1.1 or Section
7.9 shall not use the Purchased Assets in the Buyer Field except as authorized by Buyer, its Affiliates or assignees under Section
7.9.
1.3. License Back to Seller; License to Buyer.
(a) Buyer hereby grants to Seller an exclusive (even as to Buyer), perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free,
paid-up, sublicensable, transferable license, solely under Buyer’s rights in the Transferred IP, to use, copy, distribute copies
of, perform, prepare derivative works from, display and otherwise fully exploit the Transferred IP and any derivative works
thereof in all fields other than the Buyer Field. Buyer agrees to assist Seller, or its designee, [**], to the extent reasonably
necessary in connection with securing, applying for, registering and perfecting Seller’s rights and Buyer’s rights under this
Section 1.3.
(b) Seller hereby grants to Buyer an exclusive (even as to Seller), perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free,
paid-up, sublicensable (solely to the extent Buyer is permitted to sublicense its rights in the Licensed IP pursuant to Section
1.1(b) hereunder and Section 2.2 of the License Agreement, subject to all requirements set forth therein), transferable
(solely as part of a permitted assignment of this Agreement under Section 7.9) license, solely under Seller’s rights in the
Transferred IP, to use, copy, distribute copies of, perform, prepare derivative works from, display and otherwise fully exploit
the Transferred IP and any derivative works thereof, solely in the Buyer Field.
(c) The foregoing licenses and any sublicenses shall terminate in the event of (i) termination of the Development
Agreement together with Stryker’s election to forfeit the licenses granted to it under the License Agreement under Section
5.2 of the License Agreement or (ii) any termination of the License Agreement. The exclusivity of the license granted by
Seller under this Section 1.3(c) shall be subject to the following: [**].
(d)

[**].
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1.4. Non-Assumption of Any Liabilities. It is understood and agreed by the Parties hereto that Buyer is purchasing its
interest in Purchased Assets exclusive of any and all debts, Liabilities, obligations, and Contracts of Seller, and that Seller shall
remain responsible for the payment and performance of and shall pay and perform all debts, Liabilities, obligations, and Contracts
of Seller to the extent they arise out of the conduct of Seller’s business (the “Seller Obligations”), even if such Seller Obligations
are first manifested after the Closing Date, and regardless of whether they are known or unknown, accrued, absolute, contingent or
otherwise, including, but not limited to, claims of creditors, and any and all Tax obligations imposed by any taxing authority,
product liability claims, claims arising out of or relating to actual or alleged misappropriation, infringement, dilution or other
violation of a Third Party’s Intellectual Property, claims arising out of the termination of existing supplier or manufacturing
agreements, claims attributable to any employees or non-employee service providers of Seller, or any other Liability to which
Seller is subject; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, in no instance shall Seller be liable for debts, Liabilities, obligations,
and Contracts of Buyer related to the Purchased Assets to the extent they arise out of Buyer’s conduct of its business related to the
Purchased Assets (“Buyer Obligations”).
1.5. Purchase Price and Payment. As consideration for the sale and transfer of the Purchased Assets to Buyer and Seller’s
other covenants in this Agreement, Buyer will pay Seller a purchase price of $14,000,000 (the “Purchase Price”) at the Closing, in
immediately available funds by wire transfer in accordance with the Wire Instructions.
1.6. Closing. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) will take place at
12:00 a.m. Kalamazoo, Michigan time as of the date hereof (the “Closing Date”).
1.7. Closing Deliveries - Buyer. As of the Closing Date, Buyer has executed and/or delivered, or caused to be executed
and/or delivered, to Seller:
(a) Purchase Price. The Purchase Price by wire transfer in accordance with the Wire Instructions;
(b)

Bill of Sale. The Bill of Sale.

(c) Know-How and Copyright Assignment. The Know-How and Copyright Assignment;
(d)

Distribution Agreement. The Distribution Agreement;

(e) Development Agreement. The Development Agreement;
(f)

License Agreement. The License Agreement; and

(g)

Quality Agreement. The Quality Agreement

1.8. Closing Deliveries – Seller. As of the Closing Date, Seller has executed and/or delivered, or caused to be executed
and/or delivered, to Buyer:
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(a) Bill of Sale. The Bill of Sale.
(b)

Know-How and Copyright Assignment. The Know-How and Copyright Assignment;

(c) Distribution Agreement. The Distribution Agreement;
(d)

Development Agreement. The Development Agreement;

(e) License Agreement. The License Agreement;
(f)

Quality Agreement. The Quality Agreement;

(g)

Consent and Non-Disturbance Agreement. The Consent and Non-Disturbance Agreement;

(h) Secretary Certificate. A certificate executed by the Secretary of Seller, certifying as to (i) the board of director
resolutions of Seller authorizing the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary
Agreements; and (ii) the incumbency of each of the Persons executing this Agreement or any of the agreements, certificates
or instruments contemplated hereby on behalf of Seller;
(i)
Good Standing Certificate. A good standing certificate with respect to Seller, issued by the applicable
Governmental Body, dated within ten days of the date hereof;
(j) IRS Form W-9. A W-9 with respect to Seller.
1.9. Delivery of Purchased Assets. Within three (3) Business Days of Seller’s receipt of the Purchase Price, Seller shall
electronically deliver the Software Code and Manufacturing Documents to Buyer.
1.10.

Joint Intellectual Property Rights. With respect to the Purchased Assets, the following rights and obligations shall

apply:
(a) Duty of Accounting. No duty of accounting shall apply with respect to the Transferred IP except as set forth in
this Agreement and except for payments due to Seller from Buyer to the extent specifically set forth in the Development
Agreement, the License Agreement or the Distribution Agreement.
(b) Assignment, Licenses and Releases of Interests in Purchased Assets. Seller shall not be restricted from, and
shall be able to freely assign (in whole or in part) or license or grant releases under (exclusively or non-exclusively,
retroactively or prospectively), its interest in the Transferred IP without consent of or notice to Buyer, to any other Person;
in any case, subject to Seller’s obligations under Section 4.1 of the Development Agreement. Buyer may not assign (in
whole or in part) or license or grant releases under (exclusively or non-exclusively, retroactively or prospectively), its
interest in the Purchased Assets to any Person without the prior written consent of Seller (which may be provided or
withheld
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in Seller’s sole discretion); except that, Buyer shall be able to freely assign (in whole or in part) or license or grant releases
under (exclusively or non-exclusively, retroactively or prospectively), its interest in the Purchased Assets to an Affiliate of
Buyer without the consent of or notice to Seller, and Buyer may assign all of Buyer’s interest in the Transferred IP to a
Person as part of a permitted assignment of this Agreement (as specified in Section 7.9 below). Any assignment or grant of
license or release by Buyer with respect to Buyer’s interest in any of the Purchased Assets to any Person shall be made
expressly subject to, and Buyer shall require such Person to expressly assume, all applicable obligations and restrictions
hereunder (including as set forth in Sections 1.2 and 1.3 hereunder) and in the License Agreement (including the
reassignment obligations under Section 5.2 of the License Agreement). Any such licenses or releases granted by Buyer shall
automatically terminate in the event of any reassignment of the Purchased Assets under Section 5.2 of the License
Agreement.
(c) Infringement. [**] shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to determine and effect any actions with
regard to any apparent, threatened or actual infringement by any Third Party of the any Transferred IP, including the
initiating of any Action [**] provided that, if [**] decides that it will not initiate an Action against, or commence settlement
negotiations with such Third Party with respect to apparent, threatened or actual infringement in the [**], it shall promptly
notify [**] and share relevant information on the infringement with [**]. Thereafter, [**] may initiate an Action against or
initiate settlement discussions with such Third Party [**] shall make its decision in this respect in a timely manner so as not
to jeopardize any right of assertion against such Third Party. The non-asserting Party shall provide all reasonably necessary
information and assistance, including by appearing as a plaintiff in an applicable Action to the extent required by law to
attain or preserve standing. [**].
(d)
Prosecution and Maintenance. [**] has the sole right and option, without the obligation, to prosecute and
maintain any Intellectual Property registrations worldwide in respect of the Transferred IP, and [**] shall provide all
reasonably necessary cooperation and assistance in connection therewith.
1.11. Allocation of Purchase Price. The purchase price (for Tax purposes) among the Purchased Assets will be allocated in
accordance with applicable Legal Requirements, including, to the extent applicable, Section 1060 of the Code and U.S. Department
of Treasury regulations thereunder. Within [**] after the Closing Date, Buyer shall deliver a proposed allocation of the purchase
price to Seller. Within [**] after the delivery of the proposed allocation to Seller by Buyer, Seller shall be permitted to review and
comment on such allocation, and Buyer and Seller shall use good faith efforts to resolve any dispute regarding the preparation of
the allocation. Seller and Buyer shall report, act, and file Tax Returns in all respects and for all purposes consistent with the final
allocation agreed by Buyer and Seller. Seller shall timely and properly, execute, file, and deliver all such documents, forms, and
other information as Buyer may reasonably request in preparing such allocation. Neither Seller nor Buyer shall take any position
(whether in audits, Tax Returns, or otherwise) that is inconsistent with the final allocation agreed by Buyer and Seller unless
required to do so by applicable law.
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1.12. Withholding. Buyer shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement
and any Ancillary Agreements such amounts as are required to be deducted or withheld therefrom or in connection therewith under
the Code or any provision of state, local or foreign Tax law or under any other applicable Legal Requirement. To the extent such
amounts are so deducted or withheld, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes under this Agreement and any Ancillary
Agreements as having been paid to the Person to whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid. Any amounts that have
been deducted or withheld shall be timely paid over by Buyer to the applicable Governmental Body.
ARTICLE 2
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER
As of the Closing Date, Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as follows:
2.1. Disclosure Schedule. Seller has delivered to Buyer and its counsel individually numbered schedules (collectively, the
“Disclosure Schedule”). Each individual schedule in the Disclosure Schedule contains exceptions to the specifically identified
section and subsection contained in this Article. Each section of the Disclosure Schedule will be deemed to incorporate by
reference information disclosed in any other section of the Disclosure Schedule only to the extent that the relevance of such
disclosure to any such other section is reasonably apparent on its face from the terms of such disclosure. No information set forth
on any section of the Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to broaden in any way the scope of the Seller’s representations and
warranties under this Agreement. Nothing in the Disclosure Schedule will be deemed adequate to disclose an exception to a
representation or warranty unless the Disclosure Schedule describes the relevant facts in reasonable detail. The mere listing (or
inclusion of a copy) of a document or other item on the Disclosure Schedule will not be deemed adequate to disclose an exception
to a representation or warranty made in this Agreement unless the specific representation or warranty that it is intended to qualify is
referenced with regard to it.
2.2. Organization and Good Standing. Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the laws of the state of Delaware. Seller is duly qualified to do business as a foreign entity and is in good standing under the laws of
each state or other jurisdiction in which either the ownership or use of the properties owned or used by it, or the nature of the
activities conducted by it, requires such qualification. Seller has full power and authority to own, use and sell the Purchased Assets.
2.3. Valid and Binding. Seller has full power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement, and to carry out the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. This Agreement is binding upon and enforceable against Seller in accordance with its
terms. The execution, performance, and delivery of each of this Agreement has been duly authorized, approved, and adopted by
unanimous written consent or by vote of all of the members of the board of directors of Seller.
2.4. Title. Seller solely owns the entire right, title and interest in and to, and has the full right to enjoy and exploit for its
benefit, free and clear of any licenses, Liens or similar restrictions
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of any kind or nature whatsoever, the Purchased Assets. Legal and beneficial title in all Purchased Assets is in the name of Seller.
2.5. Authorization of Governmental Bodies. No action by Seller (including any authorization, consent or approval), or by
Seller in respect of, or filing by Seller with, any Governmental Body is required by Seller for, or in connection with, the valid and
lawful (a) authorization, execution, delivery and performance by Seller of this Agreement or (b) the consummation of this
Agreement by Seller.
2.6. Liabilities and Obligations. There are no Liabilities of Seller and there is no other information on Seller’s audited or
unaudited consolidated balance sheets or related statements of income and cash flow or auditor reports which could prevent or limit
Seller from fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement.
2.7.
Debt Guarantees. Seller does not have any debt secured by the Purchased Assets and Seller does not have any
Liability created by a guarantee with respect to Purchased Assets.
2.8. No Conflict. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, or of any of the Ancillary Agreements, will
not directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time): (a) contravene the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or similar
organizational document of Seller; (b) violate any Legal Requirement or Order applicable to Seller or the Purchased Assets or give
any Governmental Body the right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify any Governmental Authorization
applicable to Seller or the Purchased Assets; (c) result in any Lien being created or imposed upon or with respect to any of the
Purchased Assets; (d) result in the imposition of any Tax on Buyer or the Purchased Assets; (e) result in a breach or violation of,
default under, or will cause the modification, cancellation, termination, suspension of, or acceleration of any payments under any
Contract to which Seller is a party; or (f) will cause or give rise to the forfeiture, termination, or limitation of any Transferred IP.
All consents, approvals or authorizations of or declarations, filings or registrations with any Person required to be obtained by
Seller in connection with the execution, delivery of performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement are set forth in Schedule 2.8 and will be obtained or made, as applicable, by Seller prior to the
Closing.
2.9. No Material Adverse Change; Absence of Restricted Events. Since [**]: (a) Seller has conducted the operations and
affairs of the business associated with the Purchased Assets only in the Ordinary Course; (b) there has not been any Material
Adverse Change; and (c) no event has occurred or circumstance exists that may result in such a Material Adverse Change. Since
[**], no Restricted Event has occurred with respect to the Purchased Assets.
2.10. Litigation; Orders. There is no, and has not been, any Action pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against
Seller involving the Purchased Assets, or, to Seller’s Knowledge, any officer or director of Seller involving the Purchased Assets,
and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no facts that may reasonably be expected to result in or form the basis for any such
Action or other proceeding. There are no Orders against Seller with respect to the Purchased Assets.
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2.11. Compliance with Laws. Seller is, and at all times has been, in compliance with all Legal Requirements that are or
were applicable to it in connection with the Purchased Assets, including the Software, Copyrights and Know-How therein,
including research and development and other activities related thereto. Seller has not received any notice or other communication
(whether written or oral) from any Governmental Body or any other Person regarding any actual, alleged, possible or potential
violation of, or failure to comply with, any Legal Requirements in connection with the Purchased Assets. Seller has no Knowledge
of any violations by suppliers, representatives, contractors or subcontractors of any Legal Requirements with respect to the
Purchased Assets or Patient-Specific Instrumentation.
2.12. Intellectual Property.
(a) Identification. Schedule 1.1 sets forth an identification of the Purchased Assets.
(b) Title. Seller solely owns the entire right, title and interest in and to, and has the full right to enjoy and exploit
for its benefit, free and clear of any licenses, Liens or similar restrictions of any kind or nature whatsoever, the Transferred
IP. Legal and beneficial title in all Transferred IP is in the name of Seller. All Transferred IP was conceived, reduced to
practice and otherwise developed and generated by employees of Seller without input or assistance from any independent
contractors, other than independent contractors who have assigned their entire right, title and interest in and to the
Transferred IP to Seller. None of the Transferred IP is or has ever been jointly owned with any Person. No current or former
Representative of Seller or its Affiliates or founder, stockholder, consultant, or independent contractor of Seller or its
Affiliates has retained any rights, title, interests, or licenses in and to any Transferred IP, including the right to receive
royalties or other compensation.
(c) Licenses. There are no licenses or sublicenses (to or from Seller) with respect to the Transferred IP. There are
no outstanding and no threatened disputes or disagreements with respect to any former license or sublicense of or to
Transferred IP.
(d) Ownership After Closing. Immediately following the Closing, and subject to the licenses granted to Seller by
Buyer and to Buyer from Seller hereunder, Buyer will own an undivided one-half interest jointly with Seller in all right, title
and interest in and to all Transferred IP, and Buyer will be permitted to exercise all of the rights of Seller relating to
Transferred IP to the same extent Seller would have been able to had the Closing not occurred and without the payment of
any additional amounts or consideration, subject only to the restrictions and licenses set forth in Section 1.1, Section 1.2,
Section 1.3 and Section 1.1 of this Agreement.
(e) No Limitations. Seller is not a party to any Contract, or subject to any other obligation, that grants any Third
Party rights to or under any Transferred IP, or that restricts the use, transfer, delivery or licensing of Transferred IP.
(f) Transfer and Maintenance. Seller has not permitted the Copyrights or, to Seller’s Knowledge, Know-How in
Software Code to enter the public domain.
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(g)
Assignments. Seller has secured from all of its former and current suppliers, manufacturers, consultants,
employees and independent contractors who individually or jointly contributed to the conception, reduction to practice,
creation or development of any Transferred IP unencumbered and unrestricted exclusive ownership of all such supplier’s,
manufacturer’s, consultant’s, employee’s or independent contractor’s Intellectual Property rights, including the waiver of
any moral rights in such contribution that Seller does not already own by operation of law in the Transferred IP, and such
supplier, manufacturer, consultant, employee, or independent contractor, as applicable, has not retained any rights or
licenses with respect thereto. Without limiting the foregoing, Seller has obtained written agreements from all current and
former suppliers, manufacturers, consultants, employees and independent contractors of Seller that assign and require
assignment to Seller of all right, title and interest, in and to any Transferred IP developed by such suppliers, manufacturers,
consultants, employees and independent contractors in their capacity as supplier, manufacturer, consultant, employee or
independent contractor to Seller. To Seller’s Knowledge, no supplier, manufacturer, consultant, employee or independent
contractor of Seller has entered into any Contract with any Third Party (including any academic or medical institution) or
has had any obligation under applicable terms and conditions of employment or retention with any such Third Party, during
or prior to the term of consulting, employment or contracting with Seller, that conflicts in any way with the work for which
the supplier, manufacturer, consultant, employee or independent contractor has been engaged by Seller or requires the
supplier, manufacturer, consultant, employee or independent contractor to transfer or assign any rights in his work for Seller
to anyone other than Seller.
(h) No Royalties. There are no royalties, honoraria, fees or other payments payable by or to Seller to or from any
Person (other than salaries and other amounts payable to employees, consultants and independent contractors not contingent
on use of their work product) as a result of the ownership, use, possession, license-in, license-out, sale, marketing,
advertising or disposition of any Transferred IP by Seller, including no outstanding Compensation required under the
employee remuneration laws of any country.
(i) Validity and Enforceability. No item of Transferred IP has been held to be invalid or unenforceable in a Court
decision that is unappealed or unappealable by Seller. To Seller’s Knowledge, the Transferred IP is valid, subsisting (or in
the case of applications, applied for) and enforceable.
(j)
No Infringement. To the Knowledge of Seller, none of the activities or business previously or currently
conducted by Seller in practicing the Transferred IP on or before the Closing Date in any way constitutes infringement,
misappropriation or violation of any Intellectual Property of any Third Party anywhere in the world. The foregoing sentence
constitutes the sole and exclusive representation and warranty by Seller with respect to the infringement, misappropriation
or violation of any Intellectual Property of any Third Party, and no other representation or warranty in this Agreement is
intended to or does address such infringement, misappropriation or violation.
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(k) No Threatened or Asserted Claims or Suits. There is not now and has not been at any time in the past a written
Claim, suit or proceeding, or to Seller’s Knowledge an oral Claim, by a Third Party alleging that any activity of Seller as
such relates to any of the Purchased Assets, or any product resulting therefrom, infringes or otherwise violates the
Intellectual Property owned or licensed by any Third Party or will infringe a Patent issuing from a pending Patent
application if and when such Patent application issues as a Patent and to Seller’s Knowledge there is no basis for any such
Claim, suit or proceeding. There is not now and has not been at any time in the past a pending written Claim, suit or
proceeding, or to Seller’s Knowledge an oral Claim, by a Third Party contesting the validity, ownership, enforceability or
right of Seller in any Transferred IP, including in the nature of being offered a license or covenant not to sue, and to Seller’s
Knowledge there is no basis for any such Claim, suit or proceeding.
(l)
No Infringement by Third Parties. To Seller’s Knowledge, there is no unauthorized use, unauthorized
disclosure, infringement, misappropriation, or violation of any Transferred IP by any Third Party. Seller has not asserted
rights in any Transferred IP against any Person in a formal legal proceeding, in any cease and desist letter or other written
notice, including in the nature of offering a license or covenant not to sue.
(m) No Grants. Seller has not (i) entered into any agreement granting any Person the right to bring infringement
Actions or otherwise enforce rights with respect to any Transferred IP, or (ii) granted a covenant not to sue under
Transferred IP.
(n) Confidentiality. Seller has taken reasonable and customary measures to protect and safeguard the proprietary
nature of Transferred IP and to maintain in confidence all Confidential Information owned or used by Seller included in the
Transferred IP including putting in place policies and procedures intended to protect and maintain the confidentiality of
Confidential Information and other proprietary, non-public information included in Transferred IP. All current and former
officers, employees, independent contractors and consultants of Seller have entered into written agreements with Seller
under which such Persons are obligated to protect and maintain the confidentiality of Confidential Information included in
the Transferred IP. To Seller’s Knowledge, no party to any such agreement is in breach thereof. To Seller’s Knowledge,
there has been no unauthorized access, disclosure or use of any Confidential Information owned or licensed by Seller and
included in the Transferred IP. To Seller’s Knowledge, (i) no Confidential Information included in the Transferred IP has
been disclosed or authorized to be disclosed to any Third Party not subject to confidentiality obligations to Seller and (ii) no
party to a nondisclosure agreement with Seller with respect to any of the Transferred IP is in breach or default thereof.
(o) No Security Breaches. During the [**] prior to the date hereof there have been no material security breaches in
Seller’s information technology systems related to the Purchased Assets that adversely affected Seller’s or any of its
Affiliates’ business or operations to the extent related to the Purchased Assets, and to Seller’s Knowledge there are no
material data security or other technological vulnerabilities with respect to Seller’s information technology systems,
products, or networks to the extent related to the Purchased
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Assets. Seller maintains a written information privacy and security program that maintains reasonable and appropriate
measures with respect to the Purchased Assets, including reasonable steps when using vendors, to protect the privacy,
operation, confidentiality, integrity, and security of all Confidential Information against a security breach, consistent with
industry practice and applicable Legal Requirements. Seller has evaluated its disaster recovery and backup needs and has
implemented plans and systems that are reasonably designed to address its assessment risk.
(p)
No Government Funding. No (i) government funding or (ii) funding from a university, college or other
educational institution was specifically used by Seller in the development of Transferred IP. To Seller’s Knowledge, no
employee, consultant, or independent contractor who was involved in, or contributed to, the creation or development of any
Transferred IP has performed any services for any government, university, college, or other educational, academic or
medical institution or research center during a period of time during which such Person was also performing services for
Seller with respect to the subject matter of Purchased Assets.
(q) No Impairments/No Consents. The execution of this Agreement by Seller and the Closing will not result in the
loss or impairment of any of the Transferred IP (provided that the transactions contemplated herein shall not constitute an
impairment). No consent of any third Person is required to be obtained by Seller in order to transfer any of the Transferred
IP.
(r) No Standards Body Intellectual Property Requirements. Seller is not now and has never been a member or
promoter of, or a contributor to, any industry standards body or any similar organization that would reasonably be expected
to require or obligate Seller to grant or offer to any other Person any license or right to any Software within the Transferred
IP or any other Transferred IP.
(s) The Software Code and Manufacturing Documents. The Software Code constitutes all of the Software used
directly by Seller for the purpose of generating STL files for total knee arthroplasty Patient-Specific Instrumentation for use
by Seller’s selective laser sintering manufacturing equipment, with the exception of the Excluded Code, as defined in
Schedule 1.1. The Software Code, together with the Excluded Code, is sufficient to operate for its intended purpose of
generating STL files for total knee arthroplasty Patient-Specific Instrumentation for use by Seller’s selective laser sintering
manufacturing equipment. The Software Code can be understood by a programmer of ordinary skill for purposes of
maintenance and development. The Manufacturing Documents constitute all of the material written materials (for the
avoidance of doubt, not including the Software Code or any Third-Party documentation (e.g., relating to licensed Software
or machinery)) used by Seller to manufacture Patient-Specific Instrumentation. Schedule 2.12(s) of the Disclosure Schedule
sets forth a listing of all material Software and equipment owned or controlled by a Third Party that is currently used by
Seller in its manufacture of Patient-Specific Instrumentation for its own patient-specific knee implant product.
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(t)
Open Source Materials. Schedule 2.12(t) (i) lists all Software or other material that is distributed as “free
software,” “open source software” or under similar licensing or distribution terms, including but not limited to the GNU
General Public License (GPL), GNU Lesser General Public License (LPGL), Mozilla Public License (MPL.), BSD licenses,
the Artistic License, the Netscape Public License, the Sun Community Source License (SCSL), the Sun Industry Standards
License (SISL), the Apache License and any license meeting the Open Source Definition (as promulgated by the Open
Source Initiative ()) or the Free Software Definition (as promulgated by the Free Software Foundation ()) (“Open Source
Materials”) that is incorporated into, or used, combined or distributed with the Software Code (or any portion thereof) by
Seller and (ii) describes the manner in which such Open Source Materials were so incorporated into, combined or
distributed with, or used by Seller, and identifies for each such item of Open Source Materials (A) the applicable open
source license, (B) whether the item is incorporated into, or combined or distributed with, or used by Seller in connection
with the Software Code (or any portion thereof) and (C) whether or not the item was modified by or on behalf of Seller.
(u) Licenses to Open Source Materials. With respect to Open Source Materials that are or have been incorporated
into, or used, combined or distributed with the Software Code (or any portion thereof), Seller has been and is in compliance
with the terms and conditions of all applicable licenses for the Open Source Materials, including attribution and copyright
notice requirements. There are no Open Source Materials incorporated into, or used, combined or distributed with the
Software Code (or any portion thereof) or any Transferred IP (or any portion thereof) contrary to the terms of the license
agreement to which such Open Source Materials are subject, including in such a way that creates, or purports to create
obligations for Seller with respect thereto or grants, or purports to grant, to any Third Party any rights or immunities
thereunder (including using any Open Source Materials that require, as a condition of use, modification and/or distribution
of such Open Source Materials that other Software incorporated into, derived from of distributed with such Open Source
Materials be (i) disclosed or distributed in source code form, (ii) be licensed for the purpose of making derivative works, or
(iii) be redistributable at no charge).
(v)

No Impairment of Software Code.

(i) No Software Code contains any code designed or intended to disrupt, disable, harm or otherwise impede
in any manner the operation of, or provide unauthorized access to, a computer system or network or other device on
which such Software Code is stored or installed, or to damage or destroy data or files without the user’s consent.
Seller has (a) used commercially available antivirus software products designed to ensure that the Software Code is
protected from becoming infected by viruses and other harmful code; and (b) taken all reasonable steps to ensure
that the Software Code used by Seller in the carrying on of its business is free of any virus or other harmful code.
(ii) Seller has not assigned, delivered, licensed or made available, or has any obligation to assign, deliver,
license or make available, any Software Code
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(including but not limited to, the source code therefor) to any Third Party, including any escrow agent or similar
Third Party. This sale and purchase, or any other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, will not entitle any
customer or other Third Party to obtain from Seller a copy of the source code for the Software Code.
(iii) Seller has not experienced any material defects or disruptions in the Software Code, including any
material error or omission that has not been corrected. There are no defects in the Software Code that prevent such
Software Code from operating as intended and as it did in connection with the Excluded Code. The Software Code
does not include any back door, trap door, Trojan horse, time bomb, software lock, worm, virus or malicious code or
any other code, program, or sub program designed to erase, halt, disable, damage or otherwise interfere with the
operation of such Software Code or any other computer system, code, program or sub program or any device,
method, or token that permits any person to circumvent the normal security associated with such Software Code and
that either has been intentionally introduced by Seller or that Seller knows is present in such Software Code. The
Software Code does not contain any code designed or intended to disrupt, disable, harm or otherwise impede in any
manner the operation of, or provide unauthorized access to, a computer system or network or other device on which
such code is stored or installed, or to damage or destroy data or files without the user’s consent.
(iv) Except for the Open Source Materials listed in Schedule 2.12(t), the Software Code neither contains
nor embodies any third-party software, including development tools and utilities. Current copies of the source code
for the Software Code are recorded on machine readable media, clearly identified and securely stored (together with
the applicable documentation) by Seller.
2.13. Contracts. Seller has not entered into any Contract with any Third Party providing for the transfer or licenses of any
interest in the Purchased Assets.
2.14. Taxes.
(a) Seller has timely filed, or has caused to be timely filed on its behalf, all Tax Returns in respect of or relation to
the Purchased Assets required to be filed by it (taking into account any extensions of time in which to file). All such Tax
Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects. All Taxes due and payable (whether or not shown on any
such Tax Return) with respect to or in relation to the Purchased Assets have been paid in full.
(b) No claim has ever been made in writing by a Governmental Body in a jurisdiction where Seller does not file
Tax Returns that Seller is, or may be, subject to taxation by, or required to file any Tax Return in, that jurisdiction with
respect to or in relation to any Purchased Asset.
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(c)
Seller has deducted, withheld and paid to the appropriate Governmental Body all Taxes required to be
deducted, withheld or paid with respect to or in relation to any Purchased Asset.
(d) There is no Action concerning any Tax liability of Seller with respect to or in relation to any Purchased Asset
either (i) claimed or raised by any Governmental Body in writing or (ii) as to which Seller has Knowledge.
(e) No waivers of statutes of limitations (other than waivers no longer in force) have been granted in respect of or
in relation to any Purchased Asset. Seller has not entered into a closing agreement pursuant to Section 7121 of the Code that
will affect the Taxes of Seller with respect to or in relation to any Purchased Asset after the Closing Date.
(f) There are no Liens for Taxes on the Purchased Assets other than Liens (i) for Taxes not yet past due or (ii) for
Taxes the validity of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, for which adequate reserves have
been established in accordance with GAAP, and which are set forth on Schedule 2.14.
2.15. No Broker’s Fees. Other than with respect to fees or commissions that will be borne solely by Seller, Seller has not
retained any broker, finder, consultant or other intermediary or incurred any Liability or obligation for any brokerage fees, finder’s
fees or commissions in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
2.16.
Certain Relationships. Neither Seller nor any officer or director of Seller nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, any
Related Person is an owner, equity holder, creditor, director, manager, agent, consultant, or employee of, or lender to, any Person
(other than Seller) who is engaged in a business that acts as a supplier of any goods or services in connection with Patient-Specific
Instrumentation, who otherwise has business or contractual relations with Seller in connection with Patient-Specific
Instrumentation, or any part of whom is in actual or potential competition with Seller in connection with Patient-Specific
Instrumentation. Seller has not, in connection with Patient-Specific Instrumentation, purchased, licensed or leased or otherwise
acquired any property or assets or obtained any services from, or sold, licensed, leased or otherwise disposed of any property or
assets or provided any services to, any officer or director of Seller or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any Related Person.
2.17. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN ARTICLE 2, SELLER MAKES NO OTHER WARRANTY OF ANY
KIND, WHETHER WRITTEN, ORAL, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY,
NON-INFRINGEMENT OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE IN RESPECT OF THE PURCHASED ASSETS; AND
NOTHING HEREIN SHALL BE CONSTRUED TO BE A REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY THAT USE OF THE
PURCHASED ASSETS WILL NOT BE COVERED BY ANY PATENT RIGHTS OF BUYER, SELLER OR ANY THIRD
PARTY.
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ARTICLE 3
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER
Buyer represents and warrants to Seller as follows:
3.1. Organization and Good Standing. Buyer is a corporation, duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the
laws of Michigan. Buyer is duly qualified to do business as a foreign entity and is in good standing under the laws of each state or
other jurisdiction in which either the ownership or use of the properties owned or used by it, or the nature of the activities
conducted by it, requires such qualification.
3.2. Authorization and Enforceability; No Conflict. Buyer has full power and authority to enter into and perform, and to
carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. This Agreement is binding upon Buyer and enforceable against Buyer
in accordance with its terms. The execution, performance, and delivery of this Agreement has been duly authorized, approved and
adopted by Buyer. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Buyer will not directly or indirectly (with or
without notice or lapse of time): (a) contravene the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of Buyer or result in a breach of any
provision of, or constitute a default under, any Contract, or (b) violate any Legal Requirement or Order.
3.3. Authorization of Governmental Bodies. No action by Buyer (including any authorization, consent or approval), or by
Buyer in respect of, or filing by Buyer with, any Governmental Body is required by Buyer for, or in connection with, the valid and
lawful (a) authorization, execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement or (b) the consummation of this
Agreement by Buyer.
3.4. No Broker’s Fees. Buyer has not retained or employed any broker, finder, investment banker, or other Person, or
taken any action, or entered into any agreement or understanding that would give any broker, finder, investment banker, or other
Person any valid claim against Buyer or Seller for a commission, brokerage fee, or other compensation arising out of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
ARTICLE 4
COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS
4.1. Further Assurances; Subsequent Delivery by Parties. After the Closing, upon the reasonable request of Buyer and for
no consideration, Seller will execute and deliver such further instruments of conveyance as may be reasonably requested by Buyer
to effect, record or verify the transfer to, and vesting in Buyer, of Buyer’s right, title and interests in and to the Purchased Assets in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and carry out the purposes and intents of this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby.
4.2. Public Announcements. The Parties recognize that each Party may from time to time desire to issue press releases and
make other public statements or public disclosures regarding the terms of this Agreement. In such event, the Party desiring to issue
a press release or make a public statement or public disclosure shall provide the other Party with a copy of the proposed press
release,
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statement or disclosure for review and approval as soon as practicable prior to publication, which advance approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Except as provided in this Section 4.2, no public statement or public disclosure of,
or concerning, the terms of this Agreement shall be made, either directly or indirectly, by either Party, without first obtaining the
written approval of the other Party (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Once any public
statement or public disclosure has been approved in accordance with this Section 4.2, then either Party may appropriately
communicate information contained in such permitted statement or disclosure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller and Buyer
shall mutually agree on a press release to be issued by Seller upon the execution of this Agreement (such agreement not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed by Buyer).
4.3. Confidentiality.
(a) Legal Proceedings. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in the event that any Receiving Party
hereafter or any of its Representatives becomes obligated (by deposition, interrogatory, request for documents, subpoena,
civil investigative demand or similar process) to disclose any Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party, the
Receiving Party shall immediately notify the Disclosing Party of each such requirement and identify the Confidential
Information so required thereby so that the Disclosing Party may seek an appropriate protective order or other remedy with
respect to resisting disclosure, narrowing the scope of the requirement, protect as confidential that which is disclosed,
and/or waive the Receiving Party's compliance with the terms hereof. If, failing the entry of an appropriate remedy or
receipt of a waiver, the Receiving Party or any of its Representatives, may disclose that portion of the Confidential
Information that its counsel advises that the Receiving Party or such Representative is compelled to disclose. In any event,
the Receiving Party and its Representatives shall reasonably cooperate in any action by the Disclosing Party [**] to obtain
an appropriate protective order or other reliable assurance that such Confidential Information shall be treated as
confidential.
(b) Specificity. For the avoidance of doubt, the Receiving Party shall not be relieved of its obligations as to any
Confidential Information which is specific, merely because such specific information is embraced by general information
falling within any of the exceptions set forth in the definition of Confidential Information and Section 4.3(a) above.
(c)
Jointly Owned Confidential Information. The Purchased Assets and Joint IP constitute the Confidential
Information of both Parties (the “Joint CI”). Subject to the foregoing, each Party shall be deemed to be the Receiving Party
of the Joint CI. The second and third sentences of Section 4.3(d) below shall not be construed to limit either Party’s ability
to use or disclose Joint CI. Any disclosure to a Third Party of Joint CI by either Party shall include confidentiality
provisions designed to maintain the validity and enforceability of any Intellectual Property therein, such provisions being no
less strict than those imposed herein. Notwithstanding the above, to the extent there is any Confidential Information owned
by Buyer under an Ancillary Agreement that was initially disclosed by Seller to Buyer, or
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as between Affiliates of them, such that Seller is the Disclosing Party and Buyer is the Receiving Party, Buyer shall have no
obligation to Seller under Section 4.3(a).
(d) Standard of Protection and Use of Confidential Information. Each Receiving Party shall, and shall direct its
Representatives to, use at least the same level of care to prevent any unauthorized use or disclosure of the Confidential
Information of the Disclosing Party as it exercises in protecting its own information of a similar nature, but in no event less
than a reasonable standard of care. A Party shall not, without the prior written consent of the Disclosing Party, make use of
the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information except pursuant to this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements. The
Receiving Party will not disclose the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information to anyone except to its Representatives to
whom disclosure is reasonably required under this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements and who have been made aware
that the Confidential Information is confidential and are bound to treat it as such. The Receiving Party shall be responsible
for any unauthorized disclosure or use of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information by any of its Representatives or
any breach of this Agreement caused by any of its Representatives as finally determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction.
(e) Ownership of Confidential Information. Except as set forth herein and in any Ancillary Agreement respecting
co-ownership and ownership, and in concert with Section 4.3(c) above, all Confidential Information is and shall remain the
property of the Disclosing Party, and except to the extent as may be set forth herein and in any Ancillary Agreement, no
disclosure hereunder shall be deemed, by implication, estoppel or otherwise, to vest in the Receiving Party or any of its
Representatives any license or other ownership rights to the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party or under any
Patents, Trademarks or Copyrights owned or controlled by the Disclosing Party.
(f)

Certain Disclosures.

(i)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, a Party may disclose the terms of this
Agreement where required by applicable stock exchange or NASDAQ rule (with prompt notice of any such legally
required disclosure to the other Party and to the extent practicable an opportunity to comment on such disclosure).
Buyer acknowledges that Seller is required to file a Form 8-K with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission upon execution of this Agreement and/or the Ancillary Agreements and a copy of this Agreement
and/or the Ancillary Agreements with such Form 8-K or Seller’s next filed Form 10-Q, and Seller shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to seek confidential treatment of such copies (with prompt notice to Buyer of any
such proposed redactions and a reasonable opportunity to comment on such redactions prior to filing of copies of
this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements).
(ii) A Party may disclose the other Party’s Confidential Information (i) in connection with seeking FDA
clearance and other approvals, clearances, certifications, registrations and authorizations worldwide, solely to the
extent necessary for such regulatory approvals, clearances, certifications, registrations and
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authorizations, so long as such Party employs reasonable and customary procedures to protect confidentiality,
including, as applicable, agency procedures and/or non-disclosure agreements, and (ii) in connection with investor
disclosures solely to the extent required under applicable securities laws or in the normal course of business, and so
long as such Party employs procedures to protect confidentiality, including agency procedures and/or non-disclosure
agreements.
(g)
Survival. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the confidentiality and non-use obligations under this
Section 4.3, and under applicable provisions of the Ancillary Agreements, with respect to information or material
constituting Confidential Information shall remain in effect thereafter and expire only upon such information or material no
longer constituting Confidential Information.
(h) Remedies. Buyer and Seller shall notify the other Party immediately if it knows or reasonably suspects that the
terms of this Section 4.3 have been breached. Each Party agrees that any unauthorized use and/or disclosure of the other
Party’s Confidential Information may cause irreparable harm to the Disclosing Party for which monetary damages would be
inadequate and that the provisions of this Agreement may be enforced by way of a restraining order or injunction and/or
specific performance in addition to any other available legal remedies.
(i)
A Disclosing Party shall not include in any disclosure to the Receiving Party any information or material
subject to the attorney-client privilege, work product doctrine or any other applicable privilege concerning pending or
threatened legal or regulatory proceedings or governmental investigations. To the extent that any such information or
material be provided inadvertently provided to a Party, promptly upon discovery by either Party of such disclosure, the
Parties shall cooperate in limiting dissemination within their organizations and in returning or destroying the information or
materials to the Disclosing Party, including exploration of a commonality of interest with respect to the subject matter of the
inadvertently disclosed information or material, and the desire, intention and mutual understanding that the disclosure of
such material is not intended to, and will not, waive or diminish in any way the confidentiality of such material or its
continued protection under the attorney-client privilege, work product doctrine or other applicable privilege.
4.4. Transfer of Purchased Assets. If either Party becomes aware that any Purchased Assets have not been transferred to
Buyer, it shall promptly notify the other Party, and thereafter Seller and its Affiliates shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, ensure
that the Purchased Assets are transferred to Buyer or its Affiliates [**].
ARTICLE 5
SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATION
5.1. Survival of Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements. All representations, warranties, covenants and
agreements in this Agreement made by any Party will survive the Closing; provided, however, the representations and warranties in
this Agreement made by any Party will survive for a period of [**]; provided, further, (a) the Intermediate Representations
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will survive for a period of the shorter of: (a) [**] following First Commercial Sale of the Product; or (b) [**] from the Closing;
and (b) the Fundamental Representations will survive for a period of [**] following the expiration of the applicable statute of
limitations period (taking into account tolling periods and extensions under applicable Legal Requirements). If written notice of a
Claim has been given prior to the end of such applicable period, the termination date shall be extended until such Claim is fully
resolved, but solely purposes of resolving such Claim.
5.2. Seller Indemnification. Subject to the provisions of this 0, Seller will indemnify and hold harmless Buyer and its
Affiliates and their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives (“Buyer Indemnified
Persons”) from and against, and will reimburse Buyer for, any and all Damages arising from or related to: (a) any breach by Seller
of any representation or warranty of Seller in this Agreement (for the purposes of this ARTICLE 5, all materiality exceptions and
qualifiers arising from the use of the words “material” or “materially” or the phrase “Material Adverse Change” or similar words or
phrases set forth in the representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement (other than with respect to Section 2.9)
shall be disregarded for purposes of determining whether any such representation and warranty has been breached and the amount
of Damages resulting therefrom); (b) any breach by Seller of any covenant of Seller in this Agreement; (c) any Seller Obligations;
(d) any claims against Buyer by creditors of Seller or any of its Affiliates except to the extent arising from or relating to Buyer’s
breach of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement; and (e) any Tax arising from, or that is attributable to, Seller’s ownership of
the Purchased Assets on or before the Closing Date or any Taxes of Seller or any of its Affiliates.
5.3. Buyer Indemnification. Subject to the provisions of this ARTICLE 5, Buyer will indemnify and hold harmless Seller
and its Affiliates and their respective shareholders, directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives (“Seller Indemnified
Persons”) from and against, and will reimburse Seller for, any and all Damages arising from or related to: (a) any breach by Buyer
of any representation or warranty in this Agreement or any other certificate or instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement (for
the purposes of this ARTICLE 5, all materiality exceptions and qualifiers arising from the use of the words “material” or
“materially” or the phrase “Material Adverse Change” or similar words or phrases set forth in the representations and warranties of
Seller contained in this Agreement (other than with respect to Section 2.9) shall be disregarded for purposes of determining
whether any such representation and warranty has been breached and the amount of Damages resulting therefrom); (b) any breach
by Buyer of any covenant in this Agreement; and (c) any Buyer Obligations.
5.4. Limitations on Amount. With respect to the matters described in Section 5.2(a) and Section 5.3(a), the Parties will not
be liable unless the aggregate amount of Damages under Section 5.2(a) or Section 5.3(a), as applicable, exceeds $[**] (the
“Basket”), in which event, subject to the other limitations set forth in this ARTICLE 5, the Indemnifying Person shall be
responsible for the full amount of all applicable Damages and not only those in excess of the Basket, but only up to a maximum
amount equal to the $[**] in the aggregate across all Claims (the “Cap”); provided, that, the Basket and Cap shall not apply to
Damages resulting from breaches of [**] with respect to Seller, and breach of [**], with respect to Buyer. Without derogation to the
Cap, the liability of the Indemnifying Person under Section 5.2 or Section 5.3, as applicable, for any and all Claims shall
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not exceed the Purchase Price (the “Purchase Price Cap”), and Seller’s liability as the Indemnifying Person with respect to
Damages resulting from breaches of the Intermediate Representations shall not exceed [**]-percent ([**]%) of the Purchase Price
Cap. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the limitations set forth in this Section 5.4 shall not apply to any Damages resulting from [**].
5.5. Indemnification Process.
(a)
Notice. Promptly after a Buyer Indemnified Person or Seller Indemnified Person (such Person, an
“Indemnified Person”) having knowledge of any written threat of the commencement of any Claim against it, or receiving
notice of the commencement of any Claim against it, such Indemnified Person will, if a claim is to be made against an
Indemnifying Person under this Agreement (such Person, an “Indemnifying Person”), give prompt notice to the
Indemnifying Person of the commencement of such claim, but the failure to provide prompt notice to the Indemnifying
Person will not relieve the Indemnifying Person of any indemnification obligation that it may have to any Indemnified
Person, except to the extent that the Indemnifying Person is actually prejudiced by the Indemnified Person’s failure to give
such notice.
(b) Participation. If any Claim by a Third Party is brought against an Indemnified Person and it gives notice to the
Indemnifying Person of the commencement of such Claim, the Indemnifying Person will be entitled to participate in such
Action and, to the extent that it wishes to, assume control over the defense and settlement of such Claim, with counsel
satisfactory to the Indemnified Person. After notice from the Indemnifying Person to the Indemnified Person of its election
to assume such control, the Indemnifying Person will not, as long as it diligently conducts such defense, be liable to the
Indemnified Person under this ARTICLE 5 for any fees of other counsel or any other expenses with respect to the defense
of such Claim subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Person in connection with the defense of such Claim. If the
Indemnifying Person assumes the defense of a Claim:
(i) It will be conclusively established for purposes of this Agreement that the claims made in that Claim are
within the scope of and subject to indemnification;
(ii) No compromise or settlement of such claims may be effected by the Indemnifying Person without the
Indemnified Person’s consent unless: (A) there is no finding or admission of any violation of Legal Requirements or
any violation of the rights of any Person by the Indemnified Person and no effect on any other claims that may be
made against the Indemnified Person, (B) the sole relief provided is monetary damages that are paid in full by the
Indemnifying Person and (C) such settlement includes as an unconditional release of liability by such Third Party
claimant in respect of all Indemnified Persons; and
(iii) The Indemnified Person will have no Liability with respect to any compromise or settlement of such
claims effected without its consent. If notice is given to an Indemnifying Person of the commencement of any
Action and the Indemnifying Person does not, within thirty days after the Indemnified Person’s
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notice is given, give notice to the Indemnified Person of its election to assume the defense of such Action, the
Indemnifying Person will be bound by any determination made in such Action or any compromise or settlement
effected by the Indemnified Person.
(c) Special Claims. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, an Indemnifying Person will
not be entitled to assume or continue the defense of a Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Person if:
(i) the Claim involves criminal liability or Taxes; (ii) the Indemnifying Person is also a party to such Claim and the
Indemnified Person determines in good faith that joint representation not be permitted due to an actual conflict of interest;
(iii) if requested by the Indemnified Person, the Indemnifying Person fails to provide reasonable assurance to the
Indemnified Person of its financial capacity to defend such Claim and provide indemnification with respect to such Claim;
or (iv) an Indemnified Person determines in good faith that there is a reasonable probability that a Claim may materially and
adversely affect it or its Affiliates other than as a result of monetary damages for which it would be entitled to
indemnification under this Agreement, including in respect of Buyer’s or its Affiliates’ reputation or continuing business
interests including its relationships with current or potential customers, suppliers or other parties material to the conduct of
its business. In any of the foregoing cases ((i)-(iv)), the Indemnified Person may, by providing written notice to the
Indemnifying Person (which notice shall include reasonable details about the reason for election and specifically refer to the
applicable subsections of this Section 5.5(c)), assume the exclusive right to defend, compromise, or settle such Claim, but
the Indemnifying Person will not be bound by any determination of a Claim so defended or any compromise or settlement
effected without its consent, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in this Agreement, neither Party shall be required to provide, to permit any inspection of, to
disclose any information with respect to, or to allow participation or control in respect of, any Tax Return of the Affiliated
Group of such Party or its Affiliates.
5.6. Other Claims. If any Indemnified Person should have a claim against any Indemnifying Person hereunder that does
not involve a Third Party claim, the Indemnified Person will transmit to the Indemnifying Person a written notice (the “Indemnity
Notice”) describing in reasonable detail the nature of the claim, and the basis of the Indemnified Person’s request for
indemnification under this Agreement. If the Indemnified Person does not receive notice from the Indemnifying Person
acknowledging or disputing such claim within [**] of delivery of the Indemnity Notice, then the Indemnified Person shall transmit
to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Legal Officer of the Indemnifying Person a copy of the Indemnity Notice previously
transmitted. If the Indemnifying Person does not notify the Indemnified Person within [**] from its receipt of such second
transmittal of the Indemnity Notice that the Indemnifying Person disputes such claim, the claim specified by the Indemnified
Person in the Indemnity Notice will be deemed a Liability of the Indemnifying Person hereunder, with respect to which the
Indemnified Person is entitled to prompt indemnification hereunder.
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5.7. Remedies Exclusive. The Parties acknowledge and agree that their sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any and
all Claims for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to
the subject matter of this Agreement, shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) neither Party shall be limited in its rights to (a) seek and obtain any equitable relief or to seek
any remedy on account of any fraud or intentional misrepresentation by any Party hereto and (b) with respect to a breach of any
covenants in this Agreement, seek specific performance and (ii) a remedy for breach of Section 2.12(s) shall be (a) the addition of
the specific omitted assets to the Purchased Assets if such omitted assets were owned by Seller or its Affiliates or (b) with respect
to breaches of the last sentence of Section 2.12(s), the purchase by Seller of such omitted asset for Buyer or reimbursement of
Buyer’s reasonable purchase cost therefor.
5.8. Limitation of Liability. EXCEPT FOR [**], NO PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY OR ANY
OF ITS AFFILIATES FOR [**] DAMAGES ARISING FROM OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ITS SUBJECT
MATTER, REGARDLESS OF ANY NOTICE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.
5.9. No Reliance. Each Party acknowledges and agrees that in entering into this Agreement it has not relied and is not
relying on any representations, warranties or other statements whatsoever, whether written or oral (from or by the other Party or
any Person acting on its behalf) other than those expressly set out in this Agreement, and that it will not have any right or remedy
rising out of any representation, warranty or other statement not expressly set out in this Agreement.
ARTICLE 6
DEFINITIONS
As used in this Agreement the listed terms will have the following respective meanings and to the extent not defined in this
section or otherwise in this Agreement, a term shall have the meaning ascribed to it in any of the Ancillary Agreements:
“Action” means any Claim, arbitration, charge, complaint, audit, proceeding, examination, assessment, hearing,
investigation, litigation or suit (whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or informal) commenced, brought, conducted
or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Body or arbitrator.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control, currently or in the future, with, such specified Person, but
only for so long as such control persists. For purposes of this definition, the term “control” (including the terms “controlling,”
“controlled by” and “under common control with”) means (a) the possession of the power to vote 50% or more of the securities or
other equity interests of a Person having ordinary voting power or (b) the possession of the power to direct or cause the direction of
the management policies of a Person, by Contract or otherwise.
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“Affiliated Group” means an affiliated group as defined in Section 1504 of the Code (or any analogous combined,
consolidated, unitary or similar group defined under state, local or foreign Legal Requirement).
“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“Ancillary Agreements” means the Distribution Agreement, the Quality Agreement, the Development Agreement, the
License Agreement, and the Know-How and Copyright Assignment.
“Asset Purchase” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Basket” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.
“Bill of Sale” means the bill of sale substantially in the form of Exhibit F.
“Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“Buyer Field” means any Permitted Use.
“Buyer Indemnified Person” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.
“Buyer Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4.
“Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.
“Change of Control” means, with respect to a Party, (i) the sale of all or substantially all the assets of such Party to a Third
Party; (ii) any merger, consolidation or acquisition of such Party with, by or into a Third Party; or (iii) any change in the ownership
of more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting capital stock of such Party in one or more related transactions.
“Claims” means any assertion of right whatsoever (including all debts, bonds, promises, Damages, equitable claims and
judgments), whether liquidated, fixed or contingent, direct or indirect or imputed.
“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6.
“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Confidential Information” means the existence and terms of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements;
“Confidential Information” (as such term is defined in the Prior CDA) disclosed under the Prior CDA and prior to the Closing
Date; the fact that information is being shared for the performance of the Parties’ respective rights and obligations under this
Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements; materials and information (whether oral or fixed in any medium) in reference to the
following subject matter to the broadest extent possible; technical (without limitation, design, manufacture, testing, sourcing,
vendors), clinical (without limitation, methods,
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testing data), financial, business, marketing, sales or other materials and information, and with regard to the Purchased Assets, that
which can be gleaned from the Software Code and Manufacturing Documents. For the avoidance of doubt, Confidential
Information shall include Trade Secrets and Know-How. Confidential Information shall exclude the following:
i. Information that at the time of disclosure by the Disclosing Party to the Receiving Party is publicly known or, after
disclosure, becomes publicly known, in each case other than as a result of disclosure by the Receiving Party or its
Representatives in violation of the terms of this Agreement;
ii. Information that the Receiving Party was or becomes lawfully in possession of prior to the first disclosure of such
information by the Disclosing Party hereunder or under the Prior CDA, and as to which the Receiving Party is not under
an obligation of confidentiality to the Disclosing Party;
iii. Information that was or is independently developed by persons working for or on behalf of the Receiving Party who had
no knowledge of or access to the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information; or
iv. Information that is or was received by the Receiving Party from a Third Party (other than a Representative of either
party) having a legal right to transmit the same and free of any confidentiality obligations to the Disclosing Party.
“Consent and Non-Disturbance Agreement” means the consent and non-disturbance agreement substantially in the form
of Exhibit E.
“Contract” means, with respect to any Person, any legally binding contract, agreement, lease, license, commitment,
promise, undertaking, arrangement or understanding, whether written or oral.
“Copyrights” means, to the fullest extent permitted by any applicable law, all rights in works of authorship, published or
unpublished, in any medium whatsoever, whether now known or hereafter known or devised, including copyrights in computer
programs, Software (whether in object or source code), databases, data collections, data compilations and related documents
including for each copyright any right under such copyright to use, reproduce, display, perform, modify, enhance, translate,
distribute and prepare derivative works thereof, and all moral rights, and all copyright registrations and applications for registration
of any of the foregoing, including renewals and extensions.
“Court” means any federal or state court or similar tribunal of the United States, or court or similar tribunal of any foreign
country or any political subdivision thereof or supra-national court, or any arbitration tribunal.
“Damages” means any loss (including license fees, royalty or damage payments, including a buy-out in the form of a onetime payment in lieu of periodic royalty payments, or amounts paid
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in settlement), cost, Liability, penalty, Tax, claim, damage, expense (including cost of investigation, defense, settlement and
reasonable attorneys’, experts’ and other professional fees and expenses).
“Development Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Disclosing Party” means a Party disclosing Confidential Information pursuant to this Agreement or the Ancillary
Agreements.
“Disclosure Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.
“Distribution Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Excluded Code” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1.1.
“FDA” means the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or any successor agency.
“First Commercial Sale” has the meaning set forth in the Distribution Agreement.
“Fundamental Representations” means representations and warranties contained in [**].
“Governmental Authorization” means any approval, clearance, consent, license, permit, waiver or other authorization
issued, granted, given or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any Legal
Requirement.
“Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, state, county, city, town, village, district or other jurisdiction of any nature;
(b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (c) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature
(including any governmental agency, branch, department, official, or entity and any court or other tribunal); (d) multi-national
organization or body; or (e) body exercising, or entitled or purporting to exercise, any administrative, executive, judicial,
legislative, police, regulatory or taxing authority or power of any nature.
“Indemnified Person” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.5.
“Indemnifying Person” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.5.
“Indemnity Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.6.
“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual and industrial property rights recognized under applicable Legal
Requirements, and all related priority rights protected, created or arising under the laws of the United States or any other
jurisdiction or under any international convention, registered or unregistered, recognized by statute or under the common law,
including (a) all inventions and discoveries (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice and all
improvements thereto), (b) all Know-How, Copyrights, Software, Trademarks and Patents, (c) recordings, licenses, common-law
rights and contractual rights for any of the foregoing, and (d) all copies of tangible embodiments of the foregoing (in whatever form
or medium) and any rights equivalent to any of the foregoing anywhere in the world.
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“Intermediate Representations” means representations and warranties contained in [**].
“Joint CI” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(c).
“Joint IP” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Know-How” means all information constituting Confidential Information and relating to technical, scientific, marketing,
commercial, and other information, concepts, ideas, knowledge, technology, specifications, inventions, Trade Secrets, methods,
processes, controls, practices, formulas, instructions, skills, techniques, procedures, experiences, technical assistance, designs,
drawings, assembly procedures, computer programs, apparatuses, manufacturing procedures, and test procedures (whether or not
patented or patentable) in written, electronic or any other fixed form, and all improvements, whether to the foregoing or otherwise,
and other discoveries, and developments. Know-How does not include any Patents.
“Know-How and Copyright Assignment” means the know-how and copyright assignment substantially in the form of
Exhibit G.
“Knowledge” and words of similar meaning means the actual knowledge of any individual employed or engaged by Seller
or its Affiliates with the title of Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Legal Officer or General Counsel, in each
case, as such individual reasonably ought to have in the ordinary course of performing their duties and upon reasonable inquiry and
investigation (including inquiry of any timekeeper of [**] which has billed time to the account of Seller or its Affiliates).
“Legal Requirement” means any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, international, multinational or other constitution,
law, ordinance, standard, principle of common law, statute, code, regulation, rule or treaty.
“Liability” means, with respect to any Person, any liability or obligation of such Person whether known or unknown,
whether asserted or unasserted, whether determined, determinable or otherwise, whether absolute or contingent, whether accrued or
unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated, whether incurred or consequential, whether due or to become due and whether or
not required under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, as in effect from time to time, to be accrued on the
financial statements of such Person.
“License Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Licensed IP” has the meaning set forth in the License Agreement.
“Lien” means any security interest, pledge, mortgage, lien, right of first refusal or similar right, charge, encumbrance, or
any similar interest.
“Manufacturing Documents” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1.1.
“Material Adverse Change” means an adverse change, effect, occurrence, state of facts, event or condition, individually or
in the aggregate, in the business, operations, properties, prospects,
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assets or condition of the Purchased Assets that has had, or could reasonably be anticipated to (i) have an adverse effect on the
value of the Purchased Assets, financial or otherwise or (ii) or could reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impede, hinder
or delay the transactions contemplated hereby.
“Off-The-Shelf Implant” means a joint replacement implant not designed or made to order for a particular patient.
“Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant” means a total, partial or revision knee replacement implant not designed or made to order
for a particular patient.
“Open Source Materials” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(t).
“Order” means any award, decision, injunction, judgment, order, decree, stipulation, ruling, subpoena or verdict entered,
issued, made or rendered by any court, administrative agency or other Governmental Body or by any arbitrator.
“Ordinary Course” means the ordinary course of Seller’s business consistent with past practice.
“Patents” means all issued letter and design patents, reissued or reexamined patents, patents amended during any post-grant
proceeding, revivals of patents, utility models, certificates of invention, registrations of patents and extensions thereof,
supplementary protection certificates regardless of country issued or formal name and substantial equivalents thereto (such as
registered community designs, registered industrial designs, utility models and inventors’ certificates), including all published and
unpublished non-provisional and provisional patent applications, reissue applications, reexamination proceedings, invention
disclosures and records of invention, continuation applications, continuation-in-part applications, requests for continued
examination, divisional applications, patent term extension applications, applications for supplemental protection certificates, all
rights in respect of utility models and certificates of invention, and all rights and priorities and all extensions and renewals thereof,
regardless of the country filed or formal name.
“Patient-Specific Implants” means any joint replacement implants that are not Off-The-Shelf Implants.
“Patient-Specific Instrumentation” means any instrumentation or instrument that is designed and manufactured for, or on
behalf of, a particular patient.
“Permitted Use” means the use, copying, modification, or preparation of derivative works by Buyer, its Affiliates and any
permitted assignees under Section 7.9 of the Purchased Assets solely to develop, manufacture and commercialize Patient-Specific
Instrumentation for use with Triathlon. The Permitted Use shall not include the use of the Purchased [**].
“Person” means any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, estate,
trust, governmental agency or body or other entity, and will include any successor (by merger or otherwise) of such Person.
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“Prior CDA” means the Confidentiality Agreement between the Parties dated [**] (with retroactive effect to [**]).
“Product” has the meaning set forth in the Distribution Agreement.
“Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.5.
“Purchase Price Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.
“Purchased Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
“Receiving Party” means a Party receiving, or whose Affiliate receives or received, Confidential Information pursuant to
this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.
“Related Person” with respect to a particular individual, means: (a) any Person that directly or indirectly controls, is
directly or indirectly controlled by, or is directly or indirectly under common control of Seller; (b) any Person that holds a material
interest in Seller; (c) any Person in which Seller holds a material interest; and (d) any Person related (within the second degree) to
any individual described in foregoing clause (b).
“Representatives” means, with respect to a Person, the officers, directors, members, managers, employees and Affiliates of
such Person. Solely with respect to confidentiality obligations, “Representatives” shall include (a) Third Parties to the extent
disclosure is authorized under this Agreement or the applicable Ancillary Agreement; and (b) any actual or potential acquirer of or
investor in the Receiving Party.
“Restricted Event” means: (a) the entry into, termination of, material amendment of, or receipt of notice of termination of
any license or other Contract or transaction that relates to the Purchased Assets; (b) any sale, lease or other disposition of any
property or asset or the imposition of any Lien on any property or asset included in the Purchased Assets or (c) any failure to cause
any liability or obligation relating to Seller or a Purchased Asset to be paid or satisfied when the same becomes due.
“Seller” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“Seller Indemnified Persons” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3.
“Seller Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4.
“Software” means all computer programs and computer applications, including all software implementations of algorithms,
models and methodologies, whether in source code or object code.
“Software Code” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1.1.
“Stryker Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant” means either: (i) an Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant that is developed, manufactured
and sold by Buyer or its Affiliates after the Closing Date; or (ii) any units of an Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant that is developed and
manufactured by a Third Party
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(a “Third Party Knee”) and are first purchased and resold by Buyer or its Affiliates after the Closing Date, provided that, as of the
date Buyer or its Affiliates first contract for purchase and resale, (1) neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates has made any assertion
of infringement, misappropriation or violation of any Intellectual Property rights against such Third Party Knee (including without
limitation any written communication to any manufacturer or seller of such Third Party Knee indicating that a license under any
patent rights of Seller or its Affiliates may be necessary for the manufacture or sale of such Third Party Knee) and (2) neither Seller
nor any of its Affiliates is engaged in discussions with any manufacturer or seller of such Third Party Knee regarding an agreement
under which the manufacture or sale of such Third Party Knee would be licensed or otherwise immunized under any Intellectual
Property rights of Seller or any of its Affiliates. For the avoidance of doubt, units of a Third Party Knee that are sold by any Person
other than Buyer, its Affiliates or their respective distributors cannot constitute Stryker Off-The-Shelf Knee Implants.
“Tax” or “Taxes” means all United States federal, state, local, foreign and other net income, gross income, gross receipts,
sales, use, ad valorem, transfer, franchise, profits, registration, license, lease, service, service use, value added, withholding,
payroll, employment, social security, excise (including medical device excise), severance, stamp, occupation, premium, property,
production, windfall profits, unclaimed property, escheat, customs, duties, alternative or add-on minimum or other taxes, customs,
duties, fees, assessments or charges of any kind whatsoever (including any amounts resulting from the failure to file any Tax
Return), together with any interest and any penalties, additions to tax or additional amounts with respect thereto.
“Tax Return” means any return (including any information return), report, statement, schedule, notice, form or other
document or information filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to, any Governmental Body in
connection with the determination, assessment, collection or payment of any Tax or in connection with the administration,
implementation or enforcement of or compliance with any Legal Requirement relating to any Tax, in each case including any
attachments thereto or amendments thereof.
“Third Party” means any Person other than Seller or Buyer or their Affiliates.
“Trademarks” means any and all registered or unregistered words, devices or symbols that serve as or are capable of
serving as an indication of source when used in connection with goods, services or the business, including trademarks, service
marks, trade dress, trade names, corporate names, logos, slogans, assumed fictional business names, Internet domain names and
registrations and applications for registration to any of the foregoing, including extensions and renewals, together with all
translations, adaptations, derivations, and combinations thereof and the goodwill associated therewith.
“Trade Secrets” means information that is entitled to trade secret protection under the laws of any jurisdiction. Stryker
acknowledges that Conformis asserts that Conformis’ Trade Secrets include the information set forth on Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 2 of
the Prior CDA, the Software Code, Manufacturing Documents, Deliverables, and Transfer Materials.
“Transfer Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.11.
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“Transferred IP” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
“Triathlon” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Wire Instructions” means the Wire instructions set forth in Exhibit H.
ARTICLE 7
GENERAL
7.1. Counterparts and Electronic Transmission. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of
which will be considered one and the same agreement, and will become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed
by each of the Parties and delivered to the other Party. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile or e-mail
transmission with the same effect as if a manually signed original was personally delivered.
7.2. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of New York State
(without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof).
7.3. Jurisdiction. Subject to Section 7.13, the federal and state Courts of New York State shall have exclusive jurisdiction
to hear and decide any suit, Action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this
Agreement; provided, however, that each Party shall have the right to institute judicial proceedings in any court of competent
jurisdiction against the other Party or anyone acting by, through or under the other Party, in order to enforce an Order entered by
federal or state courts of New York. Each Party shall cause its applicable permitted Third Party sublicensees and Affiliates
receiving any rights or benefits (including the receipt of any Confidential Information) in connection with this Agreement to be
bound by this Section 7.3 prior to their exercise of any such rights or receipt of any such benefits. If such Party fails to comply with
the foregoing sentence with respect to any such Third Party or Affiliate, the other Party shall have the right to seek relief in any
court of competent jurisdiction in connection with any dispute involving such Third Party or Affiliate.
7.4.
Entire Agreement and Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including agreements incorporated herein
including the Ancillary Agreements) and the Exhibits and Schedules hereto contain the entire agreement by and among the Parties
with respect to the subject matter hereof and there are no agreements, understandings, representations or warranties between the
Parties other than those set forth or referred to herein. This Agreement is not intended to confer upon any Person not a party (and
their successors and assigns permitted by Section 7.9) any rights or remedies hereunder, except that Section 5.2 and Section 5.3
hereof are intended to benefit, and to be enforceable by, any of the Indemnified Persons.
7.5. Expenses. Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement and the other Ancillary Agreements, all legal and other
costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby will be paid by the Party
incurring such costs and expenses.
7.6. Rules of Construction. The Parties acknowledge that each Party has read and negotiated the language used in this
Agreement. Because all Parties participated in negotiating and
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drafting this Agreement, no rule of construction will apply to this Agreement which construes ambiguous language in favor of or
against any Party by reason of that Party’s role in drafting this Agreement.
7.7. Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of
any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof. If any term or other provision of this
Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any circumstance, is invalid, illegal or unenforceable by a Court of
competent jurisdiction, (a) a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be
valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision and (b) the remainder of this Agreement
and the application of such provision to other Persons or circumstances shall not be affected by such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability, nor shall such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability affect the validity or enforceability of such provision, or the
application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.
7.8.
Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications to be given pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given if delivered by hand, sent by e-mail, sent by a nationally
recognized overnight mail service, or mailed first class, postage prepaid:
If to Buyer:
Howmedica Osteonics Corp.
c/o
Stryker Corporation
2825 Airview Boulevard
Kalamazoo, Michigan 49002
Attn: General Counsel
E-mail:
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Ropes & Gray LLP
Prudential Tower
800 Boylston Street
Boston, MA 02199
Attn: Michael D. Beauvais
E-mail: Michael.Beauvais@ropesgray.com
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If to Seller:
Conformis, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer and General Counsel
600 Technology Park Drive
Billerica, MA 01821
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
WilmerHale
Attn: Jason Kropp, Esq.
60 State Street
Boston, MA 02109
Any Party may change its address, telephone number, or facsimile number by prior written notice to the other Parties.
7.9. Assignment and Change of Control. Except as otherwise provided herein, a Party shall not have the right to assign
any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement (whether through a merger, sale of stock, or otherwise) without the prior
written consent of the other Party; except that, either Party shall be permitted, without any need for the other Party’s consent, to
assign this Agreement (a) in whole or in part to an Affiliate (provided, however, that once such Person is no longer an Affiliate of
the assigning Party, such former Affiliate shall assign this Agreement back to the assigning Party), provided that the assigning Party
provides the other Party notice of any such assignment; provided further that failure to provide such notice of such assignment shall
not render such assignment void; or (b) to a Third Party in connection with sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assigning
Party’s business or assets relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, whether by Change of Control, merger, sale of assets or
otherwise; provided, however, that, with respect to clause (b), (i) any assignment of this Agreement shall be void and have no effect
unless and until the assignee assumes the obligations of the assigning Party in a written instrument, a copy of which is provided to
the other Party; and (ii) any assignment of this Agreement must be accompanied by a simultaneous assignment of the Ancillary
Agreements. Any assignment in whole or in part shall not relieve the assigning Party of its obligations hereunder. If and to the
extent that a Party assigns any of its rights and/or obligations hereunder in accordance with this Section 7.9, then this Agreement
shall be binding upon the assignee to the same extent as if it were a Party hereto. Any assignment not in accordance with this
Section 7.9 shall be void.
7.10.
Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by an instrument or
instruments in writing signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any such modification or amendment is sought. Seller may
waive compliance by Buyer or Buyer may waive compliance by Seller with any term or provision of this Agreement on the part of
such Party to be performed or complied with, but only by an instrument in writing. The waiver by any Party of a breach of any term
or provision of this Agreement will not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach.
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7.11. Transfer Taxes; Tax Cooperation. All recordation, transfer, documentary, sales, value added, use, stamp, conveyance
or other similar Taxes, duties or governmental charges, and all recording or filing fees or similar costs, imposed or levied by reason
of, in connection with or attributable to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (collectively,
“Transfer Taxes”), as well as any reasonable costs incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of related Tax Returns
shall be borne by Seller. Each Tax Return relating to Transfer Taxes will be prepared by Seller to the extent Seller is allowed to do
so under applicable Legal Requirements. After the Closing Date, Seller and Buyer shall: (i) assist the other party (including by
providing copies of any books, records or other documents that are reasonably requested by such party) in preparing any Tax
Returns; (ii) cooperate fully with the other party (including by providing copies of any books, records or other documents that are
reasonably requested by such party) in preparing for any Action of, or any disputes with, Tax authorities regarding, any Tax
Returns with respect to the Purchased Assets for a Tax period or portion thereof ending on or before the Closing Date; and (iii)
furnish each other with copies of correspondence received from any Tax authority in connection with any Tax Action with respect
to any such Tax Return for a Tax period or portion thereof ending on or before the Closing Date; provided that no party shall be
required to provide, to permit any inspection of, or to disclose any information with respect to, any Tax Return of its Affiliated
Group.
7.12. Interpretation. It is understood and agreed that the specification of any dollar amount in the representations and
warranties contained in this Agreement or the inclusion of any specific item in the Schedules is not intended to imply that such
amounts or higher or lower amounts, or the items so included or other items, are or are not material, and no Party will use the fact
of the setting of such amounts or the fact of the inclusion of any such item in the Schedules in any dispute or controversy between
the Parties as to whether any obligation, item or matter not described herein or included in a Schedule is or is not material for
purposes of this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the word “including” means “including without limitation.” Unless
otherwise specified, “party” or “parties” as used in this Agreement means the parties to this Agreement.
7.13. Negotiation in Event of Dispute. In the event of any dispute or disagreement between any of the Parties as to the
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement or any agreement incorporated herein, the performance of obligations hereunder
or thereunder, or any other disputed matter relating hereto or thereto, such matter, upon the written request of any Party, will be
referred to an executive of each Party. The executives will promptly meet in good faith to resolve the dispute. If the executives do
not agree upon a decision within thirty calendar days after the reference of the matter to them, any Party will be free to exercise any
remedies available to it.
7.14. Relationship. Neither this Agreement nor any of the Ancillary Agreements creates any partnership, agency or other
relationship among the Parties, including for all Tax purposes. No Party is granted any right or authority to assume or to create any
obligation or responsibility on behalf or in the name of the other Parties to bind the other Parties in any manner whatsoever.
***
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This Asset Purchase Agreement has been signed by or on behalf of the Parties as of the day first above written.
HOWMEDICA OSTEONICS
CORP.

By: /s/ Spencer Stiles
Name: Spencer Stiles
Title: President
[Signature Page to Asset Purchase Agreement]

This Asset Purchase Agreement has been signed by or on behalf of the Parties as of the day first above written.
CONFORMIS, INC.

By: /s/ M. Augusti
Name: M. Augusti
Title: CEO

Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause
competitive harm to the Company, if publicly disclosed. Double asterisks denote omissions.
Execution Version
DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT
This Distribution Agreement (the “Agreement”) is effective as of September 30, 2019 (“Effective Date”) between Conformis, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation, with its principal place of business located at 600 Technology Park Drive, Billerica, MA 01821
(“Supplier”), and Howmedica Osteonics Corp., a New Jersey corporation, also known as Stryker Orthopaedics, together with its
Affiliates (defined below) (“Stryker”).
I.

RECITALS

WHEREAS Supplier is engaged in the business of manufacturing and supplying certain Patient-Specific Instrumentation;
WHEREAS, the Parties are concurrently entering into an Asset Purchase Agreement (as defined in the Development
Agreement), and a License Agreement, a Development Agreement and a Quality Agreement, as defined in and attached to the
Asset Purchase Agreement; and
WHEREAS Supplier desires to appoint Stryker as the exclusive (to the extent set forth herein) distributor of the Products
(as defined in Section 1 below) in the Territory, and Stryker desires to accept such appointment subject to the terms and conditions
set forth in this Agreement.
II. AGREEMENT
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, the Parties, intending to
be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
1.

Definitions.
“Act” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5.
“Action” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Affiliate” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Agents” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“Allowable Adjustments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.4.
“Applicable Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Applicable Requirements” shall mean all Applicable Laws applicable to the Supplier and the Products provided
under this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, “Applicable Requirements” means all
governmental rules and regulations applicable to the labeling, re-labeling, packaging, processing,

assembly, record creation, record retention, record modification, record transmission (including by electronic
means), storage, handling, transport (including exportation and importation of Products within the United States or
to or from the United States), and reporting of medical devices, and, as applicable, human cells, tissues or human
cellular or tissue-based products (HCT/Ps, in accordance with 21 CFR 1271) in effect at a particular time and
promulgated by the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and any foreign agency or authority
equivalent to the FDA, including without limitation 21 CFR 820, 21 CFR 11, Quality Management System
requirements of ISO 13485:2003, Unique Device Identifier requirements as set forth in the FDA UDI rule, as
amended, 21 CFR Part 830, ISO 14001 and ISO 13485:2003 CAN/CSA (and any amendments thereto) and all other
applicable legal and regulatory requirements, including, without limitation all requirements of the Canadian Medical
Device Regulation, the Therapeutic Goods Administration, Medsafe (New Zealand regulatory authority), European
Directives (including CE marking requirements), Japan’s Pharmaceutical Affairs Law (PAL) and Ministerial
Ordinance #169 and any Regulatory Requirements (as defined in the Quality Agreement).
“Asset Purchase Agreement” shall mean that certain Asset Purchase Agreement entered into between the Parties
dated of even date herewith.
“Audit” means any Payment Audit or any audit conducted by a Third Party auditor in accordance with Section
2.3.4.1 or Section 5.1.3.
“Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code.
“Business Days” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Change of Control” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Claims” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Confidential Information” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Conformis Indemnified Parties” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Consent and Non-Disturbance Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Court” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Development Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
-2-

“Disclosing Party” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“eCommerce System” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.
“Effective Date” shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“Exclusive Supply Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.
“First Commercial Sale” means the first sale for end use of a Product by or on behalf of Stryker or its Affiliates in
the United States following FDA clearance for the Product in accordance with the R&D Work Plan.
“Force Majeure Event” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.1.
“Forecast Report” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.
“Governmental Entity” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Insolvency Event” means, with respect to any Party, the occurrence of any of the following events:
(i)

a court of competent jurisdiction shall have entered a decree or order for relief in respect of the Party
in an involuntary proceeding under any applicable United States bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a receiver, liquidator,
assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Party or of all or any
substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding up or liquidation of its affairs, and such decree
or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for a period of [**]; or

(ii)

the Party shall have a voluntary proceeding under any applicable United States bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or shall have consented to
the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law, or shall have consented to
the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee,
sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Party or of all or any substantial part of its property, or
shall have made an assignment.

“Intellectual Property” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“IP Claims” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.2.2.
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“License Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Materials Declaration Requirements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.
“Non-Conforming Products” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.5.
“Non-exclusive Supply Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.
“Order” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Other Agreements” shall have the meaning set forth in the License Agreement.
“Party” or “Parties” means in the singular, either Stryker or Supplier as context may so dictate, or in the plural,
both Stryker and Supplier.
“Patent” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Patient-Specific Instrumentation” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Payment Audit” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.
“Permitted Use” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Per-Product Fee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.3.1.
“Person” means any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association,
estate, trust, governmental agency or body or other entity, and will include any successor (by merger or otherwise)
of such Person.
“Pricing Schedule” means the list of Prices that Supplier may charge Stryker for the supply of Products, and as
more fully described in the Products and Pricing Schedule attached hereto as Schedule A.
“Prior CDA” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Prior Year Minimum” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.3.1.
“Products” means Patient-Specific Instrumentation for Triathlon that receives 510(k) clearance as contemplated
under the Development Agreement and is supplied by or on behalf of Supplier or its Affiliates.
“Product Liability Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.6.
“Product Warranty” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5.
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“Purchase Order” means a purchase order issued by Stryker to Supplier providing for the purchase and sale of
Products which references this Agreement as providing for all terms and conditions applicable to such purchase
order.
“Quality Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.3.
“R&D Work Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Receiving Party” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Related Agreements” shall mean the Asset Purchase Agreement, the License Agreement, the Development
Agreement, and the Consent and Non-Disturbance Agreement.
“Representatives” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Required Insurance” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.8.
“Second Forecast Report” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.
“Services” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.8.
“Specifications” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.
“Sterilizer” means, at Supplier’s sole discretion, either Supplier or such Third Party service provider facility as
Supplier may engage from time to time for purposes of sterilization of Products.
“Strategic Acquiror” shall have the meaning set forth in the License Agreement.
“Stryker” shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“Stryker Indemnified Parties” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Stryker Products” means Patient-Specific Instrumentation for Triathlon that receives 510(k) clearance as
contemplated under the Development Agreement and is supplied by or on behalf of any Person other than Supplier
or its Affiliates.
“Stryker’s Purchase Obligation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.2.1.
“Supplier” shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“[**]” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.2.2.
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“Supplier’s Supply Obligation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.1.
“Supply Failure” means the occurrence of any of the following events:
(i)

During the first [**] of the Supply Term, Supplier fails to Timely fulfill Stryker’s Valid Purchase Orders for
Products with Products that meet the Specifications with respect to at least [**]% of Stryker’s Valid Purchase
Orders;

(ii)

Between the first day of the [**] of the Supply Term and [**], Supplier fails to Timely fulfill Stryker’s Valid
Purchase Orders for Products with Products that meet the Specifications with respect to at least [**] percent
([**]%) of the Products under such Valid Purchase Orders, which percentage will be calculated on a rolling
[**] basis, beginning after the [**] of the Supply Term. “Timely” shall mean within [**] following the date
on which Stryker submits Stryker’s applicable Valid Purchase Order in accordance with Section 5.1.5;

(iii)

Between the first day of the [**] and [**], Supplier fails to Timely fulfill Stryker’s Valid Purchase Orders for
Products with Products that meet the Specifications with respect to at least [**] percent ([**]%) of the
Products under such Valid Purchase Orders, which percentage will be calculated on a rolling [**] basis,
beginning after the [**] of the Non-Exclusive Supply Term;

(iv)

Notwithstanding subclauses (i)-(iii) of this definition, at any time during the Supply Term following a
Change of Control of Supplier to a Strategic Acquiror, Supplier fails to Timely fulfill Stryker’s Valid
Purchase Orders for Products with Products that meet the Specifications with respect to at least [**] percent
([**]%) of the Products under such Valid Purchase Orders, which percentage will be calculated on a rolling
[**] basis beginning after the [**] following such Change of Control.

(v)

At any time during the Term, Supplier materially breaches the Quality Agreement and does not cure such
breach within [**], in accordance with any additional procedures to cure or address deviations from the
quality requirements set forth in the Quality Agreement;

(vi)

At any time during the Term, the occurrence of any Insolvency Event with respect to Supplier, provided that,
no Supply Failure shall exist in respect of an Insolvency Event that is a chapter 11 case under the Bankruptcy
Code if Supplier (x) continues to perform all of its material obligations under this Agreement, (y) does not
seek to reject this Agreement or take any action in such chapter 11 case to disavow or undermine the rights
of Stryker under this Agreement, and (z) assumes this Agreement on or before any deadline in such chapter
11 case for such assumption; notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall limit or prevent the Party
not subject to an Insolvency Event from objecting to assumption or assumption and assignment of this
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Agreement or requiring cure payments or adequate assurance of future performance as a condition of
assumption or assumption and assignment; or Supplier otherwise discontinues or liquidates all or
substantially all of Supplier’s business operations related to this Agreement.
“Supply Requirements” means Stryker’s total requirements for Products, Stryker Products, and Patient-Specific
Instrumentation that [**] for any version of Triathlon that is manufactured, marketed or sold by Stryker or its
Affiliates as of the date of First Commercial Sale; provided that, for the purposes of this definition, Triathlon shall
exclude [**].
“Supply Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.
“Supply Year” means each period of twelve (12) consecutive months during the Supply Term, with the first Supply
Year commencing on the first day of the Supply Term and with each subsequent Supply Year commencing on the
annual anniversary of such day.
“Technology Transfer” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.2.
“Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.1.
“Territory” means worldwide.
“Third Party” means any Person other than Stryker or Supplier or their Affiliates.
“Transfer Materials” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.1.
“Triathlon” shall have the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Valid Purchase Order” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.5.
2.

Supply and Delivery; Appointment and Exclusivity.
2.1

Products; Appointment and Exclusivity. During the Supply Term, Supplier shall make available to Stryker the
Products, and shall supply the Products in accordance with Valid Purchase Orders submitted by Stryker and accepted
by Supplier in accordance with this Agreement. Supplier hereby appoints Stryker as its exclusive distributor to
market and promote sales of the Products in the Territory solely for the Permitted Use and subject to all applicable
restrictions set forth in the Related Agreements, and Stryker hereby accepts such exclusive appointment and agrees
to act as such distributor. Stryker may appoint dealers or sub-distributors to distribute, market and sell Products in
the Territory as long as: (i) agreements Stryker enters into with such dealers or sub-distributors do not conflict with
this Agreement; and (ii) Stryker shall remain liable for any breach of this Agreement caused by any such dealers or
sub-distributors. Supplier represents and warrants to Stryker that it has
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not granted distribution or other rights to any Person that would conflict with the exclusive distribution rights
granted to Stryker hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary, but without limiting the
exclusive distributorship granted to Stryker, Stryker acknowledges and agrees that the Products are currently
anticipated to be approved for sale and use only in the United States, and that Stryker’s marketing and promotion
rights under this Section 2.1 shall be limited to the United States until and unless otherwise agreed by the Parties in
writing.
2.2

Product Specifications. The Products will be manufactured in accordance with the specifications mutually agreed by
the Parties upon completion of the activities described in the Development Agreement (“Specifications”). The sole
remedies for breach of this Section 2.2 are [**].

2.3

Quantity.
2.3.1

Term. During the Supply Term and subject to all terms and conditions hereof, Supplier will accept Valid
Purchase Orders for Products (“Supplier’s Supply Obligation”). During the Exclusive Supply Term, except
as expressly authorized under Section 2.3.4, Stryker will not, and will cause its Affiliates not to, contract
with any Third Party for the manufacture of Products, Stryker Products or Patient-Specific Instrumentation
that [**] for any version of Triathlon that is manufactured, marketed or sold by Stryker or its Affiliates as of
the date of First Commercial Sale. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for the purposes of this Section 2.3.1,
Triathlon shall exclude [**].

2.3.2

Supply Term.
2.3.2.1 During each calendar year during the time period beginning on the Effective Date and continuing
through the end of the Exclusive Supply Term, Stryker agrees to purchase at least eighty percent
(80%) of Stryker and its Affiliates’ Supply Requirements for such calendar year from Supplier
(“Stryker’s Purchase Obligation”) and Stryker and its Affiliates may manufacture such remaining
percentage of its Supply Requirements, up to a cap of twenty percent (20%) of such Supply
Requirements, itself.
2.3.2.2 Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a Supply Failure, (a) Stryker shall be obligated to
purchase only the quantity of Products set forth in Stryker-issued Purchase Orders, (b) Stryker’s
Purchase Obligation shall thereafter be waived and (c) subject to Section 2.3.4, Stryker may contract
with any Third Party for the manufacture of Stryker Products.

2.3.3

Non-exclusive Supply Term.
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2.3.3.1 Each Supply Year during the Non-exclusive Supply Term, Stryker must either, at its election in its
sole discretion: (a) purchase at least the number of Products from Supplier equal to eighty percent
(80%) of Stryker’s Supply Requirements for the immediately preceding Supply Year (“Prior Year
Minimum”), such Products to be supplied at an amount, on a per-unit basis, equal to Supplier’s
average prior Supply Year unit cost of goods sold (COGS) plus two hundred dollars ($200), or (b)
pay Supplier a fee, on a per-unit basis, equal to two hundred dollars ($200) multiplied by the
number of Products constituting the difference between the Prior Year Minimum and the number of
Products actually purchased by Stryker from Supplier during such current Supply Year (the “PerProduct Fee”).
2.3.3.2 Within [**] following the end of each calendar quarter of the Non-exclusive Supply Term, Stryker
will deliver to Supplier a certificate duly executed by an authorized representative of Stryker setting
forth the Per-Product Fees due and payable to Supplier in respect of such calendar quarter. Such
quarterly payment will be calculated in accordance with Section 2.3.3.1 based upon the portion of
the Prior Year Minimum (subject to any offset permitted under the last sentence of this Section
2.3.3.2) corresponding to the same calendar quarter of such immediately preceding Supply Year.
Upon receipt of such certificate and to the extent such certificate reflects Per-Product Fees greater
than zero, Supplier shall issue an invoice in an amount equal to the Per-Product Fees set forth in
such certificate. Stryker shall pay Supplier the Per-Product Fees set forth in such invoice by check
within [**] of receipt of the invoice. Concurrent with any such quarterly payment under this Section
2.3.3.2 which includes the end of a Supply Year, Stryker will submit to Supplier (a) a report
detailing all Per-Product Fees paid pursuant to this Section 2.3.3.2 and applicable to such Supply
Year; (b) a calculation of Per-Product Fees actually owed for such Supply Year; and (c) to the extent
that such total Per-Product Fees in respect of such Supply Year already paid under this Section
2.3.3.2 are less than those owed under Section 2.3.3.1, a check for such difference. To the extent
that such total Per-Product Fees in respect of such Supply Year already paid under this Section
2.3.3.2 are greater than those owed under Section 2.3.3.1, Stryker shall be permitted to offset such
overage against future quarterly payments due under this Section 2.3.3.2.
2.3.3.3 Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a Supply Failure, Stryker’s obligations with respect
to the Per-Product Fees set forth in this Section 2.3.3 shall thereafter be waived.
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2.3.3.4 During the Non-exclusive Supply Term, in the event that Stryker fails to (i) purchase at least [**]
units of Products from Supplier during [**] period or (ii) fails to pay Supplier $200 USD per each
unit of Product constituting the difference between the number of actual units purchased from
Supplier during [**] period, to the extent such number is less than [**] units, and such [**] unit
minimum, within [**] following such [**] period, then Supplier’s exclusivity covenant set forth in
Section 4.1 of the Development Agreement shall thereafter be of no force or effect, provided that
Supplier’s exclusivity covenant will not be waived with respect to any Person constituting a
Strategic Acquiror. In the event of a Supply Failure, an Insolvency Event, or a Change of Control of
Supplier to a Strategic Acquiror, Stryker’s obligation set forth in this Section 2.3.3.4 shall thereafter
be waived.
2.3.4

Third Party Manufacturers. Stryker may engage a Third Party manufacturer: (a) during the Supply Term, in
the event of a Supply Failure or in respect of post-processing machinery, sterilization and/or packaging
services relating to the manufacture of Products, Stryker Products or Patient-Specific Instrumentation that is
used for a similar purpose as the Products for any version of Triathlon that is manufactured, marketed or sold
by Stryker or its Affiliates as of the date of First Commercial Sale, or (b) during the Non-exclusive Supply
Term, provided that (i) Stryker shall notify Supplier in advance of the commencement of any such Third
Party manufacturing; (ii) Stryker may not provide the Software Code in any form to any such Third Party,
and may only disclose such of Supplier’s other Confidential Information as is reasonably necessary for such
permitted Third Party manufacturing; and (iii) each such Third Party manufacturer shall be bound by a
written agreement that (1) contains confidentiality obligations at least as protective of those hereunder and
under the Related Agreements, with Supplier to be an express Third Party beneficiary of each such
confidentiality agreement with respect to that Confidential Information owned by Supplier (whether solely or
jointly), and (2) that expressly prohibits any use of any kind of any of the Manufacturing Documents,
Transfer Materials or any other materials or information received from Supplier hereunder or under any of
the Related Agreements (to the extent Stryker is permitted to disclose such items pursuant to Section
2.3.4(ii)) other than for the Permitted Use.
2.3.4.1 Up to [**] for each Third Party manufacturer and upon Supplier’s written request and subject to any
confidentiality or other non-use restrictions applicable to Stryker by the relevant Third Party
manufacturer, Stryker shall provide documentation reasonably required by a mutually agreed Third
Party auditor to verify Stryker’s compliance with this Section 2.3.4. Such Audit shall be at
Supplier’s sole expense and shall be performed in accordance with the
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requirements set forth in Section 2.4.2. If any report prepared in accordance with Section 2.4.2
discloses findings of any non-compliance with this Section 2.3.4, representatives of each Party shall
discuss in good faith a mutually agreed resolution of such non-compliance within [**] of
submission of such report. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, in
the event of a Change of Control of Supplier to a Strategic Acquiror, the rights and obligations set
forth in this Section 2.3.4.1 shall be of no further force or effect.
2.3.5

2.4

Stryker Minimum Purchase Obligation. To the extent occurring [**] after the [**] of the Supply Term, in the
event that Stryker either: (i) fails to purchase at least [**] percent ([**]%) of the Products set forth on the
then-current Forecast Report for [**] during the Exclusive Supply Term (“Minimum [**] Purchase
Obligation”) and fails to pay Supplier $200 USD per each unit of Product constituting the difference
between the number of actual units purchased during such [**] period and the Minimum [**] Purchase
Obligation within [**] of the end of such [**] period; or (ii) breaches Stryker’s Purchase Obligation during
any calendar year during the Exclusive Supply Term and fails to pay Supplier $200 USD per each unit of
Product constituting the difference between the number of actual units purchased during such calendar year
and the Stryker Purchase Obligation within [**] of the end of such calendar year, then, without derogation to
Supplier’s other rights and remedies, Supplier’s exclusivity covenant set forth in Section 4.1 of the
Development Agreement shall thereafter be of no force or effect. For the avoidance of doubt, references
herein to a particular calendar month and the then-current Forecast Report refer to the Forecast Report
required to be delivered within [**] prior to first day of the applicable calendar month pursuant to Section
5.1.

Audits.
2.4.1

Each Party shall, and shall cause its relevant Affiliates to, allow Supplier, on the hand, or Stryker, on the
other hand, or their respective designees (subject to confidentiality restrictions no less restrictive in any
material respect than the Parties’ confidentiality obligations hereunder), during such audited Party’s and/or
its Affiliate’s business hours and up to [**] period during the Supply Term and during the [**] period
thereafter, to inspect and audit such Party’s financial books and records (whether written or electronic) for
the immediately preceding [**] period in order that are directly relevant to verify (i) in the event Stryker is
such audited Party, compliance with Section 2.3.2.1, Section 2.3.3.1, and Section 2.3.3.4 hereof during such
period and (ii) in the event Supplier is such audited Party, the components and calculation of Supplier’s cost
of goods sold (COGS) with respect to the Products (a “Payment Audit”). Such Payment Audit shall be at
the auditing Party’s sole
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expense except as described below and shall be performed in accordance with the requirements set forth in
Section 2.4.2. The audited Party shall, and shall cause its relevant Affiliates to, provide all reasonably
necessary assistance that is requested in connection with such Payment Audit. If any Payment Audit report
prepared in accordance with Section 2.4.2 discloses findings of any overpayment or underpayment,
representatives of each Party shall discuss in good faith a mutually agreed resolution of such overpayment or
underpayment within [**] of submission of such report. Upon resolution between the Parties of any findings
of overpayment or underpayment disclosed in such Payment Audit report, the audited Party shall (without
derogation to the auditing Party’s other rights and remedies) pay or reimburse such other Party any such
finding of underpayment or overpayment, and to the extent such underpayment or overpayment and all duly
documented and out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection with such Payment Audit within [**] of such
conclusive finding. Each Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that all relevant books and
records are kept available for at least such time periods subject to each Party’s Payment Audit inspection
rights under this Section 2.4.1.
2.4.2

2.5

The auditing Party shall provide reasonable prior written notice to such other Party of any Audit of not less
than [**]. The duration of, and number of Persons involved in, any Audit shall be appropriately limited to
prevent interruption to the audited Party’s business. In the case of any Audit, (i) the auditing Party or the
Third Party auditor, as applicable, will be bound by a written agreement that contains confidentiality
obligations at least as protective as those hereunder and under the Related Agreements and (ii) any
documentation provided by the audited Party may be provided in redacted form to remove information that
the audited Party determines, in good faith and in its sole discretion, is competitively sensitive. The auditing
Party or Third Party auditor, as applicable, shall provide a report (whether written or electronic) to the
audited Party and the auditing Party (if applicable) for review, which report will include only such
information that is reasonably necessary to support the auditing Party’s or Third Party auditor’s, as
applicable, findings therein. In the event of dispute or disagreement between the Parties with respect to any
Audit such matter shall be addressed by the procedures set forth in Section 18 of this Agreement.

Technology Transfer.
2.5.1

Transfer Materials. Once during the Exclusive Supply Term, Supplier shall, upon Stryker’s written request
and at Supplier’s cost and expense (except as set forth in this Section 2.5), transfer to Stryker, its Affiliate or
its permitted Third Party manufacturer expressly authorized under Section 2.3.4 (and subject to the
restrictions in Section 2.3.4), within [**] of such written request (or such other period thereafter as mutually
agreed upon between the Parties)
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any revisions to the Software Code or Manufacturing Documents (as such terms are defined in the Asset
Purchase Agreement), a listing of its Third Party suppliers and licensors relevant to the Products, or other
documentation in Supplier’s possession or control, in each case that are created by Supplier after the
Effective Date and prior to the conclusion of the first [**] of the Supply Term, whether in physical or digital
form, that are used by Supplier in the manufacture of the Products hereunder during the first [**] of the
Supply Term (the use by Stryker of such items collectively referred to herein as the “Transfer Materials,” is
subject to the license grant in Section 2.1(b) of the License Agreement). For clarity, Supplier shall only be
required to transfer Transfer Materials to a Third Party to the extent such Transfer Materials are (i) necessary
for the applicable manufacturing activities of such Third Party and (ii) are within the scope of the express
authorization under Section 2.3.4.
2.5.2

Technology Transfer. In addition to the transfer and delivery of the Transfer Materials, the transfer described
in Section 2.5.1 shall include, at Stryker’s expense and at reasonable mutually agreed upon rates, with such
rate per man hour not to exceed $[**], training and technical support solely at a U.S. location for Stryker or
the applicable designee until Stryker completes validation and obtains all necessary regulatory approvals for
the manufacture of the Stryker Product by Stryker.

2.5.3

Solicitation Rights. If a Supply Failure or Change of Control to a Strategic Acquiror occurs with respect to
Supplier during the Term, then Supplier will relieve all current or former key employees and key
independent contractors of Supplier from any non-competition agreements, confidentiality agreements, or
any other obligations to or imposed by Supplier, solely to the extent such agreements or obligations would:
(a) prevent or hinder the ability of Stryker or its Affiliates (or Third Party designee) to hire or engage any
such current or former key employee or key independent contractor of Supplier to perform Stryker business
activities directly related to the development, manufacture, promotion or sale of Stryker Products; or (b)
prevent such key current or former employee or key independent contractor from performing any specific
activities for Stryker or its Affiliates (or Third Party designee) in respect of the development and
manufacture of Stryker Products. For clarity, this Section 2.5.3 shall not expand the scope of licenses granted
to Stryker under the License Agreement.

3.

[Intentionally Omitted].

4.

Prices.
4.1

The prices for the Products are as set forth in Schedule A.
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4.2

5.

Except for those taxes noted herein, no extra charges of any kind, including without limitation transportation
charges, shall be allowed unless agreed to in writing by Stryker. To the extent applicable, Stryker shall pay all sales
or use taxes due on the transactions hereunder or provide Supplier customary proof that the transactions are exempt
from such taxes; provided, that Supplier shall pay all applicable excise taxes imposed on Supplier including, without
limitation, excise taxes imposed on Supplier as the manufacturer or importer of a “taxable medical device”, under
Section 4191 of the Internal Revenue Code and its implementing regulations. Invoices shall separately identify any
tax that is the responsibility of Stryker hereunder (including value added taxes as exclusively net extra) and shall
include either Supplier’s sales tax, use tax or other applicable permit number. Supplier shall pay any other taxes and
charges, including without limitation, assessments or fines arising from Supplier’s performance of the transactions
under the Agreement, including taxes based upon Supplier’s net income and penalties or fees imposed due to failure
to file or pay collected sales tax, the cost of which is included in the prices set forth in Schedule A and Supplier
shall not be entitled to additional compensation therefore. To the extent applicable, in all instances where Stryker
purchases Products requiring importation by Stryker, Stryker shall pay all applicable duties and shall have the sole
and exclusive right to claim and apply for all duty drawbacks and Supplier shall reasonably assist Stryker in making
any such duty drawback claims.

Ordering, Delivering and Payment.
5.1

Forecasting.
5.1.1

No later than [**] prior to Stryker’s anticipated First Commercial Sale of the Product, Stryker will deliver to
Supplier an initial forecast for its supply requirements for Products. Thereafter, at least [**] prior to the start
of the calendar month immediately preceding the calendar month immediately prior to Stryker’s anticipated
First Commercial Sale of the Product (such Forecast Report, the “Second Forecast Report”), and at least
[**] prior to the start of each calendar month thereafter, Stryker will provide Supplier with a non-binding
(except to the extent set forth in Section 5.1.4) [**] rolling forecast of Stryker’s supply requirements for
Products, (each a “Forecast Report”), such Forecast Report to be available for review either (a) online
through Stryker’s eCommerce system (the “eCommerce System”), provided that Stryker timely notifies
Supplier each time a Forecast Report is made available on the eCommerce System and provides Supplier all
necessary credentials and instructions to access such Forecast Report; or (b) by report provided by Stryker
(whether written or electronic). Upon each issuance of a Forecast Report, Stryker may make only Allowable
Adjustments to any calendar month which was included in a prior Forecast Report. To the extent any
Forecast Report contains any adjustment(s) for any such calendar month outside the scope of an Allowable
Adjustment, Supplier shall have the right to modify such Forecast Report as necessary for each such
adjustment to fall
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within the scope of an Allowable Adjustment. If Supplier changes the Forecast Report in accordance with the
foregoing sentence, Supplier shall provide prompt written notice and a copy of the revised Forecast Report to
Stryker within [**] of Stryker’s submission of the applicable Forecast Report.
5.1.2

Each Forecast Report shall reflect [**].

5.1.3

If Supplier reasonably believes that Stryker has breached its obligation set forth in Section 5.1.2, then, up to
[**] during any consecutive [**] period during the Supply Term, Supplier will provide written notice to
Stryker setting forth such reasonable belief and identifying up to one Forecast Report that was submitted to
Supplier during the immediately preceding [**] to audit for purposes of confirming compliance with Section
5.1.2. Upon such notice, Stryker shall provide documentation to a mutually agreed Third Party auditor to
verify Stryker’s compliance with Section 5.1.2. Such Audit shall be at Supplier’s sole expense and shall be
performed in accordance with the requirements set forth in Section 2.4.2. If any report prepared in
accordance with Section 2.4.2 discloses findings of any non-compliance with Section 5.1.2, representatives
of each Party shall discuss in good faith a mutually agreed resolution of such non-compliance within [**] of
submission of such report. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, in the event
of a Change of Control of Supplier to a Strategic Acquiror, the rights and obligations set forth in this Section
5.1.3 shall be of no further force or effect.

5.1.4

“Allowable Adjustments” shall mean:
5.1.4.1 For any month in a Forecast Report in which the number of units of Products forecasted is less than
or equal to [**] units of Products, an adjustment which deviates by plus [**] percent ([**]%) or
minus [**] percent ([**]%) from the immediately prior Forecast Report.
5.1.4.2 For any month in a Forecast Report in which the number of units of Products forecasted is greater
than [**] units of Products (i) with respect to each of the first [**] of a Forecast Report issued under
Section 5.1, an adjustment which deviates up to +/- [**] percent ([**]%) from the immediately prior
Forecast Report with respect to the applicable calendar month; and (ii) with respect to each of the
second [**] of a Forecast Report issued under Section 5.1, an adjustment which deviates up to +/[**] percent ([**]%) from the immediately prior Forecast Report with respect to the applicable
calendar month, provided, however that in each case (i) or (ii), the downward adjustment to the
Product volume for any calendar month covered by such Forecast Report as compared to the same
calendar month in any prior Forecast Report shall not exceed minus [**] percent ([**]%) in relation
to the first time such calendar month
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appeared in a Forecast Report. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the Second Forecast Report,
Stryker may make any adjustments to the quantities set forth for any or all calendar months as
compared to the initial Forecast Report provided that such adjustments shall not exceed plus [**]
percent ([**]%) or minus [**] percent ([**]%) for any such calendar month. In respect of any
calculation of Allowable Adjustments pursuant to this Section 5.1.4, the calculation shall be
rounded to the nearest integer. For example, a [**]-percent ([**]%) decrease from a prior forecast of
[**] would be rounded to [**]. A number that contains a half decimal (.5), shall be rounded up (e.g.
[**] would round up to [**]).
5.1.5

5.2

Valid Purchase Orders. Purchase Orders shall: (i) specify the type of Product to be purchased by item/reorder
number; (ii) specify the quantity of each such Product; (iii) specify unique patient identification and
reference to an available CT scan for that unique patient which CT scan is of sufficient quality as determined
by Supplier’s applicable quality standards; (iv) specify the shipping instructions in accordance with the terms
of this Agreement; (v) not result in the amount of Products ordered during the applicable calendar month to
exceed the amount of Products forecasted in the then-current Forecast Report by more than the applicable
Allowable Adjustment; and (vi) is otherwise compliant with this Agreement (e.g., lead time requirements,
pricing) (each such Purchase Order, a “Valid Purchase Order”). Supplier shall provide its written
acceptance or rejection of each Purchase Order submitted by Stryker within [**], and, in the event of
rejection, shall provide to Stryker reasonable detail regarding the basis for rejection of such Purchase Order.
To the extent Supplier provides its written acceptance of a Purchase Order, such Purchase Order shall be
considered a Valid Purchase Order for all purposes hereunder.

Shipment. Supplier shall ship Products on the shipment dates specified in Stryker’s Valid Purchase Orders accepted
by Supplier; provided, however, that (as further detailed below) in no event shall Supplier be required to ship
Product for any given case on a date that is sooner [**] after Stryker’s submission of an applicable Valid Purchase
Order in accordance with Section 5.1.5. “Shipment” of Products under this Agreement shall be deemed to have
occurred when Supplier makes the applicable Products available to Stryker (either directly or at the Sterilizer) in
accordance with this Section 5.2, without consideration of further shipping at Stryker’s cost as described in this
Section 5.2. Products shall be packaged in a form that is in accordance with the Specifications, mutually agreed by
the Parties and suitable for commercial sale. Supplier will ship the Products in accordance with such instructions as
to method of shipment and shipment packaging as Stryker shall specify in its Valid Purchase Order, provided that
[**] shall bear all costs of shipping except for as described in the final sentence of this Section 5.2. If (a) the
Sterilizer is a Third Party, the shipment shall be to the Sterilizer and shall be made available to Stryker
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at the Sterilizer’s facility; and (b) Supplier is the Sterilizer, the Products will be made available at Supplier’s facility,
in each case (a) or (b) within [**] after Stryker’s submission of an applicable Valid Purchase Order in accordance
with Section 5.1.5, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, and provided further that nothing in this sentence shall
relieve Supplier of its obligations to ensure that Products meet Specifications and the Applicable Requirements in
the United States in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, [**].
5.3

Invoicing and Payment. Supplier shall invoice Stryker within [**] of the shipment of the applicable Product with a
complete and correct invoice. Each invoice shall include, at a minimum, the following information: (i) purchase
order number(s), (ii) part number(s), (iii) description of the Product(s) shipped, (iv) quantity of the Product(s)
shipped, (v) unit and extended price applicable, (vi) date(s) that the Product(s) shipped, (vii) Supplier’s packing slip
number(s), (viii) any applicable taxes chargeable under Section 4.2; and (ix) any other charges that have been
approved by Stryker. Stryker shall pay all such invoices by check within [**] of receipt of the invoice. All invoices
must be directed to, and received by Stryker at the invoice address shown on the applicable Purchase Order. No
payment made by Stryker shall be considered an acceptance of satisfactory performance of Supplier’s obligations
under this Agreement, nor shall any payment limit Stryker’s rights to reject Non-Conforming Products (as defined in
Section 5.5) or relieve Supplier from its full responsibility under this Agreement.

5.4

Cancellation of Purchase Orders. Stryker may cancel any Valid Purchase Order in whole or in part without any
penalty or liability if Stryker provides written notice of cancellation to Supplier within [**] of the date of Stryker’s
submission of an applicable Valid Purchase Order. If Stryker provides written notice of cancellation of any Valid
Purchase Order more than [**] from such date, Stryker shall pay $[**] per unit of Product ordered under such
cancelled Valid Purchase Order within [**] of such date of cancellation. If Stryker provides written notice of
cancellation of any Valid Purchase Order in whole or in part after Supplier has shipped the Products ordered under
such Valid Purchase Order, Stryker shall be responsible for [**] of the amount of such Valid Purchase Order subject
to the cancellation. For the purposes of determining when notification of cancellation must be given in this Section
5.4, the time periods described above shall commence at the specific time of day that the applicable Valid Purchase
Order was submitted, and shall end at that same time of day after the number of Business Days indicated (e.g., if a
Valid Purchase Order is submitted by Stryker at 4 p.m. EST on Friday, September 13, 2019, Stryker must provide
written notice of cancellation by 4 p.m. EST on Wednesday, September 18, 2019 in order to cancel without liability).
Valid Purchase Orders submitted outside of the hours of 9 a.m. EST and 6 p.m. EST shall be deemed to have been
made at 9 a.m. EST on the following Business Day., unless such Valid Purchase Order is submitted between the
hours of 12 a.m. EST and 8:59 a.m. EST on a Business Day, in which case such Valid Purchase Order shall be
deemed to have been made at 9 a.m. EST on such Business Day.
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5.5

Non-Conforming Products. In the event of delivery of Non-Conforming Products, Stryker shall, at its election in its
sole discretion [**]: (i) accept the Non-Conforming Products; (ii) notify Supplier in writing that it has delivered
Non-Conforming Products (defined below) and require an immediate repair / replacement at Stryker’s option; or (iii)
reject the Non-Conforming Products. Any notice or rejection under the foregoing (ii) or (iii) must be in a writing
that is reasonably detailed as of the reason(s) the Products constitute Non-Conforming Products. Products are “NonConforming” when the particular Products do not conform to the requirements set forth in the Specifications, this
Agreement, the quantities and shipping terms in any applicable Valid Purchase Order, or the warranties set forth
herein. For clarity, Non-Conforming Products which Stryker accepts under Section 5.5(i) or otherwise uses shall not
count towards calculation of a Supply Failure.

5.6

Replacement by Supplier. Without limiting Stryker’s rights in the event of a Supply Failure or as otherwise set forth
in Section 2.2, in the event that Stryker rejects the Products in accordance with Section 5.5, Supplier shall, at
Stryker’s request, ship replacements of the Non-Conforming Products within [**] of Stryker’s receipt of the
applicable Non-Conforming Products. Upon delivery of the replacement Products, Stryker may then inspect the
Products to determine whether Supplier has cured the non-conformity or non-compliance. In the event that Supplier
has failed to correct the Non-Conforming Products, Stryker may, in its sole discretion, (i) terminate all or a portion
of the Purchase Order related thereto, and receive a refund of the applicable charge already paid, if any, and shall not
be subject to any cancellation payments contemplated by Section 5.4; or (ii) deliver to Supplier additional notices of
non-conformity or non-compliance in accordance with Section 5.5. In all cases, such Non-Conforming Product shall
be credited as a Product for the purposes of calculating Stryker’s Purchase Obligation and the Minimum [**]
Purchase Obligation.

5.7

Replacement by Stryker. Without limiting Stryker’s rights in the event of a Supply Failure or as otherwise set forth
in Section 2.2, in the event that following notice and opportunity to cure, Supplier has attempted and failed to
correct Non-Conforming Products, or Stryker elects to terminate such Purchase Order without replacement by
Supplier, Stryker may, in its sole discretion, manufacture Stryker Products to replace such Non-Conforming
Products, and such Stryker Products shall be deemed Products for purposes of calculating Stryker’s Purchase
Obligation and the Minimum [**] Purchase Obligation, and either invoice Supplier for the incremental cost of
replacing the Non-Conforming Products or set-off the cost of such Stryker Products against any invoice then due
and owing to Supplier. In no event shall Stryker be subject to any cancellation payments contemplated by Section
5.4 in the event of termination of such Purchase Order. For clarity, no representations or warranties of Supplier with
respect to Products shall apply to Stryker Products (in accordance with Section 2.3.4) under any provision of this
Agreement.

5.8

Services.
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6.

5.8.1

During the Supply Term, Supplier shall make available to Stryker or Stryker’s designee each of the services
set forth on Annex I hereto (the “Services”) [**].

5.8.2

Supplier shall (and shall cause its Affiliates to) (i) allocate to the performance of the Services sufficient
personnel with appropriate experience, knowledge and competence, in each case, to provide the Services
with substantially the same quality, care, diligence, service levels and standards as Supplier renders in
relation to similar services within its business; (ii) perform the Services in a timely fashion and in a
reasonable workmanlike manner, and (iii) perform the Services in compliance in all material respects with
any Applicable Laws applicable to such Services. The Parties shall reasonably cooperate with each other in
all matters relating to the provision and receipt of the Services.

5.8.3

Supplier represents and warrants that there is no authorization, consent or approval required by, from or in
respect of any Person in order for Supplier to provide (or cause to be provided) any of the Services. Supplier
represents and warrants that no established policy, or procedure of Supplier will prevent Supplier from
performing Supplier’s obligations hereunder in respect of the Services.

5.8.4

In addition to the documents, data and other information provided in connection with the provision of
Services, each Party shall provide to the other Party such documents, data and other information relating to
the business as reasonably required to comply with the requesting Party’s reporting obligations to
Governmental Entities. To the extent that such provision of any document might otherwise jeopardize any
attorney-client or other legal privilege, the Parties shall enter into a common interest agreement in order to
avoid such jeopardy.

Representations and Warranties and Covenants of Supplier. Supplier hereby represents and warrants to Stryker that:
6.1

Organization; Authority. Supplier is a corporation duly organized and validly existing in good standing under the
laws of the Delaware. Supplier has the power to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement.

6.2

Binding Obligation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Supplier does not, and the performance of its
obligations hereunder will not, violate any provision of the articles of incorporation or bylaws of Supplier or violate
any provisions of, or result in a breach of any of the terms or provisions of or the acceleration of any of the
obligations under, or constitute a default under, any mortgage, lease, agreement, instrument, order, arbitration award,
judgment or decree to which Supplier is a party or to which Supplier or its assets, properties or business are subject.
This Agreement is a valid and binding agreement of Supplier enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.
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6.3

No Other Agreement. Supplier is not party to any agreement with or obligation to any third-party or any other legally
binding commitment of any kind or nature whatsoever that may conflict with, diminish or limit in any manner the
full right and authority of Supplier to perform its covenants under this Agreement. Supplier will not divest itself of
any right now or hereafter possessed where the effect of so doing may be to diminish or impair Stryker’s rights
under this Agreement.

6.4

No Approval. No approval of any person, entity or government authority is necessary with respect to the execution,
delivery and performance by Supplier of this Agreement.

6.5

Product Warranty. Supplier hereby warrants to Stryker that, at the time of shipment to Stryker by Supplier, all
Products and their instructions for use shall conform in all material respects to the requirements of Applicable Laws
and shall not be adulterated or misbranded within the meaning of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act as
amended from time to time (the “Act”, and such warranty, the “Product Warranty”).

6.6

Compliance with Stryker’s Supplier Code of Conduct. Supplier represents and warrants that Supplier and any
Supplier employees and agents shall comply with Stryker’s Supplier Code of Conduct attached hereto as Schedule
6.6. No item or material used by Supplier in its performance hereunder that would result in a separate charge to
Stryker may be obtained from an Affiliate of Supplier without prior written notice to Stryker of such affiliation.

6.7

No Infringement or Misappropriation. Supplier represents and warrants that, to the Knowledge (as defined in the
APA) of Supplier, the manufacture, sale or use of the Products and the resale by Stryker and use thereof by its
customers do not and will not violate, infringe, or misappropriate the Intellectual Property or other proprietary rights
of any third party anywhere in the world, nor has any claim of such infringement been threatened or asserted.

6.8

No Pending Claims or Litigation. Supplier represents and warrants to Stryker that there is no action, suit, claim,
investigation or proceeding pending or, to the best of its knowledge, threatened, against it that, if adversely decided,
is likely to materially and adversely affect Supplier’s: (a) ability to enter into this Agreement; or (b) the performance
of its obligations hereunder.

6.9

Debarment. Supplier represents and warrants that it is not currently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment or
otherwise excluded by any governmental agency from receiving Federal Government or State or local governmental
contracts. Supplier further certifies by accepting this Agreement or any part thereof that Supplier’s employees,
agents, representatives or sub-suppliers assigned to perform Services under this Agreement are not debarred,
suspended, proposed for debarment or otherwise excluded from contracting with the Federal Government or any
State or local government agency. If Supplier’s representation in this Section 6.9 becomes
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untrue for any reason, then Supplier shall promptly notify Stryker in writing of the circumstances that have made
such representation untrue.

7.

6.10

U.S. Immigration Laws. Supplier represents and warrants that to the extent applicable to its performance under this
Agreement, and as required by the United States’ immigration or acquisition laws, including but not limited to the
requirements set out at 48 C.F.R. 52.222-54 (the Federal “E-Verify” program), Supplier and its employees, agents,
and sub-suppliers are entitled to work in the United States, and upon Stryker’s reasonable request, Supplier shall
provide to Stryker documented proof of eligibility to work in the United States for itself and its employees, agents,
and sub-suppliers.

6.11

Solvency. Supplier (a) is not insolvent because its financial condition is such that the sum of its debts is greater than
the fair market value of its assets or because the fair value of its assets is less than the amount required to pay its
liabilities on its existing debts as they mature; (b) has sufficient capital with which to engage in its business; and (c)
has not and, to its knowledge as informed by its current business plans, shall not incur debts beyond its ability to pay
as they become due.

6.12

Compliance with Applicable Requirements. [**], Supplier represents and warrants that [**], all Patient-Specific
Instrumentation developed, manufactured and distributed by Supplier has been developed, manufactured, and
distributed in material compliance with Applicable Requirements. Supplier further represents and warrants that
Products shall be manufactured, inspected and supplied in accordance with the Applicable Requirements in the
United States. No later than [**] after the Effective Date, Supplier shall deliver to Stryker a DVD ROM disc (or
similar media) containing a digital copy of all of the materials included in the data room established by Supplier and
made available to Stryker.

6.13

Warranties Cumulative. The warranties provided herein are cumulative of and in addition to any other warranties
agreed to by Supplier under the Related Agreements.

6.14

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION 6 AND SECTION 11, NEITHER PARTY MAKES
ANY WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, WHETHER WRITTEN, ORAL, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, NON-INFRINGEMENT OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR
PURPOSE.

Quality and Inspection.
7.1

Manufacturing Standards. Supplier agrees to undertake and to cause its suppliers to undertake such quality control
and inspection procedures as required by the FDA. Supplier will manufacture the Products in accordance with the
Current Good Manufacturing Practice (“CGMP”) requirements set forth in the Quality System Regulation
promulgated pursuant to applicable provisions of the Act and in compliance with the Quality Management System
requirements of ISO 13485:2003
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standard and with the Stryker Quality Systems Program, a copy of which has been previously furnished to Supplier,
and amendments or modifications thereof that may hereafter be furnished to Supplier at least [**] prior to their
effectiveness. Each shipment of Products shall be accompanied by a certificate of inspection executed by the
appropriate person at Supplier for the relevant manufacturing lot and stating that the Products meet all applicable
standards required to meet the Specifications. Supplier will cause its suppliers to undertake such quality control and
inspection procedures as set forth in this Agreement. Supplier further agrees to provide and to cause its suppliers to
provide Stryker with any manufacturing data that Stryker may at any time be required to submit to the FDA, Health
Canada, Therapeutic Goods Administration, Medsafe, all European Competent Authorities or any other applicable
regulatory body.
7.2

Compliance with Materials Declaration Requirements. Supplier and any Supplier facility, equipment, employees,
sub-suppliers and agents shall comply with Materials Declaration Requirements (defined below) as applicable at all
times during its performance under this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, “Materials Declaration
Requirements” shall mean: any applicable requirements, obligations, standards, duties or responsibilities pursuant
to any environmental, product composition and/or materials declaration laws, directives, or regulations; and any
regulations, interpretive guidance or enforcement policies related to any of the foregoing, including for example: the
California Electronic Waste Recycling Act of 2003; and/or other similar U.S. legislation, and/or other similar
environmental and/or materials declaration laws, directives, regulations and requirements, as amended from time to
time.

7.3

Quality Assurance Requirements. Contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement, Supplier and Stryker
are entering into an agreement with respect to quality assurance in the provision of the Products the terms of which
are incorporated herein and made a part hereof by this reference (the “Quality Agreement”). Supplier and any
Supplier facility, equipment, employees, sub-suppliers and agents shall at all times comply with and provide all
Products set forth in this Agreement in accordance with the Quality Agreement.

7.4

Inspections and Audits. Stryker’s audit rights under Section 9.2 shall include the right to inspect and audit Supplier’s
manufacturing facilities and processes and review its compliance and product complaint records applicable to the
Products. Additionally, Supplier will reasonably cooperate in good faith with Stryker’s efforts to perform analogous
inspections and audits with respect to Supplier’s applicable suppliers. Stryker agrees to work with Supplier in order
to assist its continued compliance with CGMP and the Quality Agreement, but responsibility therefor shall remain
with Supplier. Supplier further agrees to provide and to use reasonable good faith efforts to cause its suppliers to
provide Stryker with any manufacturing data that Stryker may at any time be required to submit to the FDA.
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8.

Product Labeling; Product Literature.
8.1

9.

The Products shall be labeled as mutually agreed between the Parties upon completion of the activities described in
the Development Agreement, and advertised under Stryker’s name, provided that the statement “Manufactured by
Conformis”, or variations thereof acceptable to Stryker shall appear on any printed material related thereto if and to
the extent required by Applicable Laws. Supplier shall provide Stryker reasonable inputs to formulate instructions
for use (“IFU”) to be included with its applicable Triathlon product, to the extent such IFU addresses the applicable
Product. With respect to the Products, Supplier shall be responsible for submitting to the FDA’s Global Unique
Device Identifier Database (GUDID), maintaining submissions and ensuring that the device and package label bears
the UDI through application of Global GS1 standards. Otherwise with respect to Stryker’s Triathlon product, Stryker
shall be responsible for submitting to the FDA’s Global Unique Device Identifier Database (GUDID), maintaining
submissions and ensuring that the device and package label bears the UDI through application of Global GS1
standards, subject to Supplier’s provision of reasonable information and assistance with respect to the Products.

Regulatory Approvals; Audits; Complaints, Adverse Event Reporting and Recalls.
9.1

Regulatory Approvals. Supplier shall obtain and/or maintain 510(k) clearances and all other legal and regulatory
acceptances and approvals that are required for the marketing of the Products in the United States. Supplier shall
comply with any future requirements imposed by the FDA in order that the Products may be freely marketed in the
United States during the Term. Stryker shall provide such assistance from time to time as Supplier reasonably
requests in connection with such regulatory compliance in respect of the Products. Supplier shall retain exclusive
ownership and responsibility for all governmental marketing authorizations with respect to the Products in the rest
of the Territory. For clarity, Supplier have no obligation with regard to ex-US marketing authorizations unless
mutually agreed by the Parties in accordance with Section 2.1.

9.2

Audits. Stryker shall have the right, upon reasonable advanced written notice to Supplier, to inspect and audit the
facilities being used by Supplier for the matters described in Section 7.4 and the production and storage of the
Products to assure compliance by Supplier (and its suppliers) with: GMP (21 CFR Part 820); ISO 13485:2003 under
United States Quality Management System; ISO 13485:2003 and the Quality Agreement; other applicable rules and
regulations; and the requirements of this Agreement. Additionally, Supplier will reasonably cooperate in good faith
with Stryker’s efforts to perform analogous inspections and audits with respect to Supplier’s applicable Third Party
suppliers. Supplier shall notify Stryker within [**] of FDA or any government regulatory inspections or actions
relative to Products, goods or services supplied to Stryker. Supplier shall maintain on file all manufacturing and
inspection records of all Products or other goods supplied to
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Stryker for a minimum of [**] or for the time period specified under the Quality Agreement unless otherwise agreed
in writing, whichever is longer. All applicable files will be made available to Stryker within a [**] period. Supplier
shall, within [**], remedy or cause the remedy of any deficiencies which may be noted in any such audit or, if any
such deficiencies cannot reasonably be remedied within the [**] period, present to Stryker a written plan to remedy
such deficiencies which shall include a timeline for remedying such deficiencies; and the failure by Supplier to
remedy or cause the remedy of any such deficiencies within such [**] period or to present such a plan within such
[**] period and then use its best efforts to remedy or cause the remedy of such deficiencies in accordance with such
written plan, as the case may be, shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement. Supplier acknowledges that
the provisions of this Section 9.2 granting Stryker certain audit rights shall in no way relieve Supplier of its
obligations under this Agreement, nor shall such provisions require Stryker to conduct any such audits.
9.3

Complaints, Adverse Event Reporting and Recalls.
9.3.1

Supplier, at its expense, shall be responsible for the prompt review, evaluation and documentation of all
complaints relating to Products. Stryker shall forward to Supplier all complaints received concerning the
Products, including all reports of serious injury, product malfunction or other adverse events. Stryker shall
cooperate, as appropriate, with Supplier’s investigation of complaints. Supplier shall comply with the FDA
medical device reporting (MDR) regulations (21 CFR Part 803) for all adverse event reports. The Supplier
and its U.S. agent are required to file mandatory problem reports.

9.3.2

Each Party agrees that if it discovers or becomes aware of any fact, condition, circumstance or event
(whether actual or potential) concerning or related to the Products which may reasonably require a medical
device report, a recall or market withdrawal of the Products, that it shall promptly communicate such fact,
condition, circumstance or event to the other Party within [**]. In the event: (a) any governmental entity or
regulatory body requests that the Products be recalled; (b) a court of competent jurisdiction orders such a
recall; or (c) either Party determines that the Products should be recalled or withdrawn from the market as a
result of a safety or regulatory concern, the Parties shall take all appropriate remedial actions with respect to
such recall or withdrawal of the Products. Except as otherwise provided herein, Supplier shall be responsible
for all medical device reporting, vigilance reporting and recalls associated with the Products, and Supplier
shall be the primary contact person for any communications to any governmental entity, regulatory body, the
media and customers concerning the recall or remedial action.

9.3.3

With respect to reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses associated with a Product recall,
including but not limited to, preparing customer lists and letters, mailing expenses, media notices or other
public
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announcements and any other necessary notices, legal and/or regulatory counsel, and destruction, return,
repair, and/or replacement of the recalled or withdrawn Products, including the cost of shipping and freight:
(1) Supplier shall be responsible for such recall expenses to the extent that the recall was necessitated by a
breach of the Product Warranty; and (2) Stryker shall be responsible for such recall expenses to the extent
that the recall was necessitated by the manner in which Stryker marketed and sold the Products. Stryker shall
provide such cooperation as Supplier may reasonably request in connection with any Product recall or
withdrawal. Stryker shall not recall any Product without the Supplier’s previous written approval, provided
such approval shall not be unreasonably restricted or withheld.
9.3.4

10.

Supplier shall number Products in order that they may be traced back to the manufacturing lot in the case of
a recall. Stryker also shall maintain a system for the traceability of all Products shipped from Stryker’s stock
to end users. The system will, at a minimum, comprise dates, catalogue numbers and lot numbers of each
shipment, and such information shall be available at any time upon Supplier’s reasonable request and shall
comply with the Unique Device Identifier (“UDI”) requirements as set forth in the FDA UDI rule, as
amended, 21 CFR Part 830. Such data shall be maintained by Stryker and made available to Supplier upon
request for [**], whether or not this Agreement remains in effect.

Indemnification; Insurance.
10.1

Supplier Indemnification. Supplier shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Stryker Indemnified Parties from
and against any and all Claims against the Stryker Indemnified Parties, including all damages, collateral damages
and settlements arising therefrom and reasonable attorney’s fees and litigation expenses related thereto, to the extent
arising from: (i) the infringement, misappropriation or violation of any Intellectual Property or proprietary right of a
Third Party attributable to the manufacture, sale or use of the Products (or, solely in respect of a breach of Section
3.2 of the Development Agreement, the Stryker Products) in accordance with this Agreement, the Related
Agreements and Applicable Law; (ii) the negligent, grossly negligent or intentionally wrongful acts or omissions of
Supplier, its employees, consultants, Agents and Affiliates in their performance hereunder; (iii) any portion of a
Claim alleging personal injury on account of product liability attributable to a Product; (iv) the violation by Supplier,
its employees, consultants, Agents and Affiliates in their performance hereunder of any Applicable Law including
but not limited to such Applicable Law governing the transportation, handling, disposal or processing of regulated
materials; (v) any breach of Supplier’s representations and warranties or covenants hereunder; (vi) a claim of any
lien, security interest or other encumbrance made by a Third Party with respect to the Products that is a result of
Supplier’s conduct; and (vii) Supplier’s failure to comply with the confidentiality obligations set forth in Section 15
of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to
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the contrary, Claims arising as a result of design defects with respect to the Products in respect of any design
element in existence as of the date of 510(k) clearance by the FDA of the Product are not encompassed by this
Section 10.1 and are covered solely under Section 7.3(a)(iv) the Development Agreement.
10.2

Supplier’s Infringement Rights. In case the Product, or any part thereof, is alleged or held to constitute an
infringement, Supplier may, [**], at its own expense either; (i) procure for itself, Stryker and/or Stryker’s customer,
the right to continue using the Product; (ii) replace the same with non-infringing Product, provided that such
replacement Product shall not differ functionally in material respects from the Product previously supplied; or (iii)
modify the Product so that it becomes non-infringing, provided that such modified Product shall not differ
functionally in material respects from the Product previously supplied.

10.3

Joint Liability. To the extent that Stryker, on the one hand, and Supplier, on the other hand, each has indemnification
obligations to the other in connection with a single Claim, they will contribute to the aggregate damages, liabilities,
costs and expenses arising from such Claim in a proportion reflecting the relative and comparative responsibilities
and determined liability of the Parties for such damages, liabilities, costs and expenses, as well as any other relevant
equitable considerations. The amount paid or payable by a Party for purposes of apportioning the aggregate
damages, liabilities, costs and expenses shall be deemed to include all reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred
by such Party in connection with investigating, preparing for or defending against such Claim.

10.4

Exceptions to Supplier Indemnity Obligations. Supplier shall have no obligation or liability with respect to any
Claim under Section 10.1(iii) to the extent directly arising out of or relating to: [**].

10.5

Stryker Indemnification. Stryker shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Conformis Indemnified Parties from
and against any and all Claims, including all damages and settlements arising therefrom and reasonable attorney’s
fees and litigation expenses related thereto, against the Conformis Indemnified Parties to the extent arising from: (i)
any portion of a Claim alleging personal injury on account of product liability attributable to Triathlon or (without
limiting Stryker’s rights under Section 7.3(a) of the Development Agreement) a Stryker Product, or any other
products supplied by Stryker or its Affiliates (other than the Products); (ii) the negligent, grossly negligent or
intentionally wrongful acts or omissions of Stryker and its Affiliates, and their respective employees, consultants,
Agents and Affiliates; (iii) any breach of Stryker’s representations, warranties or covenants hereunder; (iv) failure to
comply with the confidentiality obligations set forth in Section 15 of this Agreement; and (v) [**].

10.6

Product Liability Claims. With respect to any Claims either against the Stryker Indemnified Parties under Section
10.1(iii) or against the Conformis Indemnified Parties under Section 10.5(i) (each such Claim, a “Product Liability
Claim”), with
-26-

respect to any such Product Liability Claim which expressly sets forth causes of action predicated upon both the
basis set forth in Section 10.1(iii) and the basis set forth in Section 10.5(i), the Parties shall, to the extent possible,
meet and discuss their mutual interest in the defense or outcome of such potential dispute and cooperate in good
faith to develop the appropriate course of action.
10.7

Indemnification Procedure. Claims for indemnification under this Agreement shall be governed by the
indemnification procedures set forth in Section 5.5 of the Asset Purchase Agreement.

10.8

Supplier Insurance. Supplier hereby covenants to maintain, at a minimum, the following policies of insurance during
the Supply Term: (i) general liability insurance, including products liability coverage, in a minimum amount of $[**]
per occurrence and $[**] in the aggregate annually, with deductibles not exceeding $[**] per occurrence that
provides coverage for the Products and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) Worker’s
Compensation insurance in accordance with all applicable federal and state laws subject to statutory limits (US
only); (iii) Employer’s Liability insurance with limits of not less than $[**] per accident for bodily injury and $[**]
per employee and policy limit for disease (US) or the local statutory limit, whichever is greater; (iv) Umbrella or
Excess Liability insurance, with a limit of not less than $[**] per occurrence and annual aggregate. Such insurance
shall include, at a minimum, the Employer’s Liability and Commercial General Liability insurance policies required
herein as scheduled underlyers. The insurance requirements set forth in this Section 10.8(i) through (iv) shall
hereinafter be referred to as “Required Insurance”.

10.9

Supplier Insurance (cont.). The Required Insurance set forth above must include a waiver of subrogation in favor of
Stryker and must: (i) include Stryker as an additional insured; (ii) include an Indemnity to Principal clause in favor
of Stryker; or (iii) otherwise extend Supplier’s insurance to Stryker with respect to losses arising out of negligence in
Supplier’s performance or assumption of liabilities under this Agreement. The Required Insurance by occurrence
based and shall be primary and shall not contribute with any insurance maintained by Stryker. The Required
Insurance must not be canceled or materially changed without at least [**] prior written notice to Stryker. The
Required Insurance shall be provided by insurers with an A.M. Best rating of not less than A- / VIII. If, at any time,
Supplier neglects or refuses to provide or cause to be provided any Required Insurance, or if any Required Insurance
is canceled or exhausted, Stryker shall have the right (but not the duty) to procure such insurance and the cost
thereof shall be deducted from monies then due or that thereafter become due to Supplier. Supplier warrants that
Stryker shall be provided with [**] prior written notice of cancellation of such insurance coverages while this
Agreement is in effect. The insurance requirements hereunder shall not to be construed in any way as a limitation of
liability or responsibility of Supplier under this Agreement. Prior to commencing work and periodically thereafter as
may be required, Supplier shall have its insurance carrier, agent or broker furnish Stryker
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with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory documentation evidencing that all of the Required Insurance is in
force.
11.

12.

13.

Representations; Warranties and Covenants of Stryker. Stryker hereby represents and warrants to Supplier that:
11.1

Organization. Stryker is division of Stryker Corporation, a corporation duly organized and validly existing in good
standing under the laws of the State of Michigan.

11.2

Binding Obligation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Stryker does not, and the performance of its
obligations hereunder will not, violate any provision of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Stryker or
violate any provisions of, or result in a breach of any of the terms or provisions of or the acceleration of any of the
obligations under, or constitute a default under, any mortgage, lease, agreement, instrument, order, arbitration award,
judgment or decree to which Stryker is a party or to which Stryker or its assets, properties or business are subject.
This Agreement is a valid and binding agreement of Stryker enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.

11.3

No Other Agreement. Stryker is not party to any agreement with or obligation to any third-party or any other legally
binding commitment of any kind or nature whatsoever that may conflict with, diminish or limit in any manner the
full right and authority of Stryker to perform its covenants under this Agreement.

11.4

No Approval. No approval of any person, entity or government authority is necessary with respect to the execution,
delivery and performance by Stryker of this Agreement.

11.5

Compliance with Applicable Laws. Stryker represents, warrants and covenants that it will market, promote and sell
the Products in accordance with all Applicable Laws and any applicable approvals by regulatory bodies, including
the FDA, in all material respects.

Other Stryker Obligations. Stryker hereby covenants to Supplier that:
12.1

Proprietary Markings. Stryker agrees not to remove patent or copyright markings placed upon or contained within
the Products, unless approved in writing by the Supplier.

12.2

Stryker will, and will cause its Affiliates to, maintain the Products, prior to their use, in a facility that is properly
equipped to store such Products in accordance with the applicable Product labeling, and will maintain such Product
in accordance with the Specifications and Applicable Laws.

Term and Termination.
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13.1

Term. Unless earlier terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, the term of this Agreement
shall commence on the Effective Date and shall end on December 31, 2031 (the “Term”); provided however, that
this Agreement shall remain in effect with respect to any Valid Purchase Order then in effect at the time of such
termination until performance and payment thereunder are completed in accordance with this Agreement, unless or
until such Valid Purchase Order is itself terminated in accordance with this Agreement. The supply term shall
commence upon the First Commercial Sale of the Product and shall end upon the later to occur of (a) the fifth (5th)
anniversary of such First Commercial Sale of the Product (the “Exclusive Supply Term”), or (b) the expiration of
the last Renewal Term (such period described in clauses (a) or (b), the “Supply Term”). Following the expiration of
the Exclusive Supply Term, Stryker shall have the sole option to extend the Supply Term, at its discretion, through
the addition of additional one year periods (each, a “Renewal Term”) through December 31, 2031 by giving written
notice at least [**] prior to the expiration of the Supply Term or then-current Renewal Term (such renewal terms,
collectively, the “Non-exclusive Supply Term”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Stryker’s obligations under
Section 2.3.3 shall persist for the entire Term after the Exclusive Supply Term unless this Agreement is terminated
by Stryker in accordance with its terms, it being deemed that Stryker has elected Section 2.3.3.1(b) for any periods
during the Term after both the Supply Term and the Non-exclusive Supply Term have expired.

13.2

Termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement may be terminated:
(i)

By either Party for the other Party’s material breach of this Agreement, unless the breaching Party
shall have corrected such breach within [**] from the receipt by it of written notice thereof from the
non-breaching Party;

(ii)

By either Party if an Insolvency Event occurs with respect to the other Party, provided that, no
termination right shall exist in respect of an Insolvency Event that is a chapter 11 case under the
Bankruptcy Code if the Party subject to such chapter 11 case (x) continues to perform all of its
material obligations under this Agreement, (y) does not seek to reject this Agreement or take any
action in such chapter 11 case to disavow or undermine the rights of the other Party under this
Agreement, and (z) assumes this Agreement on or before any deadline in such chapter 11 case for
such assumption; notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall limit or prevent the Party not
subject to an Insolvency Event from objecting to assumption or assumption and assignment of this
Agreement or requiring cure payments or adequate assurance of future performance as a condition of
assumption or assumption and assignment;
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13.3

(iii)

By Supplier if governmental regulatory requirements make manufacture or supply of Products
unlawful;

(iv)

By Stryker if governmental regulatory requirements make registration or marketing of Products
unlawful;

(v)

By Stryker in the event of a Supply Failure; and

(vi)

Automatically, without further action by either Party, in the event the Development Agreement is
terminated prior to Acceptance of all Deliverables for Milestones #1 and #2 pursuant to Section 3.4
thereunder (as such terms are defined in the Development Agreement).

Consequences of Termination.
13.3.1 General. The termination of this Agreement shall not release Supplier from its obligation to deliver all
Products theretofore ordered by Stryker under Valid Purchase Orders, and Stryker’s corresponding obligation
to pay Supplier for such Products. In the event this Agreement is cancelled, terminated or allowed to expire
for any reason, Stryker shall be entitled to sell off any remaining inventory of Products. Supplier shall not be
obligated to repurchase Products from Stryker.
13.3.2 Termination Assistance. Provided that this Agreement is terminated after the commencement of the Supply
Term, on notice from Stryker to Supplier after a determination that an expiration or termination of this
Agreement will occur, then beginning on the effective date of the expiration or termination of this
Agreement, Supplier shall assist Stryker in completing the Technology Transfer, if the Technology Transfer
has not been completed as of such date in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.5.
13.3.3 Survival. Sections 1 (Definitions), 2.5 (Technology Transfer), 6 (Representation and Warranties), 7 (Quality
and Inspection) (to the extent applicable in connection with Supplier’s fulfillment of Products ordered under
Valid Purchase Orders prior to termination), 10 (Indemnification; Insurance), 11 (Representations;
Warranties and Covenants of Stryker), 13 (Term and Termination), 14 (Unforeseen Events) (to the extent
applicable in connection with Supplier’s fulfillment of Products ordered under Valid Purchase Orders prior to
termination), 15 (Confidentiality), 16 (Limitation of Liability), 17 (Notices), 19 (Entire Agreement and Third
Party Beneficiaries), 20 (Effect), 21 (Governing Law), 22 (Severability of Provisions), 23 (Waiver of
Default), 24 (Assignments), 25 (Amendments and Waivers), 27 (Agency), 28 (Jointly Prepared), 29
(Expenses) and 30 (Rules of Construction) shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement.
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13.3.4 Return or Destruction of Confidential Information. Solely with respect to Confidential Information in which
a Party has no ownership interest at all, owned or co-owned Confidential Information being exempt
herefrom, upon termination of this Agreement, unless independently authorized to retain such of the
Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information under a Related Agreement, each Receiving Party shall, and
shall direct its Representatives to, cease all use and make no further use of any Confidential Information of
the Disclosing Party and shall, upon written request from the Disclosing Party, promptly return or destroy all
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party (including copies thereof) that is in tangible form (provided,
however, that, with respect to electronic imaging of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information, such
materials shall be deleted and removed from access by an ordinary user from all computer hard drives,
servers and similar media but shall not require any action to delete or erase such materials from any disaster
recovery tapes or other back-up media or any record retention or computer storage system so long as the
Receiving Party and its Representatives take such actions as are reasonably likely to prevent access to such
materials by any person other than information technology and other administrative employees who are
responsible for maintaining those disaster recovery tapes and other back-up media) and any documents
created by the Receiving Party or any of its Representatives containing Confidential Information of the
Disclosing Party. The Receiving Party shall provide to the Disclosing Party written certification of destroyed
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party promptly following the destruction thereof.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Receiving Party and its Representatives may retain one copy of any
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party in a secure location in the Receiving Party's legal
department for the purpose of establishing compliance with Applicable Laws (including professional
standards) and for defending or maintaining any litigation (including any administrative proceeding) relating
to this Agreement, the Related Agreements, the Prior CDA or the Confidential Information, provided that all
such information shall continue to be kept confidential pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
14.

Unforeseen Occurrences.
14.1

In the event that either Party is unable to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, or to enjoy any of its
benefits because of fire, natural disaster, action or decrees of Governmental Entities or any other event not within
such Party’s reasonable control (a “Force Majeure Event”), the Party who has been so affected shall immediately
give written notice to the other Party and shall do everything reasonably possible to resume performance. Upon
receipt of such notice, all obligations under the Agreement shall be immediately suspended. If the period of
nonperformance exceeds [**] from the receipt of notice of the Force Majeure Event, the Party whose ability to
perform has not been so affected may, by giving written
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notice, terminate the Agreement. Delays in delivery due to Force Majeure Events shall automatically extend the
delivery date for a period equal to the duration of such Force Majeure Events. Any acceptance or warranty period
affected by a Force Majeure Event shall likewise be extended for a period equal to the duration of such Force
Majeure Event. As applied to this Section 14 and to determine whether an event is reasonably beyond control of a
Party, materials shortages, strikes, slowdowns, other labor related delays or events resulting from a Party’s, its
Affiliates or their respective agents negligence, gross negligence, fraud or intentional misconduct are not Force
Majeure Events.
14.2

Notwithstanding the provisions set forth in Section 14.1, above, a Force Majeure Event shall not include any
governmental action of an enforcement nature that arises from or relates to Supplier’s failure to comply with any
federal, national, state, provincial, international, or local law, statute, regulation or ordinance applicable to Supplier’s
performance hereunder or Supplier’s manufacture, storage or handling of Products or materials associated with such
performance.

15.

Confidentiality. The provisions of Sections 4.3(a)-(i) of Article 4 of the Asset Purchase Agreement are incorporated herein
as if fully set forth herein.

16.

Limitation of Liability.
16.1

Disclaimer. EXCEPT FOR [**], IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY
FOR [**], EVEN IF SUCH PARTY WAS ADVISED OR AWARE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

16.2

LIABILITY CAP.
16.2.1 EXCEPT FOR ([**], UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL [**] AGGREGATE LIABILITY FOR
DAMAGES IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT EXCEED $[**].
16.2.2 UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL [**] AGGREGATE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN
CONNECTION WITH CLAIMS [**]INCLUDING WITH RESPECT TO [**]. If [**], Supplier’s obligation
under Section [**] shall be of [**] and Supplier shall have [**]. Any [**], whether before or after the
Effective Date and whether or not [**], shall be [**].

17.

Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications to be given pursuant to the terms of this Agreement will
be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given if delivered by hand, sent by e-mail, sent by a nationally
recognized overnight mail service, or mailed first class, postage prepaid:
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If to Stryker:
Howmedica Osteonics Corp.
c/o
Stryker Corporation
2825 Airview Boulevard
Kalamazoo, Michigan 49002
Attn: General Counsel
E-mail: [**]
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Ropes & Gray LLP
Prudential Tower
800 Boylston Street
Boston, MA 02199
Attn: Michael D. Beauvais
E-mail: Michael.Beauvais@ropesgray.com

If to Supplier:
Conformis, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer and General Counsel
600 Technology Park Drive
Billerica, MA 01821
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
WilmerHale
Attn: Jason Kropp, Esq.
60 State Street
Boston, MA 02109
Any Party may change its address, telephone number, or facsimile number by prior written notice to the other Parties.
18.

Negotiation in Event of Dispute. In the event of any dispute or disagreement between any of the Parties as to the
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement or any agreement incorporated herein, the performance of obligations
hereunder or thereunder, or any other disputed matter relating hereto or thereto, such matter, upon the written request of any
Party, will be referred to an executive of each Party. Such executives will promptly meet in good faith to resolve the dispute.
If the executives do not agree upon a decision within thirty calendar days after the reference of the matter to them, any Party
will be free to exercise any remedies available to it.
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19.

Entire Agreement and Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including the Related Agreements) contains the entire
agreement by and among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and there are no agreements, understandings,
representations or warranties between the Parties other than those set forth or referred to herein. This Agreement is not
intended to confer upon any Person not a party (or their successors and assigns permitted by Section 24), and to the extent
expressly provided, their Affiliates, Agents, employees and representatives, any rights or remedies hereunder, except that
Section 10.1 and Section 10.5 hereof are intended to benefit, and to be enforceable by, any of the Stryker Indemnified
Parties or Conformis Indemnified Parties, as applicable, therein described.

20.

Effect. The terms of this Distribution Agreement are intended to be consistent with and supplement the terms of the Quality
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of any conflict between terms in this Distribution Agreement (as
amended), the Quality Agreement (as amended), or any Valid Purchase Order, then the documents shall govern in this order:
(i) the Quality Agreement (as amended); and (ii) this Agreement (as amended) and (iii) any Valid Purchase Order.

21.

Governing Law and Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State
of New York (without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof). Subject to Section 18, the federal and state Courts
of New York State shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, Action or proceedings, and to settle any
disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this Agreement; provided, however, that each Party shall have the
right to institute judicial proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction against the other Party or anyone acting by,
through or under the other Party, in order to enforce an Order entered by federal or state courts of New York. Each Party
shall cause its applicable permitted Third Party sublicensees and Affiliates receiving any rights or benefits (including the
receipt of any Confidential Information) in connection with this Agreement to be bound by this Section 21 prior to their
exercise of any such rights or receipt of any such benefits. If such Party fails to comply with the foregoing sentence with
respect to any such Third Party or Affiliate, the other Party shall have the right to seek relief in any court of competent
jurisdiction in connection with any dispute involving such Third Party or Affiliate.

22.

Severability of Provisions. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or
unenforceability of any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof. If any term or
other provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any circumstance, is invalid, illegal or
unenforceable by a Court of competent jurisdiction, (a) a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in
order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision
and (b) the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such provision to other Persons or circumstances shall not be
affected by such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability, nor shall such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability affect the
validity or enforceability of such provision, or the application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.
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23.

Waiver of Default. Failure of either Party at any time to require performance of any provision of this Agreement shall not
affect the right to require full performance thereof at any time thereafter. The waiver of any default under this Agreement by
either Party shall not constitute a waiver of any rights for any subsequent default.

24.

Assignments. A Party shall not have the right to assign any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement (whether
through a merger, sale of stock, or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other Party; except that, either Party
shall be permitted, without any need for the other Party’s consent, to assign this Agreement (a) in whole or in part to an
Affiliate (provided, however, that once such Person is no longer an Affiliate of the assigning Party, such former Affiliate
shall assign this Agreement back to the assigning Party), provided that the assigning Party provides the other Party notice of
any such assignment; provided further that failure to provide such notice of such assignment shall not render such
assignment void; or (b) to a Third Party in connection with sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assigning Party’s
business or assets relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, whether by Change of Control, merger, sale of assets or
otherwise; provided, however, that, with respect to clause (b), (i) any assignment of this Agreement shall be void and have
no effect unless and until the assignee assumes the obligations of the assigning Party in a written instrument, a copy of
which is provided to the other Party; and (ii) any assignment in whole or in part shall not relieve the assigning Party of its
obligations hereunder. If and to the extent that a Party assigns any of its rights and/or obligations hereunder in accordance
with this Section 24, then this Agreement shall be binding upon the assignee to the same extent as if it were a Party hereto.
Any assignment not in accordance with this Section 24 shall be void.

25.

Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement and the Schedules hereto constitute the entire agreement between Stryker and
Supplier with respect to the subject matter hereof and may not be modified or amended except by an instrument or
instruments in writing signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any such modification or amendment is sought.
Supplier may waive compliance by Stryker or Stryker may waive compliance by Supplier with any term or provision of this
Agreement on the part of such Party to be performed or complied with, but only by an instrument in writing. The waiver by
any Party of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement will not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent
breach.

26.

Counterparts and Electronic Transmission. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which will
be considered one and the same agreement, and will become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by
each of the Parties and delivered to the other Party. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile or e-mail
transmission with the same effect as if a manually signed original was personally delivered.

27.

Agency. Neither this Agreement nor any of the Related Agreements creates any partnership, agency or other relationship
among the Parties for any purpose, including for all tax purposes. No Party is granted any right or authority to assume or to
create any obligation or responsibility on behalf or in the name of the other Party or to bind the other Party in any manner
whatsoever.
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28.

Jointly Prepared. This Agreement has been prepared jointly and shall not be strictly construed against any Party.

29.

Expenses. Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement and the Related Agreements, all legal and other costs and
expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby will be paid by the Party
incurring such costs and expenses.

30.

Rules of Construction. As used in this Agreement, the words “include”, “includes” and “including” means “including
without limitation”, and no inferences or conclusions of any sort shall be drawn from the fact that in some instances in this
Agreement the words “include”, “includes” and “including” are actually followed by the phrase “without limitation” or the
equivalent while in other instances they are not. Except where the context expressly requires otherwise, the use of any
gender herein will be deemed to encompass references to any gender, and the use of the singular will be deemed to include
the plural (and vice versa).
***
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The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

HOWMEDICA OSTEONICS CORP.

CONFORMIS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Spencer Stiles
Spencer Stiles
Group President, Orthopaedics and Spine

/s/ Mark A. Augusti
Mark A. Augusti
President and CEO

[Signature Page to Distribution Agreement]

Execution Version
Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause
competitive harm to the Company, if publicly disclosed. Double asterisks denote omissions.

LICENSE AGREEMENT
This License Agreement (“this Agreement”) is entered into and effective as of the Closing Date (“Effective Date”) by and
between Howmedica Osteonics Corp., a New Jersey corporation, also known as Stryker Orthopaedics (“Stryker”), and Conformis,
Inc., a Delaware corporation having a principal place of business located at 600 Technology Park Drive, Billerica, MA 01821
(“Conformis”). Stryker and Conformis are collectively referred to as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party.”
WHEREAS, the Parties are concurrently entering into an asset purchase agreement for Stryker’s purchase of certain
Conformis assets relating to Patient-Specific Instrumentation (“Asset Purchase Agreement”), and a Development Agreement, a
Distribution Agreement and a Quality Agreement, as defined in and attached to the Asset Purchase Agreement; (collectively, such
agreements are referred to herein as the “Other Agreements”).
WHEREAS, Stryker and its Affiliates have developed and commercialized Off-The-Shelf Knee Implants.
WHEREAS, Conformis currently offers Patient-Specific Instrumentation for use with its Patient-Specific Implants,
including partial and total knee and hip arthroplasty.
WHEREAS, Stryker desires that Conformis develop, in accordance with the Development Agreement, the KIB Product.
THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual representations, warranties and covenants herein and in the Other
Agreements constituting good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties
hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
1.1

Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings, and to the extent

not defined in this section or otherwise in this Agreement, a term shall have the meaning ascribed to it in any of the Other
Agreements:
“Acceptance” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
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"Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Agents" has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
"Applicable Laws" has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Asset Purchase Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
“Capture Period” shall mean the period of time up to the earliest to occur of: (a) the conclusion of the final day of the [**]
of the Supply Term; or (b) [**] after Conclusion of Development Activities, if the Supply Term has not yet commenced as of such
date; or (c) the [**].
“Change of Control” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Conclusion of Development Activities” means Stryker’s Acceptance of all Deliverables for Milestones #1 and #2 and the
completion of Milestone #3 under the Development Agreement.
"Confidential Information" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Conformis Background IP” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Conformis Foreground IP” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Court” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Deliverables” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Development Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
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“Disclosing Party” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Distribution Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Embodiments” has the meaning set forth in Article 6.1 of this Agreement.
“Insolvency Event” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.
“Intellectual Property” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

“Joint IP” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.

“KIB Product” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.

“License” means the licenses granted under Section 2.1 of this Agreement.

“Licensed Other IP” means, in each case with the exclusion of Patents and Trademarks: (i) any Conformis Background IP
and Conformis Foreground IP, in each case solely to the extent Conformis incorporates such Conformis Background IP or
Conformis Foreground IP into any Deliverable under the Development Agreement; (ii) the Transfer Materials provided by
Conformis to Stryker under the Distribution Agreement and all Intellectual Property rights underlying such Transfer Materials that
are owned or licensable by Conformis without causing a breach of, or incurrence of any obligation to, a Third Party; and (iii) any
other Conformis Background IP and Conformis Foreground IP which is provided by Conformis to Stryker in the course of
performing activities under the Development Agreement or Distribution Agreement for purposes of enabling Stryker to
manufacture the KIB Product.
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“Licensed Patents” means Patents owned by Conformis or licenseable by Conformis without causing a breach of, or
incurrence of any obligation to, a Third Party, in each case that have an effective filing date during the Capture Period and which
would, without the License, be infringed by the (i) manufacture, use, sale, offer for sale or import of Patient-Specific
Instrumentation for Triathlon products, including the KIB Product, and (ii) use of the Software Code, Manufacturing Documents or
Joint IP for the Permitted Use.

“Manufacturing Documents” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

“Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Patents” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Patient-Specific Instrumentation” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Permitted Use” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Person" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Prior CDA” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Products” has the meaning set forth in the Distribution Agreement.
“Purchased Assets” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Receiving Party” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

4

“Representatives” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.

"R&D Work Plan" has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.

“Software Code” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

“Strategic Acquiror” means [**].
“Supply Term” has the meaning set forth in the Distribution Agreement.
"Third Party" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Transferred IP” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Transfer Materials” has the meaning set forth in the Distribution Agreement.
“Triathlon” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Unit Cost Formula” – means $[**] minus Stryker’s cost of goods sold (COGS) at the time the calculation is being made
with respect to a KIB Product that is not manufactured by Conformis, but in no event less than $[**] per KIB Product or greater
than $[**] per KIB Product.
“Wire Instructions” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
ARTICLE II
GRANT OF LICENSES AND ASSIGNMENTS
2.1

License Grants.
(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Conformis hereby grants Stryker, and Stryker hereby

accepts, an exclusive (subject to Section 2.3), transferable (solely as described in Section 2.2), royalty-bearing (as provided in
Section 5.2(C)), sublicensable (solely as
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described in Section 2.2), worldwide, license under the Licensed Patents to make, have made (but only as described in Section
2.2(iii) below), use, offer for sale, sell and import Patient-Specific Instrumentation for use with Triathlon for the Permitted Use.
(b) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Conformis hereby grants Stryker, and Stryker hereby
accepts, a non-exclusive, transferable (solely as described in Section 2.2), royalty-bearing (as provided in Section 5.2(C)),
sublicensable (solely as described in Section 2.2 and Section 2.3), worldwide, license under the Licensed Other IP to use,
reproduce, copy and modify the Licensed Other IP in order to make, have made (but only as described in Section 2.2(iii) below),
use, offer for sale, sell and import Patient-Specific Instrumentation for use with Triathlon for the Permitted Use.
2.2

Scope of Grant. The Licenses, subject only to the Other Agreements: (i) are limited as set forth herein; (ii) are

granted, in force and take effect upon the Effective Date, shall run with the Licensed Patents and Licensed Other IP and shall
survive any transfer thereof; (iii) shall include the right to sublicense to Affiliates and, solely as reasonably necessary for purposes
of authorizing a Third Party to manufacture Patient-Specific Instrumentation for use with Triathlon on behalf of Stryker and solely
to the extent expressly authorized under Section 2.3.4 of the Distribution Agreement, to Third Parties, provided that any
sublicenses must be in writing, be expressly coterminous with the Licenses and restrict further sublicensing; (iv) cannot be
terminated except as set forth below; and (v) are only transferable by Stryker pursuant to Section 8.2. Nothing in this Agreement
shall be construed as conferring explicitly or by implication, estoppel or otherwise any license, covenant, right or immunity under
any Patents that Conformis (and its successors, Affiliates and assigns, and successors, Affiliates and assigns of each of the
foregoing) acquires or obtains a license to in the future, other than the specifically identified Licensed Patents, regardless of
whether such other Patents cover the Products. For purposes of clarity, the purpose of the grant of the Licenses is to provide
assurance to Stryker that it can use, in accordance with this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, any Intellectual Property
(other than Trademarks) owned or licensable by Conformis which Conformis incorporates in a Deliverable under the Development
Agreement, without causing a breach of, or incurrence of any obligation to, a Third Party. For the avoidance of doubt, any Patents
licensed under this Agreement shall not include Patents having an effective filing date subsequent to the Capture Period.
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2.3

Limitations on Exclusivity. The exclusivity of the license granted by Conformis under Section 2.1(a) shall be subject

to the following: (i) Conformis’ rights to perform its obligations and exercise its rights under the Development Agreement and the
Distribution Agreement and (ii) any non-exclusive licenses granted by Conformis to Third Parties prior to the Effective Date.
ARTICLE III
CONFIDENTIALITY AND PUBLICITY
3.1

Confidentiality Obligations. The provisions of Sections 4.3(a)-(i) of Article 4 of the APA are incorporated herein as

if fully set forth herein.
3.2

Advertising, Promotion and Trademarks. Nothing in this Agreement will be construed as conferring upon either

Party or its Affiliates any right to include in advertising, packaging or other commercial activities related to a product, any
reference to the other Party (or any of its Affiliates), its trade names, trademarks or service marks in any manner.
3.3.

Press Release. Conformis and Stryker shall mutually agree on a press release to be issued by Conformis upon the

execution of this Agreement.
ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
4.1

Representations, Warranties and Covenants. Each Party hereby represents and warrants to, and covenants with,

each other Party that:
(a)

Due Organization. Good Standing and Power. It is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing

under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and has the power and authority to own, lease and operate its assets and to conduct
the business now being conducted by it. It has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to
perform its obligations hereunder.
(b)

Authorization and Validity of Agreement. The execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement and the

consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate or
equivalent action on its part. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by it and constitutes its legal, valid and binding
obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited
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by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Applicable Laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights
generally and by general equity principles.
(c)

Absence of Conflicts. The execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement and the

consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not:
(i)

violate any Applicable Laws, regulations, orders, writs, injunctions or decrees of any governmental, judicial,

legislative, executive, administrative or regulatory authority of the United States or any foreign country or of any state or
local governmental authority;
(ii)

conflict with, or result in the breach of any provision of, its certificate or articles of incorporation, bylaws or

equivalent organizational documents;
(iii) as to Conformis only, result in the creation of any lien or encumbrance of any nature upon any property being
licensed by it pursuant to this Agreement; or
(iv)

violate, conflict with, result in the breach or termination of or constitute a default under (or event which with

notice, lapse of time or both would constitute a default under), any permit, contract or agreement to which it is a Party or by
which any of its properties or businesses are bound.
(d)

Consents. No authorization, consent or approval of, or notice to or filing with, any governmental authority is required

for the execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement, other than those associated with obtaining required regulatory
approvals as contemplated hereby.
4.2

Conformis Power to License. Conformis represents and warrants that it has the full right, power and authority to

grant any and all licenses set forth herein and that it is the owner of the entire right, title and interest in, or possessing sufficient
license to or otherwise authorized under, the Licensed Patents and Licensed Other IP.
4.3

Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED ELSEWHERE IN THIS AGREEMENT, CONFORMIS

MAKES NO WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO THE LICENSES, AND NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, WHETHER
WRITTEN, ORAL, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, NONINFRINGEMENT OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, SHALL APPLY.
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ARTICLE V
PROGRESS TOWARDS COMMERCIALIZATION
5.1

Milestone Payments. In concert with the Development Agreement activities, and to the extent that there is no early

termination of the Development Agreement prior to Milestone #3 as described below, and in consideration for Conformis’ efforts
and cooperation in achieving the milestone, Stryker shall make the following milestone payment if and when the following
milestone is met, which milestone follows Milestones #1 and #2 as set forth in the Development Agreement and more specifically
in the R&D Work Plan therein:
(a)

Milestone #3 - Within thirty (30) days following the date on which the U.S. Food and Drug Administration

issues Conformis 510(k) clearance for the KIB Product in accordance with the R&D Work Plan, Stryker shall pay to Conformis
eleven million U.S. dollars ($11,000,000) in immediately available funds by wire transfer in accordance with the Wire Instructions.
5.2

Stryker Options Post-Termination of the Development Agreement. Should Stryker terminate the Development

Agreement for any reason permitted therein prior to Acceptance of any one of the Milestones set forth in Section 3.4 of the
Development Agreement or completion of the Milestone set forth in Section 5.1 of this Agreement, Stryker shall (a) make
payments to Conformis in accordance with part (A) below, or (b) forfeit the license under this Agreement, by which Stryker shall
reassign property and forfeit the licenses in exchange for Conformis making payments to Stryker, all in accordance with part (B)
below. Stryker shall make the foregoing election within [**] after such termination of the Development Agreement. For clarity, any
election under part (B) below shall constitute an automatic termination of this Agreement and the Other Agreements without
further action by the Parties.
(A) Adjustment of Milestone Payments. Stryker shall make payment to Conformis, as compensation for Conformis’
contractual commitments and efforts to achieve the milestones, as follows:
(i) Termination of the Development Agreement prior to Acceptance of Milestone #1 - [**] U.S. dollars ($[**]);
(ii)

Termination of the Development Agreement prior to Acceptance of Milestone #2, but after Acceptance of

Milestone #1 – [**] U.S. dollars ($[**]); and
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(iii)

Termination of the Development Agreement prior to completion of Milestone #3, but after Acceptance of

Milestone #2 – [**] U.S. dollars ($[**]).
(iv)

Upon a termination of the Development Agreement prior to Acceptance of any one of Milestones ##1-2 or

completion of Milestone #3 after a Change of Control of Conformis involving a Strategic Acquiror – [**] U.S. dollars ($[**]).
(B) Forfeit of License. Upon demand by Stryker, Conformis shall make payments to Stryker as provided below and upon
receipt of the applicable payments, Stryker shall reassign to Conformis all of its right, title and interest in the Purchased Assets to
the same extent as in existence as of the Effective Date (and, for clarity, Stryker agrees that it shall not grant licenses, create
encumbrances, or take any other action or omission with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Transferred IP prior to completion
of Parties’ activities under the Development Agreement that could or does have the result of Stryker not being able to comply with
the foregoing), while Stryker shall retain all ownership rights in Joint IP and Improved Stryker Background IP secured under the
Development Agreement prior to the date of termination, in exchange for payments by Conformis in accordance with the
following:
(i)

Termination of the Development Agreement and this Agreement prior to Acceptance of Milestone #1 –

Conformis shall pay to Stryker an amount equal to all payments made to Conformis by Stryker under this Agreement or any of the
Other Agreements less [**] U.S. dollars ($[**]);
(ii)

Termination of the Development Agreement and this Agreement prior to Acceptance of Milestone #2, but

after Acceptance of Milestone #1 – Conformis shall pay to Stryker and amount equal to all payments made to Conformis by Stryker
under this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements less [**] U.S. dollars ($[**]);
(iii)

Termination of the Development Agreement and this Agreement prior to completion of Milestone #3, but

after Acceptance of Milestone #2 – Conformis shall pay to Stryker an amount equal to all payments made to Conformis by Stryker
under this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements less [**] U.S. dollars ($[**]);
(iv)

Termination prior to Acceptance of any one of Milestones ##1-2 or completion of Milestone #3 after a

Change of Control of Conformis – Conformis shall pay to Stryker
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an amount equal to all payments made to Conformis by Stryker under this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements less [**]
U.S. dollars ($[**]).
For clarity, references to “all payments” made to Conformis by Stryker in this Section 5.2(B) shall only include (i) the
Purchase Price under the Asset Purchase Agreement; (ii) the payment of $11,000,000 or any portion thereof under Section 5.1(A)
of this Agreement; and (iii) the payments described under Section 3.4 of the Development Agreement, in each case to the extent
actually paid by Stryker to Conformis, and shall not include any other payments, including any expense reimbursements expressly
authorized under this Agreement or any Other Agreement or any amounts payable in respect of indemnity obligations.
(C) Maintenance of License. To the extent that Stryker makes the adjusted milestone payments in part (A)(i) through (iii),
a royalty in accordance with the Unit Cost Formula shall be due for any Patient-Specific Instrumentation for Triathlon which
Stryker sells. No royalty shall be due with regard to the adjusted milestone payment in part (A)(iv); provided however, that
royalties payable under this subsection shall only be due for Patient Specific Instrumentation sold by Stryker during the five (5)
year period starting with Stryker’s first commercial sale of such Patient Specific Instrumentation. No royalty shall be due and
payable to Conformis by Stryker under this subsection for Patient-Specific Instrumentation sold after such five (5) year period.
(D) Payment Timetable. All payments in accordance with parts (A) and (B) above shall be made by wire transfer using the
Wire Instructions by the respective Party within [**] of Stryker’s election between maintaining or forfeiting the license; with the
exception of the royalties by Stryker under part (A), which shall accrue upon sale of Patient-Specific Instrumentation and be paid as
set forth in part (E) below.
(E) Royalty Reports, Payments and Records. If and only if this Section 5.2 becomes operative upon Stryker’s termination
of the Development Agreement and election to maintain the licenses under this Agreement as set forth in Section 5.2(B), Stryker
shall make reports and royalty payments (solely as provided in Section 5.2(C)) for Patient-Specific Instrumentation that were
covered by the Licensed Patents (“Licensed Products”), as follows:
(i)

Within [**] after each of the first day of January, April, July and October of each year during the term of this
Agreement, to the extent that there are any
11

invoiced sales of Licensed Products in the calendar quarter prior to such first day of each month, Stryker
shall deliver to Conformis a report setting forth the number of Licensed Products invoiced by Stryker to a
Third Party, an identification of such Licensed Products, and Stryker’s COGS as calculated in accordance
with Stryker’s accounting practices used to calculate Stryker’s COGS for like products.
(ii)

Simultaneously with the delivery of each report so required, Stryker shall pay to Conformis in U.S. dollars
the royalties due under Section 5.2(C) above for the period covered by such report.

(iii)

Stryker shall keep, and shall cause its Affiliates and permitted sublicensees to keep, full, true and accurate
books of an account in sufficient detail for the purpose of verifying the information required in the report
referred to in Section 5.2(E)(i).

At the request of Conformis, Stryker shall permit an independent representative to inspect, at Stryker’s premises,
information sufficient to verify a respective report by Stryker or its Affiliates or sublicensees. Such inspection shall be made during
normal business hours in order to determine the correctness of any report under this Agreement. Such inspections may not (a) be
conducted for any report more than [**] after the date of any such report, or (b) be conducted more than [**] period. Such
inspection shall be made at the expense of Conformis; except that, should the inspection reveal that Stryker owes Conformis an
amount equal to [**]% or more than the amount paid by Stryker in a period being inspected, then Stryker shall be responsible for
the expenses of the inspection and shall pay such expenses to Conformis within [**] of receipt of Conformis’ proof of actual and
necessary expenses for the inspection. The independent representative making the inspection shall be a CPA, shall be approved by
Stryker (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), and shall not work on a contingent or partial contingent basis. The
independent representative shall agree to maintain as confidential and not disclose to Conformis, its Affiliates or any Third Party
any information relating to the Licensed Products or the business of Stryker or
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any of its Affiliates or permitted sublicensees, except that the information that should properly be contained in any report under
Section 5.2(E)(i) may be disclosed to Conformis. The independent representative shall deliver an accounting report of the
inspection to Stryker within [**] of the inspection, and Stryker shall pay any additional royalty determined to be due to Conformis
as a result of such inspection within [**] of receipt of the accounting report. In the case of a dispute over the accounting report,
Stryker shall notify the independent representative and Conformis within [**] of receipt of the accounting report, and the Parties,
with the assistance of the independent representative if required, shall promptly work in good faith to resolve the dispute.
ARTICLE VI
BANKRUPTCY
6.1

All rights and licenses now or hereafter granted by Conformis under this Agreement, are for all purposes of Section

365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code, licenses of rights to “intellectual property” as defined in the Bankruptcy Code. Upon the
occurrence of any Insolvency Event with respect to Conformis, Conformis agrees that Stryker, as licensee of such rights under this
Agreement, shall retain and may fully exercise all of its rights and elections under the Bankruptcy Code. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, Conformis and Stryker intend and agree that any sale of Conformis’ assets under Section 363 of the
Bankruptcy Code shall be subject to Stryker’s rights under Section 365(n), that Stryker cannot be compelled to accept a money
satisfaction of its interests in the intellectual property licensed pursuant to this Agreement, and that any such sale therefore may not
be made to a purchaser “free and clear” of Stryker’s rights under this Agreement and Section 365(n) without the express,
contemporaneous consent of Stryker. Further, each Party agrees and acknowledges that all payments by Stryker to Conformis
hereunder, other than payments pursuant to Section 5.2(C) hereof, do not constitute royalties within the meaning of Section 365(n)
of the Bankruptcy Code or relate to licenses of intellectual property hereunder. Conformis shall, during the term of this Agreement,
create and maintain current copies or, if not amenable to copying, detailed descriptions or other appropriate embodiments, to the
extent reasonably feasible and reasonably required for Stryker to enjoy its license rights hereunder following any Section 365(n)
election by Stryker after a rejection of this Agreement by Conformis, of all such intellectual property. Conformis and Stryker
acknowledge and agree that "embodiments" of intellectual property within
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the meaning of Section 365(n) include the embodiments to which Stryker is entitled under the Development Agreement and such
other items such as software source code and programmer’s notes as may be reasonably required for Stryker to enjoy its license
rights hereunder following any Section 365(n) election by Stryker after a rejection of this Agreement by Conformis
(“Embodiments”). If (i) a case under the Bankruptcy Code is commenced by or against Conformis, (ii) this Agreement is rejected
as provided in the Bankruptcy Code, and (iii) Stryker elects to retain its rights hereunder as provided in Section 365(n) of the
Bankruptcy Code, Conformis (in any capacity, including debtor-in-possession) and its successors and assigns (including a trustee)
shall:
(i) provide to Stryker all such intellectual property (including all Embodiments thereof) held by Conformis and such
successors and assigns, or otherwise available to them, immediately upon Stryker’s written request. Whenever Conformis or any of
its successors or assigns provides to Stryker any of the intellectual property licensed hereunder (or any embodiment thereof to
which Stryker is entitled hereunder) pursuant to this Section 6.1, Stryker shall have the right to perform Conformis’ obligations
hereunder with respect to such intellectual property, but neither such provision nor such performance by Stryker shall release
Conformis from liability resulting from rejection of the license or the failure to perform such obligations; and
(ii) not interfere with Stryker's rights under this Agreement, or any agreement supplemental hereto intellectual property (or
to Embodiments), including any right to obtain such intellectual property (or Embodiments) from another entity, to the extent
provided in Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code.
6.2

All rights, powers and remedies of Stryker provided herein are in addition to and not in substitution for any and all

other rights, powers and remedies now or hereafter existing at law or in equity (including the Bankruptcy Code) in the event of the
commencement of a case under the Bankruptcy Code with respect to Conformis. The Parties agree that they intend the following
rights to extend to the maximum extent permitted by law, and to be enforceable under Bankruptcy Code Section 365(n):
(i) the right of access to any intellectual property (including all Embodiments) of Conformis, or any Third Party with whom
Conformis contracts to perform an obligation of Conformis under this Agreement (to the extent Conformis has such a right), and, in
the case of the
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Third Party, which is necessary for the manufacture, use, sale, import or export of products under license; and
(ii) the right to contract directly with any Third Party to complete the contracted work.
ARTICLE VII
TERM AND TERMINATION
7.1

Term. The term of this Agreement shall begin as of the Effective Date and continue until and unless earlier

terminated: (a) under Section 7.2; or (b) as mutually agreed by the Parties.
7.2

Termination. Conformis may terminate this Agreement only if Stryker (i) breaches its obligations under any of the

Other Agreements such that Conformis has the right to terminate such Other Agreement under the terms thereof; or (ii) fails to
make the payments set forth in Section 5.1 or materially breaches any other provision of this Agreement and such breach is not
cured within [**] after Stryker’s receipt of notice of such material breach.
7.3

Surviving Rights/Obligations. The provisions of Articles III, IV, and V (to the extent of any unpaid but accrued

payment obligations) and Sections 7.4, 8.1, 8.2, 8.4-8.12 and 8.14 of this Agreement, and this Section 7.3, together with any
provisions required for the interpretation or enforcement of any of the foregoing, shall survive the termination or expiration of this
Agreement. The termination of this Agreement shall not relieve any Party from obligations that are expressly indicated to survive
termination of the Agreement.
7.4.

Return or Destruction of Confidential Information. Solely with respect to Confidential Information in which a

Party has no ownership interest at all, owned or co-owned Confidential Information being exempt herefrom, upon termination of
this Agreement, unless independently authorized to retain such of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information under an Other
Agreement, each Receiving Party shall, and shall direct its Representatives to, cease all use and make no further use of any
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party and shall, upon written request from the Disclosing Party, promptly return or
destroy all Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party (including copies thereof) that is in tangible form (provided, however,
that, with respect to electronic imaging of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information, such materials shall be deleted and
removed from access by an ordinary user from all computer hard drives, servers
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and similar media but shall not require any action to delete or erase such materials from any disaster recovery tapes or other backup media or any record retention or computer storage system so long as the Receiving Party and its Representatives take such
actions as are reasonably likely to prevent access to such materials by any person other than information technology and other
administrative employees who are responsible for maintaining those disaster recovery tapes and other back-up media) and any
documents created by the Receiving Party or any of its Representatives containing Confidential Information of the Disclosing
Party. The Receiving Party shall provide to the Disclosing Party written certification of destroyed Confidential Information of the
Disclosing Party promptly following the destruction thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Receiving Party and its
Representatives may retain one copy of any Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party in a secure location in the Receiving
Party's legal department for the purpose of establishing compliance with Applicable Laws (including professional standards) and
for defending or maintaining any litigation (including any administrative proceeding) relating to this Agreement, the Other
Agreement, the Prior CDA or the Confidential Information, provided that all such information shall continue to be kept confidential
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS
8.1

Agency. Neither this Agreement nor any of the Other Agreements creates any partnership, agency or other

relationship among the Parties for any purpose, including for all tax purposes. No Party is granted any right or authority to assume
or to create any obligation or responsibility on behalf or in the name of the other Party or to bind the other Party in any manner
whatsoever.
8.2

Assignment and Change of Control. Except as otherwise provided herein, a Party shall not have the right to assign

any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement (whether through a merger, sale of stock, or otherwise) without the prior
written consent of the other Party; except that, either Party shall be permitted, without any need for the other Party’s consent, to
assign this Agreement (a) in whole or in part to an Affiliate (provided, however, that once such Person is no longer an Affiliate of
the assigning Party, such former Affiliate shall assign this Agreement back to the assigning Party), provided that the assigning Party
provides the other Party notice of any such
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assignment; provided further that failure to provide such notice of such assignment shall not render such assignment void; or (b) to
a Third Party in connection with sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assigning Party’s business or assets relating to the
subject matter of this Agreement, whether by Change of Control, merger, sale of assets or otherwise; provided, however, that, with
respect to clause (b), (i) any assignment of this Agreement shall be void and have no effect unless and until the assignee assumes
the obligations of the assigning Party in a written instrument, a copy of which is provided to the other Party; and (ii) any
assignment of this Agreement must be accompanied by a simultaneous assignment of the Other Agreements to the same assignee,
and the assigning Party’s interest in the Purchased Assets to the same assignee unless otherwise agreed by Conformis in advance,
which agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any assignment in whole or in part shall not relieve the assigning Party of its
obligations hereunder. If and to the extent that a Party assigns any of its rights and/or obligations hereunder in accordance with this
Section 8.2, then this Agreement shall be binding upon the assignee to the same extent as if it were a Party hereto. Any assignment
not in accordance with this Section 8.2 shall be void.
8.3

Further Actions. Each Party agrees, subsequent to the execution and delivery of this Agreement and without any

additional consideration, to execute, acknowledge and deliver such further documents and instruments, and to do all such other
acts, as may be necessary or appropriate in order to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.
8.4

Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications to be given pursuant to the terms of this Agreement

will be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given if delivered by hand, sent by e-mail, sent by a nationally recognized
overnight mail service, or mailed first class, postage prepaid:
If to Stryker, addressed to:
Howmedica Osteonics Corp.
c/o
Stryker Corp.
Attn: Legal Department, [**]
325 Corporate Drive
Mahwah, NJ 07430
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If to Conformis, addressed to:
Conformis, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer and General Counsel
600 Technology Park Drive
Billerica, MA 01821
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
WilmerHale
Attn: Jason Kropp, Esq.
60 State Street
Boston, MA 02109

Any Party may change its address, telephone number, or facsimile number by prior written notice to the other Party.
8.5

Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by an instrument or

instruments in writing signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any such modification or amendment is sought. Conformis
may waive compliance by Stryker or Stryker may waive compliance by Conformis with any term or provision of this Agreement
on the part of such Party to be performed or complied with, but only by an instrument in writing. The waiver by any Party of a
breach of any term or provision of this Agreement will not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach.
8.6

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of New York State

(without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof).
8.7

Jurisdiction. Subject to Section 8.13, the federal and state Courts of New York State shall have exclusive jurisdiction

to hear and decide any suit, Action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this
Agreement; provided, however, that each Party shall have the right to institute judicial proceedings in any court of competent
jurisdiction against the other Party or anyone acting by, through or under the other Party, in order to enforce an Order entered by
federal state courts of New York. Each Party shall cause its applicable permitted Third Party sublicensees and Affiliates receiving
any rights or benefits (including the receipt of any Confidential Information) under this Agreement to be bound by this Section 8.7
prior
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to their exercise of any such rights or receipt of any such benefits. If such Party fails to comply with the foregoing sentence with
respect to any such Third Party or Affiliate, the other Party shall have the right to seek relief in any court of competent jurisdiction
in connection with any dispute involving such Third Party or Affiliate.
8.8

Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of

any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof. If any term or other provision of this
Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any circumstance, is invalid, illegal or unenforceable by a Court of
competent jurisdiction, (a) a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be
valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision and (b) the remainder of this Agreement
and the application of such provision to other Persons or circumstances shall not be affected by such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability, nor shall such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability affect the validity or enforceability of such provision, or the
application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.
8.9

Entire Agreement and Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including the Other Agreements) contains the

entire agreement by and among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and there are no agreements, understandings,
representations or warranties between the Parties other than those set forth or referred to herein. This Agreement is not intended to
confer upon any Person not a party (or their successors and assigns permitted by Section 8.2), and to the extent expressly provided,
their Affiliates, Agents, employees and representatives, any rights or remedies hereunder.
8.10 Jointly Prepared. This Agreement has been prepared jointly and shall not be strictly construed against any Party.
8.11

Expenses. Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement and the Other Agreements, all legal and other costs and

expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby will be paid by the Party incurring
such costs and expenses.
8.12

Counterparts and Electronic Transmission. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of

which will be considered one and the same agreement, and will become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed
by each of the Parties and
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delivered to the other Party. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile or e-mail transmission with the same
effect as if a manually signed original was personally delivered.
8.13

Negotiation in Event of Dispute. In the event of any dispute or disagreement between any of the Parties as to the

interpretation of any provision of this Agreement or any agreement incorporated herein, the performance of obligations hereunder
or thereunder, or any other disputed matter relating hereto or thereto, such matter, upon the written request of any Party, will be
referred to an executive of each Party. Such executives will promptly meet in good faith to resolve the dispute. If the executives do
not agree upon a decision within thirty calendar days after the reference of the matter to them, any Party will be free to exercise any
remedies available to it.
8.14

Rules of Construction. As used in this Agreement, the words “include”, “includes” and “including” means

“including without limitation”, and no inferences or conclusions of any sort shall be drawn from the fact that in some instances in
this Agreement the words “include”, “includes” and “including” are actually followed by the phrase “without limitation” or the
equivalent while in other instances they are not. Except where the context expressly requires otherwise, the use of any gender
herein will be deemed to encompass references to any gender, and the use of the singular will be deemed to include the plural (and
vice versa).
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this License Agreement to be duly executed as of the respective dates
written below.

HOWMEDICA OSTEONICS CORP.

CONFORMIS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

/s/ Spencer Stiles
Spencer Stiles
President
September 26, 2019

/s/ Mark A. Augusti
Mark A. Augusti
CEO
9-30-2019

Execution Version
Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause
competitive harm to the Company, if publicly disclosed. Double asterisks denote omissions.

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
This Development Agreement (“this Agreement”) is entered into and effective as of September 30, 2019 (“Effective
Date”) by and between Howmedica Osteonics Corp., a New Jersey corporation, also known as Stryker Orthopaedics (“Stryker”),
and Conformis, Inc., a Delaware corporation having a principal place of business located at 600 Technology Park Drive, Billerica,
MA 01821 (“Conformis”). Stryker and Conformis are collectively referred to herein as the “Parties” and individually as a
“Party.”
WHEREAS, the Parties are concurrently entering into an asset purchase agreement for Stryker’s purchase of certain
Conformis assets concerning Patient-Specific Instrumentation (“Asset Purchase Agreement”), and a License Agreement, a
Distribution Agreement and a Quality Agreement, as defined in and attached to the Asset Purchase Agreement (collectively, such
agreements are referred to herein as the “Other Agreements”).
WHEREAS, Stryker and its Affiliates have developed and commercialized an Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant offered under
the trademark Triathlon.
WHEREAS, Conformis currently offers Patient-Specific Instrumentation for use with its Patient-Specific Implants,
including partial and total knee and hip arthroplasty.
WHEREAS, Stryker desires that Conformis develop, in accordance with the R&D Program, certain Patient-Specific
Instrumentation to be used with the current version of the Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant offered under the trademark Triathlon (such
Patient-Specific Instrumentation as so developed, the “KIB Product”).
THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual representations, warranties and covenants herein and in the Other
Agreements constituting good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties
hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
1.1

Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings, and to the extent

not defined in this section or otherwise in this Agreement, a term shall have the meaning ascribed to it in any of the Other
Agreements:

“Acceptance” and “Accept” have the meaning set forth in Article 3.4 of this Agreement.
“Acceptance Criteria” has the meaning set forth in the R&D Work Plan.
“Acceptance Notification Period” has the meaning set forth in Article 3.3 of this Agreement.
"Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Agents" means Third Parties who are acting under the direction or control of a Party.
"Applicable Laws" means all applicable federal, state, local and foreign laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, writs,
injunctions and decrees of any kind.
“Asset Purchase Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
“Change of Control” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Claims" has the meaning set forth in Article 7.3(a) of this Agreement.
"Confidential Information" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Conformis Background IP" means any Invention, and all Intellectual Property rights underlying such Invention, that is,
as of the Effective Date, owned or licensable by Conformis without causing a breach of, or incurring any obligation to, a third
party, in each case to the extent necessary or reasonably useful to design, develop, manufacture, sell or otherwise exploit the KIB
Product, and for the avoidance of doubt, excluding the Purchased Assets, Conformis Foreground IP, Stryker Background IP,
Improved Stryker Background IP and Improved Conformis Background IP.
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“Conformis Foreground IP” means any Invention first developed by Conformis after the Closing Date other than in the
performance of the R&D Program, and all Intellectual Property rights underlying such Invention (for the avoidance of doubt,
excluding any Intellectual Property rights subsisting prior to the Closing Date or generated in the performance of the R&D
Program). For the avoidance of doubt, Conformis Foreground IP shall not include any Inventions using Stryker Confidential
Information (which shall not include the Purchased Assets for the purposes of the definition of Conformis Foreground IP) or
Stryker Background IP.
“Conformis Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Article 7.3(b) of this Agreement.
“Conformis-Prosecuted Joint IP Rights” has the meaning set forth in Article 5.8 of this Agreement.
“Court” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Deliverables” has the meaning set forth under the R&D Work Plan.
“Disclosing Party” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Distribution Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Equipment” has the meaning set forth in Article 5.6(a) of this Agreement.
“Failure Notice” has the meaning set forth in Article 3.4 of this Agreement.
“Finally Rejects” has the meaning set forth in Article 3.4 of this Agreement.
“Force Majeure Event” has the meaning set forth in Article 10.4(a) of this Agreement.
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“Improved Conformis Background IP” means any Invention to the extent first arising in the performance of the R&D
Program, whether or not embodied in the KIB Product, that constitutes an improvement to Conformis Background IP, Conformis
Confidential Information (which shall not include any Confidential Information owned or commonly owned by Stryker) or the
Purchased Assets, and all Intellectual Property rights underlying such Invention (but expressly excluding all Transferred IP,
Conformis Foreground IP, Conformis Background IP and Stryker Background IP, and, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding all
Intellectual Property rights subsisting prior to the Closing Date).
“Improved Stryker Background IP” means any Invention to the extent first arising in the performance of the R&D
Program, whether or not embodied in the KIB Product, that constitutes an improvement to Stryker Background IP or any Stryker
Confidential Information (which shall not include the Purchased Assets for the purposes of this definition), and all Intellectual
Property rights underlying such Invention (but expressly excluding all Transferred IP, Conformis Foreground IP, Conformis
Background IP and Stryker Background IP, and, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding all Intellectual Property rights subsisting
prior to the Closing Date).
“Insolvency Event” means, with respect to any Party, the occurrence of any one of the following events:
(i)

an involuntary proceeding is commenced against such Party under any applicable United States bankruptcy,

insolvency, reorganization or other similar United States or foreign law now or hereafter in effect, or a proceeding is
commenced seeking appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar
official) for such Party or for all or any substantial part of its property and such proceeding shall not be dismissed within
[**] or an order for relief by a court of competent jurisdiction shall be entered in any such proceeding; or
(ii)

such Party shall commence a voluntary proceeding under any applicable United States or foreign bankruptcy,

insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or shall consent to the entry of an order for relief
in an involuntary case under any such law, or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver,
liquidator,
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assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of such Party or of all or any substantial part of its
property, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors.
"Intellectual Property" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Invention" means any idea, invention, discovery, know-how, data, work of authorship, information, improvement,
technology, process, concept or material, whether or not patentable, copyrightable or protectable as a trade secret, and whether or
not reduced to practice or memorialized in writing.
"Joint CI" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Joint IP” has the meaning set forth in Article 5.1(c) of this Agreement.
“Joint IP Rights” has the meaning set forth in Article 5.8 of this Agreement.
“KIB Product” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
“KIB Product IP” means any Invention first arising in the performance of the R&D Program, whether or not embodied in
the KIB Product, and all Intellectual Property rights underlying such Invention (but expressly excluding all Transferred IP,
Conformis Background IP, Stryker Background IP, Improved Conformis Background IP and Improved Stryker Background IP, and,
for the avoidance of doubt, excluding all Intellectual Property rights subsisting prior to the Closing Date).
“License Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Off-The-Shelf Implant” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
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“Off-The-Shelf Knee Implant” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

“Other Agreements” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
“Patents” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Patient-Specific Implants” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Patient-Specific Instrumentation” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Person" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Prior CDA” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Purchased Assets” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

“Receiving Party” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Redelivery Period” has the meaning set forth in Article 3.4 of this Agreement.

"R&D Program" means work performed in the development of the KIB Product under this Agreement pursuant to the
R&D Work Plan.

"R&D Work Plan" means the research and development plan set forth in Exhibit 1.
“Relevant Indemnified Parties” means (a) if Stryker is the indemnified Party, the Stryker Indemnified Parties and (b) if
Conformis is the indemnified Party, the Conformis Indemnified Parties.
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“Representatives” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Stryker Background IP" means any Invention, and all Intellectual Property rights underlying such Invention, that is, as
of the Effective Date owned or licensable by Stryker without causing a breach of, or incurring any obligation to, a third party, in
each case to the extent each such Invention is (a) necessary or reasonably useful to design, develop, manufacture, sell and otherwise
exploit the KIB Product and (b) provided to Conformis by or on behalf of Stryker in connection with Conformis’ activities under
this Agreement, and, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding the Transferred IP, Conformis Background IP, Improved Conformis
Background IP and Improved Stryker Background IP.
“Stryker Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Article 7.3(a) of this Agreement.
“Stryker-Prosecuted Joint IP Rights” has the meaning set forth in Article 5.8 of this Agreement.
"Termination Notice" means a written notice delivered by one Party to the other Party of its election to terminate this
Agreement pursuant to Article VIII.
"Third Party" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Trademarks” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Transferred IP” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
“Triathlon” has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
"Wire Instructions" has the meaning set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
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ARTICLE II
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
2.1

R&D Work Plan.

The Parties agree to conduct the R&D Program pursuant to the R&D Work Plan and to perform

their respective obligations therein. To the extent Conformis’ performance under the R&D Program is delayed due to Stryker’s
delay in performing any of its obligations in accordance with the timelines in the R&D Work Plan, the applicable timelines shall be
deemed extended by a period of time corresponding to the length of such portion of the delay attributable to Stryker, on a day-byday basis. The R&D Work Plan may be amended by mutual written agreement of the Parties from time to time.
2.2

Agents or Third Parties. To the extent working with Agents or other Third Parties is permitted under the R&D Work

Plan, should a Party wish to engage an Agent or any other Third Party in connection with the R&D Work Plan or any other work
under this Agreement, such Party must obtain in advance a written agreement by such Agent or other Third Party (i) to assign to the
Party all Inventions conceived, created or generated by the Agent or other Third Party, and (ii) to maintain all Confidential
Information in confidence as set forth in Section 5.2.
ARTICLE III
DELIVERABLES AND COMPLETION
3.1

Deliverables. Subject to the remedies set forth in Section 3.4, Conformis shall furnish Stryker

with the Deliverables as defined in the R&D Work Plan, and Stryker shall have the opportunity to analyze
and test each Deliverable for the purposes of determining Acceptance as set forth in the R&D Work Plan.
Each Deliverable shall be deemed to be completed once such Deliverable has been Accepted (as defined
below).
3.2

Free from Infringement.

Without the consent of Stryker, Conformis shall not introduce any

structure or methodology in the Deliverables (including a Deliverable within a Product or a Stryker Product)
that (1) raise a colorable argument of patent infringement in the manufacture, use, sale, offer for sale or
importation of the Deliverable as such Deliverable
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is intended to be exploited under the Other Agreements, (2) misappropriate any Confidential Information of
any Third Party, or (3) otherwise violate any Intellectual Property rights of any Third Party. For clarity,
disclosure of a matter on the Disclosure Schedules to the Asset Purchase Agreement shall not be deemed
consent by Stryker under this Section 3.2.
3.3

Completion. After a Deliverable has been furnished to Stryker, Stryker (or its Agent designee)

will be entitled to analyze and test the Deliverable to determine if it operates in accordance with and
otherwise conforms to the applicable Acceptance Criteria set forth in R&D Work Plan. Conformis shall
provide such assistance as Stryker may reasonably request in such determination. Stryker shall have [**]
(“Acceptance Notification Period”) following the date the Deliverable is received by Stryker to Accept or
reject the Deliverable as described in Section 3.4.
3.4

Acceptance or Rejection. Respecting any Deliverable for Milestone #1 or Milestone #2, as set

forth below, if Stryker determines that a Deliverable operates in accordance with and otherwise conforms to
the applicable Acceptance Criteria pursuant to the R&D Work Plan, then Stryker will notify Conformis in
writing that Stryker Accepts such Deliverable. If Stryker reasonably determines that a Deliverable does not
operate in accordance with or otherwise conform to the applicable Acceptance Criteria, then Stryker will
provide Conformis with a written notice of rejection within the Acceptance Notification Period describing
the defect in view of the relevant Acceptance Criteria and including sufficient detail with respect to such
Stryker testing and testing results as Conformis reasonably requests (“Failure Notice”). Conformis shall
have [**] (or such longer period of time as may be agreed between the parties in good faith should the scope
and complexity of the applicable Deliverable warrant some longer period of time) (“Redelivery Period”)
following the date it receives the Failure Notice to correct and redeliver the Deliverable. If Conformis timely
delivers a corrected version of the Deliverable within the Redelivery Period, then Stryker will be
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entitled to repeat its acceptance analysis and testing process for the purposes of determining Acceptance as
set forth in the R&D Work Plan until such Deliverable operates in accordance with or otherwise conforms to
the applicable Acceptance Criteria; provided, however, that if Stryker properly rejects a particular
Deliverable three (3) or more times in accordance with this Article III, or if Conformis fails to deliver a
version or corrected version, as the case may be, of the Deliverable within any respective [**] period,
Stryker may, terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section 8.2(c) (in the event of such three (3)
rejections, Stryker “Finally Rejects” the Deliverable). Such termination, together with the provisions of
Section 5.2 of the License Agreement, constitutes as Stryker’s sole remedy and Conformis’ exclusive
liability in the event of any such rejection or failure by Conformis to deliver materially conforming
Deliverables hereunder so long as such rejection or failure does not arise from Conformis’ fraud, willful
misconduct, gross negligence or bad faith. Stryker shall be deemed to have accepted a Deliverable timely
furnished to it unless (a) the Deliverable fails to operate in accordance with and otherwise conform the
applicable Acceptance Criteria, and (b) Stryker provides Conformis a written Failure Notice within the
Acceptance Notification Period in accordance with this Section 3.4 (any acceptance or deemed acceptance,
described in this Section 3.4, “Acceptance” or “Accept”). Acceptance of a Deliverable shall not constitute a
waiver of any rights Stryker may have based on Conformis’ warranties set forth in this Agreement.
3.5

Payment for Milestones. Stryker shall pay to Conformis the following milestone payments for the development work

to be conducted hereunder if and when the following milestones are met, as follows:
(a) Milestone #1 – Within thirty (30) days following the date on which Stryker receives the first prototype of the PatientSpecific Instrumentation delivered to it by Conformis in accordance with the R&D Work Plan, Stryker shall pay to Conformis a
total of two million U.S. dollars ($2,000,000); and
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(b) Milestone #2 – Within thirty (30) days following the date on which there is a design freeze of the Patient-Specific
Instrumentation for the KIB Product in accordance with the R&D Work Plan, Stryker shall pay to Conformis a total of three million
U.S dollars ($3,000,000).
3.6

Payment.

Stryker shall make all payments to Conformis required herein by wire transfer in accordance with the

Wire Instructions. Such payments are non-refundable and non-creditable except as set forth in the Other Agreements.
ARTICLE IV
RESTRICTIVE COVENANT
4.1

Exclusivity.

Except as specifically provided in the Distribution Agreement, Conformis shall be prohibited from

developing or assisting another in developing, or causing another to develop, Patient-Specific Instrumentation for Off-The-Shelf
Knee Implants for any Third Party in the field of orthopedics until January 1, 2032 (or earlier, to the extent set forth in Section
2.3.3.4 or Section 2.3.5 of the Distribution Agreement), with the exception that Conformis (including any entity involved in a
Change of Control of Conformis, any such entity an “Acquirer”), may develop Patient-Specific Instrumentation for any Off-TheShelf Implants of Conformis, an Acquirer or any of their Affiliates. For purposes of clarity, the foregoing does not prevent
Conformis from granting any license, release, covenant not to sue or other immunity to any third party under any Patents, including
any such immunity that would authorize manufacture, use or sale of Patient-Specific Instrumentation for Off-The-Shelf Knee
Implants outside the Buyer Field.
ARTICLE V
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
5.1

Inventions.

(a)

Inventorship of all Inventions developed by either Party, or both Parties, in the performance of the R&D Program,

shall be determined in accordance with the inventorship laws of the United States, even to the extent such Invention is not pursued
in patent applications.
(b)

All right, title and interest in and to the Improved Stryker Background IP will vest solely in Stryker. Conformis agrees

to assign and hereby assigns to Stryker all right, title and interest in and to all Improved Stryker Background IP in which ownership
in same has vested in
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Conformis by operation of law or by assignment by its employees or consultants; and to facilitate such assignment to Stryker,
Conformis agrees (i) to regularly ensure that its employees and consultants timely make any appropriate assignments to it of that
which constitutes Improved Stryker Background IP, and (ii) at Stryker’s reasonable request, to execute and have its employees and
consultants execute, as necessary, all assignments and any other documentation necessary to perfect title in Stryker of such
Improved Stryker Background IP.
(c)

All right, title and interest in and to the Improved Conformis Background IP and KIB Product IP (“Joint IP”) shall be

owned jointly by the Parties. Subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, the Joint IP may be used freely by either Party
or its Affiliates and licensed to Third Parties by Conformis and its Affiliates, on the one hand, outside of the Buyer Field or by
Stryker and its Affiliates, on the other hand, within the Buyer Field, in each case, without the consent of, or duty to account to or
notify, the other Party, but, except with respect to external licenses of the Improved Conformis Background IP by Conformis or its
Affiliates to Third Parties, any external Third Party license shall be governed in accordance with the last sentence of Section 4.3(c)
of the APA. Each Party to whom ownership is to vest in Joint IP by operation of law or by assignment by its employees or Agents
agrees to assign and hereby assigns to the other Party an undivided one-half right, title and interest in and to all Joint IP; and to
facilitate such assignment, the Party possessing such ownership agrees (i) to regularly ensure that its employees and consultants
timely make any appropriate assignments to it; and (ii) at the other Party’s reasonable request, to execute and have its employees
and consultants execute, as necessary, all assignments and any other documentation to perfect the undivided one-half right, title and
interest in and to the other Party of such Joint IP.
(d)

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the foregoing does not constitute either (1) the grant by Conformis to

Stryker of any license or immunity of any kind with respect to the Conformis Background IP or Conformis Foreground IP,
regardless of the extent to which the Joint IP constitutes improvements to the Conformis Background IP or Conformis Foreground
IP, (2) the grant by Stryker to Conformis of any license or immunity of any kind with respect to the Stryker Background IP, or (3)
the grant by either Party of any license or immunity of any kind under any Intellectual Property rights owned by such Party,
regardless of whether the exploitation of the Joint IP would infringe such Intellectual Property rights. Neither Party shall assign a
partial interest in
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the Joint IP or Joint IP Rights to any Affiliate or Third Party (i.e., neither Party shall create any additional joint owners of the Joint
IP), but each Party may assign all of its right, title and interest in and to the Joint IP and Joint IP Rights to an Affiliate or Third
Party pursuant to and in accordance with Section 10.2.
(e)

Conformis shall promptly disclose to Stryker all (i) Improved Stryker Background IP, and (ii) Joint IP. Stryker shall

promptly disclose to Conformis all Joint IP.
(f) To the extent required and for the avoidance of doubt, Stryker hereby grants Conformis, and Conformis hereby accepts,
a non-exclusive license to the Stryker Background IP and Improved Stryker Background IP solely for purposes of performing any
obligations under this Agreement and the Distribution Agreement.
5.2 Confidential Information. The provisions of Sections 4.3(a)-(i) of Article 4 of the APA are incorporated herein as if
fully set forth herein.
5.3

Maintenance of Records. Each Party shall prepare and maintain complete and accurate records

concerning all Inventions for the purpose of documenting any possible Intellectual Property rights arising
under this Agreement.
5.4

No Other Rights.

(a) Conformis acknowledges and agrees that, as between the Parties, Stryker owns all right, title and interest, including all
Intellectual Property rights, within the Stryker Background IP and Stryker’s Confidential Information, including any Stryker
Confidential Information underlying the Joint IP, and that, under this Agreement, except as expressly set forth herein, Conformis
shall acquire no right, title, or interest in or to any of the foregoing, or any other Intellectual Property rights that are owned or
controlled by Stryker, by implication, estoppel or otherwise.
(b) Stryker acknowledges and agrees that, as between the Parties, Conformis owns all right, title and interest, including all
Intellectual Property rights, in and to Conformis Background IP and Conformis’ Confidential Information, including any
Conformis Confidential Information underlying the Joint IP, and that, under this Agreement, Stryker shall acquire no right, title, or
interest in or to any of the foregoing or any other Intellectual Property rights that are owned or controlled by Conformis, by
implication, estoppel or otherwise.
5.5

Employees and Consultants.
13

(a)

Conformis shall ensure that all its employees, consultants, Agents or other Third Parties who

perform any portion of Conformis’ R&D Program obligations under this Agreement have entered
into written agreements with Conformis whereby such employee, consultant, Agent or other Third
Party assigns to Conformis all ownership rights in any Inventions made or developed by such
employee, consultant, Agent or Third Party in the course of such R&D Program work under this
Agreement.
(b)

Stryker shall ensure that all its Affiliates and its or their employees, consultants, Agents or other

Third Parties who perform any portion of Stryker’s R&D Program obligations under this Agreement
have entered into written agreements with Stryker whereby such employee, consultant, Agent or
Third Party assigns to Stryker all ownership rights in any Inventions made or developed by such
employee, consultant, Agent or Third Party in the course of such R&D Program work under this
Agreement.
5.6 Tangible Property.
(a)

All tooling, patterns, dies, gauges, jobs, fixtures, and all specifications, drawings, samples,

designs, software, firmware, programs, formulae, and other tangible items (“Equipment”) furnished
by Stryker to Conformis in connection with this Agreement: (i) shall only be used in the performance
of the R&D Program; (ii) shall remain the property of Stryker; and (iii) shall be disposed of or
returned in good repair, normal wear and tear excepted, by Conformis to Stryker at Stryker’s
direction and expense upon Stryker’s request. Conformis assumes risk of loss and damage to said
items while in its possession or under its control, subject to normal wear and tear. Conformis shall
notify Stryker promptly whenever any items of Stryker’s tangible property are in need of repair or
replacement. Stryker shall endeavor to mark its property as property of Stryker for
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use only under this Agreement. Conformis waives any right it may have in law or equity to withhold
Stryker’s property.
(b)

All Equipment furnished by Conformis to Stryker in connection with this Agreement: (i) shall

only be used in the performance of the R&D Program; (ii) shall remain the property of Conformis;
and (iii) shall be disposed of or returned in good repair, normal wear and tear excepted, by Stryker to
Conformis at Conformis’ direction and expense upon Conformis’ request. Stryker assumes risk of
loss and damage to said items while in its possession or under its control, subject to normal wear and
tear. Stryker shall notify Conformis promptly whenever any items of Conformis’ tangible property
are in need of repair or replacement. Conformis shall endeavor to mark its property as property of
Conformis for use only under this Agreement. Stryker waives any right it may have in law or equity
to withhold Conformis’ property.
5.7 Trademarks. Nothing in this Agreement shall confer to any Party any rights, whether by way of ownership, license or
right to use, in any of the Trademarks of any other Party. Conformis shall not use the Trademarks of Stryker without Stryker’s prior
written consent and Stryker shall not use the Trademarks of Conformis without Conformis’ prior written consent.
5.8

Prosecution of Patent Rights. Stryker shall be solely responsible, in its sole discretion, for preparing, filing,

prosecuting and maintaining Patents arising from all Improved Stryker Background IP. Stryker shall be solely responsible for costs
and expenses of preparing, filing, prosecuting and maintaining any such Patents. Stryker shall have the first right to prepare, file,
prosecute and maintain Patents or copyrights arising from any Joint IP that is not Improved Conformis Background IP (“StrykerProsecuted Joint IP Rights”). Conformis shall have the first right to prepare, file, prosecute and maintain Patents or copyrights
arising from any Improved Conformis Background IP (“Conformis-Prosecuted Joint IP Rights”, and together with the StrykerProsecuted Joint IP Rights, “Joint IP Rights”). With respect to Joint IP Rights, the non-prosecuting Party will have the right, but
not the obligation, to review and comment, and have the comments reasonably considered by the prosecuting Party, with regard to
the filing, prosecution,
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and maintenance of the Joint IP Rights. In this regard, the prosecuting Party agrees to provide reasonable time for the nonprosecuting party to review and comment prior to any deadline associated with such Patent. Conformis and Stryker shall be equally
responsible for costs and expenses of preparing, filing, prosecuting and maintaining any such Joint IP Rights. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the event that the applicable Party decides not to file at all or not to file a continuing or other application to maintain
the viability of the U.S part of a family of patents to which an application belongs, or decides to abandon or discontinue the
prosecution or maintenance of any of the Joint IP Rights, such Party shall notify the other Party thereof, and such other Party may
elect to continue the prosecution (including non-provisional application and PCT entry) or maintenance of such Joint IP Rights at
its sole expense and in the name(s) of both Stryker and Conformis. The provisions of Sections 5.1(c) and 5.1(d) and this Section 5.8
shall run with the Joint IP, and each party shall ensure that any assignee of its interest in the Joint IP expressly assumes in writing
such provisions. Any Party pursuing Patent applications in accordance with this Section 5.8 may disclose Confidential Information
in patent applications to the extent necessary to provide requisite support for claims therein, provided however, the non-prosecuting
Party will have the right, but not the obligation, to review and comment on the scope and content of the proposed disclosure,
including the proposed disclosure of Confidential Information, prior to submission of the first disclosure of same in any such Patent
applications, and have the comments reasonably considered by the prosecuting Party. In this regard, the prosecuting Party agrees to
provide reasonable time for the non-prosecuting party to review and comment prior to any such submission associated with such
Patent.
5.9

Infringement and Defense.

(a)

Each Party may in its sole discretion enforce the Patents or other intellectual property rights it solely owns pursuant to

this Agreement, as well as to defend against any assertions of invalidity, unenforceability or ownership of such Patents.
(b)

The Parties shall confer and consult with respect to disputes with Third Parties respecting the infringement, validity,

enforceability or ownership of any Joint IP, including the settlement thereof. Such consultation shall be for the purpose of
determining the best approach within such actions and neither Party shall take any action to enforce or defend any Joint IP without
the other Party’s prior written consent.
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5.10 Publicity. Neither Party shall issue any press release or otherwise publicize this Agreement or the development work
to be conducted hereunder, except in accordance with Section 4.2 of the APA.
ARTICLE VI
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
6.1

Representations, Warranties and Covenants. Each Party hereby represents and warrants to, and covenants with,

each other Party that:
(a) Due Organization. Good Standing and Power. It is a corporation duly organized, validly existing
and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and has the power and
authority to own, lease and operate its assets and to conduct the business now being conducted by it.
It has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its
obligations hereunder.
(b)

Authorization and Validity of Agreement. The execution, delivery and performance by it of this

Agreement and the consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly
authorized and approved by all necessary corporate or equivalent action on its part. This Agreement
has been duly executed and delivered by it and constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation,
enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited by applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Applicable Laws relating to or affecting
creditors’ rights generally and by general equity principles.
(c)

Absence of Conflicts. The execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement and the

consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not:
(i)

violate any Applicable Laws, regulations, orders, writs, injunctions or decrees of any governmental, judicial,

legislative, executive, administrative or regulatory
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authority of the United States or any foreign country or of any state or local governmental authority;
(ii)

conflict with, or result in the breach of any provision of, its certificate or articles of incorporation, bylaws or

equivalent organizational documents;
(iii) result in the creation of any lien or encumbrance of any nature upon any property being transferred or licensed
by it pursuant to this Agreement; or
(iv)

violate, conflict with, result in the breach or termination of or constitute a default under (or event which with notice,

lapse of time or both would constitute a default under), any permit, contract or agreement to which it is a Party or by which
any of its properties or businesses are bound.
(d)

Consents. No authorization, consent or approval of, or notice to or filing with, any

governmental authority is required for the execution, delivery and performance by it of this
Agreement, other than those associated with obtaining required regulatory approvals as contemplated
hereby.
(e)

Employee and Consultant Obligations. Each of its employees, consultants and Agents who will

engage in activities on behalf of a Party under the R&D Work Plan, or who will have access to
Confidential Information, is contractually obligated, or will be contractually obligated prior to his/her
participation or access, to (i) assign to the Party all Intellectual Property rights conceived, made or
discovered by such employee or Agent, whether solely or in collaboration with others, in connection
with such employee’s, consultant’s or Agent’s work for the Party, and (ii) maintain the confidentiality
of the Confidential Information. To the extent applicable, it is the intent of the Parties that ownership
of all developments under this Agreement shall vest in the respective Party by operation of law or by
assignment prior to assignment to the other Party pursuant to Article V.
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(f)

Debarment. No employee, consultant or Agent who will engage in activities on behalf of such Party under the R&D

Work Plan, or who will have access to Confidential Information of the other Party, has been the subject of a debarment proceeding
under 21 U.S.C. § 335a, and has been excluded from participation in any Federal or State or other government health care program.
6.2 EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED ELSEWHERE IN THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE
REQUIREMENTS IN THE R&D WORK PLAN, CONFORMIS MAKES NO WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO THE
SERVICES OR DELIVERABLES FURNISHED HEREUNDER, AND NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, WHETHER
WRITTEN, ORAL, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, NONINFRINGEMENT OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, SHALL APPLY.
ARTICLE VII
LIMITATION ON LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION
7.1

Responsibility and Control. Each Party shall be solely responsible for the safety of its own

employees, Agents and subcontractors with respect to their activities related to this Agreement.
7.2

Limitation of Liability. EXCEPT FOR [**], IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE

LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR [**], EVEN IF SUCH PARTY WAS ADVISED OR AWARE OF
THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. CONFORMIS’ LIABILITY ON A PER OCCURRENCE
BASIS UNDER SECTION 7.3(A)(IV) SHALL NOT EXCEED THE GREATER OF (I) $[**] AND (II)
THE AMOUNT OF INSURANCE COVERAGE ACTUALLY PAID TO CONFORMIS UNDER THENCURRENT INSURANCE POLICIES OF CONFORMIS IN RESPECT OF SUCH DAMAGES. For the
purposes of this Section 7.2, “per occurrence” means the occurrence of any claim or series of claims directly
arising out of or resulting from the same act, omission or event.
7.3
(a)

Mutual Indemnification.

Indemnification by Conformis. Conformis shall indemnify and hold harmless Stryker, its directors,

officers, employees, Agents and Affiliates and
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their respective successors, heirs and assigns (collectively the “Stryker Indemnified Parties”) against any
and all claims, suits, actions, and demands, wherever brought and however denominated, brought by a Third
Party (all of the foregoing being referred to herein as “Claims”) against the Stryker Indemnified Party
including all damages, collateral damages and settlements arising therefrom and reasonable outside
attorneys’ fees and litigation expenses related thereto, to the extent arising from or related to (i) any breach
of Conformis’ representations, warranties or obligations under this Agreement, (ii) any alleged violation of
any Applicable Laws by Conformis, (iii) the negligence (excluding any product liability Claim), gross
negligence or intentionally wrongful acts or omissions of Conformis, its employees, consultants, Agents and
Affiliates in their performance hereunder, and (iv) any portion of a Claim alleging personal injury on account
of product liability attributable to a Deliverable (including a Deliverable within a Product or a Stryker
Product). Conformis shall have no obligation or liability with respect to any Claim under Section 7.3(a)(iii)
or Section 7.3(a)(iv) to the extent directly arising out of or relating to: (1) any use of the Products in any
manner not in accordance with applicable documentation (e.g., instructions for use, package inserts, labels,
surgical guides and other materials provided by or approved by Conformis) that is not a result of Conformis’
conduct; (2) damage to the Products occurring after shipment that is not a result of Conformis’ conduct; or
(3) any modifications to the Products that are not contemplated by the instructions for use thereto by any
Person other than Supplier and that is not a result of Conformis’ conduct. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary, Stryker’s sole remedy and Conformis’ exclusive liability for breach of Section 3.2 with respect to a
Product or a Stryker Product shall be as set forth in Section 10.1(i) of the Distribution Agreement.
(b)

Indemnification by Stryker. Stryker shall indemnify and hold harmless Conformis, its directors,

officers, employees, Agents and
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Affiliates and their respective successors, heirs and assigns (collectively the “Conformis
Indemnified Parties”) against any and all Claims against the Conformis Indemnified Parties to the
extent arising from or related to (i) any breach of Stryker’s representations or warranties under this
Agreement, (ii) any alleged violation of any Applicable Laws by Stryker, and (iii) the grossly
negligent or intentionally wrongful acts or omissions of Stryker, its employees, consultants, Agents
and Affiliates in their performance hereunder.
(c)

Joint Liability. To the extent that Stryker, on the one hand, and Conformis, on the other hand,

each has indemnification obligations to the other in connection with a single Claim, they will
contribute to the aggregate damages, liabilities, costs and expenses arising from such Claim in a
proportion reflecting the relative and comparative responsibilities and determined liability of the
Parties for such damages, liabilities, costs and expenses, as well as any other relevant equitable
considerations. The amount paid or payable by a Party for purposes: of apportioning the aggregate
damages, liabilities, costs and expenses shall be deemed to include all reasonable legal fees and
expenses incurred by such Party in connection with investigating, preparing for or defending against
such Claim.
(d)

Indemnification Procedures. Claims for indemnification under this Agreement shall be governed

by the indemnification procedures set forth in Section 5.5 of the Asset Purchase Agreement.
(e)

Settlement. If the indemnifying Party assumes the defense of a Claim, no compromise or

settlement of such claims may be effected by the indemnifying Party without the indemnified Party
consent unless: (a) there is no finding or admission of any violation of Applicable Requirements or
any violation of the rights of any Person by the indemnified Party and no effect on any other claims
that may be made against the indemnified Party, (b) the sole relief provided is
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monetary damages that are paid in full by the indemnifying Party and (c) such settlement includes as
an unconditional release of liability by such Third Party claimant in respect of all Indemnified
Persons.
ARTICLE VIII
TERM AND TERMINATION
8.1

Term. The term of this Agreement shall begin as of the Effective Date and continue until Acceptance of all

Deliverables for Milestones #1 and #2 pursuant to Section 3.4 and completion of Milestone #3, unless earlier terminated under
Section 8.2, as provided for under the Other Agreements, or as mutually agreed by the Parties.
8.2

Termination.
(a)

Dissolution or Insolvency Event. Either Party may terminate this Agreement effective

immediately upon delivery of a Termination Notice if the other Party is (A) dissolved or is seeking to
dissolve itself under applicable corporate law other than as part of a corporate restructuring under
which its assets were first transferred to an assignee under this Agreement in accordance with Section
10.2; or (B) (i) becomes subject to an Insolvency Event, provided that, no termination right shall exist
in respect of an Insolvency Event that is a chapter 11 case under the Bankruptcy Code if the Party
subject to such chapter 11 case (x) continues to perform all of its material obligations under this
Agreement, (y) does not seek to reject this Agreement or take any action in such chapter 11 case to
disavow or undermine the rights of the other Party under this Agreement, and (z) assumes this
Agreement on or before any deadline in such chapter 11 case for such assumption; notwithstanding
the foregoing, nothing herein shall limit or prevent the Party not subject to an Insolvency Event from
objecting to assumption or assumption and assignment of this Agreement or requiring cure payments
or adequate assurance
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of future performance as a condition of assumption or assumption and assignment.
(b)

Default. If any Party believes the other is in material breach of any of its material

obligations under this Agreement in a manner other than as set forth in Article III to which this
Section 8.2(b) does not apply, it may give notice of such material breach to the allegedly breaching
Party, which Party shall have [**] (or such longer period of time as may be reasonably commensurate
with the effort reasonably required to remedy such default) in which to remedy such default. If such
alleged material breach is not remedied in the time period set forth above, the Party alleging material
breach shall refer the matter to the chief executive officers of each Party, who shall meet and confer
within [**] after notice from the non-breaching Party of its desire for such a meeting. If the Parties
are unable to resolve any dispute in such meeting and no Action has been brought in accordance with
Section 10.8 with respect to such dispute, the non-breaching Party may terminate this Agreement
immediately upon delivery to the defaulting Party of a Termination Notice. The non-defaulting
Party’s right to terminate this Agreement in accordance with this Section 8.2(b) shall not be construed
as an exclusive remedy.
(c)

If Stryker Finally Rejects any Deliverable for Milestone #1 or #2 in accordance with Article III, Stryker may terminate

this Agreement, which termination shall be effective immediately upon delivery of a Termination Notice to Conformis.
8.3

Surviving Rights/Obligations.

(a)

The provisions of Articles V, VI, VII and IX and Sections 8.3, 8.4, 10.1, 10.2, 10.5 – 10.13 and 10.15, together with

any provisions required for the interpretation or enforcement of any of the foregoing, shall survive the termination or expiration of
this Agreement, provided, however that Section 7.3(a)(iv) shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement for only
[**] thereafter. The termination of this Agreement shall not relieve any Party from obligations that are expressly indicated to
survive termination of the Agreement.
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8.4

Return or Destruction of Confidential Information. Solely with respect to Confidential Information in which a

Party has no ownership interest at all, owned or co-owned Confidential Information being exempt herefrom, upon termination of
this Agreement, unless independently authorized to retain such of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information under an Other
Agreement, each Receiving Party shall, and shall direct its Representatives to, cease all use and make no further use of any
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party and shall, upon written request from the Disclosing Party, promptly return or
destroy all Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party (including copies thereof) that is in tangible form (provided, however,
that, with respect to electronic imaging of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information, such materials shall be deleted and
removed from access by an ordinary user from all computer hard drives, servers and similar media but shall not require any action
to delete or erase such materials from any disaster recovery tapes or other back-up media or any record retention or computer
storage system so long as the Receiving Party and its Representatives take such actions as are reasonably likely to prevent access to
such materials by any person other than information technology and other administrative employees who are responsible for
maintaining those disaster recovery tapes and other back-up media) and any documents created by the Receiving Party or any of its
Representatives containing Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party. The Receiving Party shall provide to the Disclosing
Party written certification of destroyed Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party promptly following the destruction thereof.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Receiving Party and its Representatives may retain one copy of any Confidential Information of
the Disclosing Party in a secure location in the Receiving Party's legal department for the purpose of establishing compliance with
Applicable Laws (including professional standards) and for defending or maintaining any litigation (including any administrative
proceeding) relating to this Agreement, the Other Agreement, the Prior CDA or the Confidential Information, provided that all such
information shall continue to be kept confidential pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
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ARTICLE IX
RECORD-KEEPING AND AUDITS
9.1

Records Retention. Each of the Parties shall record in written or electronic form all material information with respect

to the performance of its obligations relating to the R&D Program in accordance with standard industry practices.
ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS
10.1

Agency. Neither this Agreement nor any of the Other Agreements creates any partnership,

agency or other relationship among the Parties for any purpose, including for all tax purposes. No Party is
granted any right or authority to assume or to create any obligation or responsibility on behalf or in the name
of the other Party or to bind the other Party in any manner whatsoever.
10.2

Assignment and Change of Control. Except as otherwise provided herein, a Party shall not

have the right to assign any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement (whether through a merger, sale
of stock, or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other Party; except that, either Party shall be
permitted, without any need for the other Party’s consent, to assign this Agreement (a) in whole or in part to
an Affiliate (provided, however, that once such Person is no longer an Affiliate of the assigning Party, such
former Affiliate shall assign this Agreement back to the assigning Party), provided that the assigning Party
provides the other Party notice of any such assignment provided further that failure to provide such notice of
such assignment shall not render such assignment void; or (b) to a Third Party in connection with sale or
transfer of all or substantially all of the assigning Party’s business or assets relating to the subject matter of
this Agreement, whether by Change of Control, merger, sale of assets or otherwise; provided, however, that,
with respect to clause (b), (i) any assignment of this Agreement shall be void and have no effect unless and
until the assignee assumes the
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obligations of the assigning Party in a written instrument, a copy of which is provided to the other Party; and
(ii) any assignment of this Agreement must be accompanied by a simultaneous assignment of the Other
Agreements to the same assignee, and the assigning Party’s interest in the Purchased Assets to the same
assignee unless otherwise agreed by Conformis in advance, which agreement shall not be unreasonably
withheld. Any assignment in whole or in part shall not relieve the assigning Party of its obligations
hereunder. If and to the extent that a Party assigns any of its rights and/or obligations hereunder in
accordance with this Section 10.2, then this Agreement shall be binding upon the assignee to the same extent
as if it were a Party hereto. Any assignment not in accordance with this Section 10.2 shall be void.
10.3

Further Actions. Each Party agrees, subsequent to the execution and delivery of this

Agreement and without any additional consideration, to execute, acknowledge and deliver such further
documents and instruments, and to do all such other acts, as may be necessary or appropriate in order to
carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.
10.4
(a)

Force Majeure.
In the event that either Party is unable to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, or

to enjoy any of its benefits because of fire, natural disaster, action or decrees of Governmental Entities or any
other event not within such Party’s reasonable control (a “Force Majeure Event”), the Party who has been
so affected shall give written notice to the other Party as soon as practicable and shall do everything
reasonably possible to resume performance. Upon receipt of such notice, all obligations under the Agreement
shall be immediately suspended. If the period of nonperformance exceeds [**] from the receipt of notice of
the Force Majeure Event, the Party whose ability to perform has not been so affected may, by giving written
notice, terminate the Agreement. Any acceptance or warranty period affected by a Force Majeure Event shall
likewise be extended for a period equal to the duration of such Force Majeure Event. As applied to this
Section 10.4
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and to determine whether an event is reasonably beyond control of a Party, materials shortages, strikes,
slowdowns, other labor related delays or events resulting from a Party’s, its Affiliates or their respective
agents' negligence, gross negligence, fraud or intentional misconduct are not Force Majeure Events.
(b)

Notwithstanding the provisions set forth in Section 10.4(a), above, a Force Majeure Event shall

not include any governmental action of an enforcement nature that arises from or relates to either Party’s
failure to comply with any federal, national, state, provincial, international, or local law, statute, regulation or
ordinance applicable to such Party’s performance hereunder.
10.5

Notices. All notices, requests, demands, waivers, instructions, consents and other

communications to be given pursuant to the terms of this Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed to
have been duly given upon receipt if delivered by hand, sent by a nationally recognized overnight mail
service, or mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid:
If to Stryker, addressed to:
Howmedica Osteonics Corp.
c/o
Stryker Corporation
Attn: Legal Department, [**]
325 Corporate Drive
Mahwah, NJ 07430
If to Conformis, addressed to:
Conformis, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer and
General Counsel
600 Technology Park Drive
Billerica, MA 01821
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
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WilmerHale
Attn: Jason Kropp, Esq.
60 State Street
Boston, MA 02109
Any Party may change its address, telephone number, or facsimile number by prior written notice to the other Party.
10.6

Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by an

instrument or instruments in writing signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any such modification
or amendment is sought. Conformis may waive compliance by Stryker or Stryker may waive compliance by
Conformis with any term or provision of this Agreement on the part of such Party to be performed or
complied with, but only by an instrument in writing. The waiver by any Party of a breach of any term or
provision of this Agreement will not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach.
10.7

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the

laws of New York State (without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof).
10.8

Jurisdiction. Subject to Section 10.14, the federal and state Courts of New York State shall

have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, Action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes,
which may arise out of or in connection with this Agreement; provided, however, that each Party shall have
the right to institute judicial proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction against the other Party or
anyone acting by, through or under the other Party, in order to enforce an Order entered by federal state
courts of New York. Each Party shall cause its applicable permitted Third Party sublicensees and Affiliates
receiving any rights or benefits (including the receipt of any Confidential Information) under this Agreement
to be bound by this Section 10.8 prior to their exercise of any such rights or receipt of any such benefits. If
such Party fails to comply with the foregoing sentence
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with respect to any such Third Party or Affiliate, the other Party shall have the right to seek relief in any
court of competent jurisdiction in connection with any dispute involving such Third Party or Affiliate.
10.9

Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity

or unenforceability of any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions
hereof. If any term or other provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any
circumstance, is invalid, illegal or unenforceable by a Court of competent jurisdiction, (a) a suitable and
equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable,
the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision and (b) the remainder of this Agreement
and the application of such provision to other Persons or circumstances shall not be affected by such
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability, nor shall such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability affect the
validity or enforceability of such provision, or the application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.
10.10

Entire Agreement and Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including the Other

Agreements) contains the entire agreement by and among the Parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof and there are no agreements, understandings, representations or warranties between the Parties other
than those set forth or referred to herein. This Agreement is not intended to confer upon any Person not a
party (or their successors and assigns permitted by Section 10.2), and to the extent expressly provided, their
Affiliates, Agents, employees and representatives, any rights or remedies hereunder, except that Section
7.3(a) and Section 7.3(b) hereof are intended to benefit, and to be enforceable by, any of the Relevant
Indemnified Parties therein described.
10.11

Jointly Prepared. This Agreement has been prepared jointly and shall not be strictly

construed against any Party.
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10.12

Expenses. Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement and the Other Agreements, all

legal and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby will be paid by the Party incurring such costs and expenses.
10.13

Counterparts and Electronic Transmission. This Agreement may be executed in one or

more counterparts, all of which will be considered one and the same agreement, and will become effective
when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the Parties and delivered to the other Party. This
Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile or e-mail transmission with the same effect as if a
manually signed original was personally delivered.
10.14

Negotiation in Event of Dispute. In the event of any dispute or disagreement between any of

the Parties as to the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement or any agreement incorporated herein,
the performance of obligations hereunder or thereunder, or any other disputed matter relating hereto or
thereto, such matter, upon the written request of any Party, will be referred to an executive of each Party.
Such executives will promptly meet in good faith to resolve the dispute. If the executives do not agree upon a
decision within thirty calendar days after the reference of the matter to them, any Party will be free to
exercise any remedies available to it.
10.15

Rules of Construction. As used in this Agreement, the words “include”, “includes” and

“including” means “including without limitation”, and no inferences or conclusions of any sort shall be
drawn from the fact that in some instances in this Agreement the words “include”, “includes” and
“including” are actually followed by the phrase “without limitation” or the equivalent while in other
instances they are not. Except where the context expressly requires otherwise, the use of any gender herein
will be deemed to encompass references to any gender, and the use of the singular will be deemed to include
the plural (and vice versa).
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[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Development Agreement to be duly executed as of the respective
dates written below.

HOWMEDICA OSTEONICS CORP.

CONFORMIS, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

/s/ Spencer Stiles
Spencer Stiles
President
September 26, 2019

/s/ Mark A. Augusti
Mark A. Augusti
President and CEO
9-30-2019

[Signature Page to Development Agreement]

Execution Version
Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause
competitive harm to the Company, if publicly disclosed. Double asterisks denote omissions.

Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause competitive harm to the
Company, if publicly disclosed. Double asterisks denote omissions.
Exhibit 10.7

FIRST AMENDMENT TO ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This FIRST AMENDMENT TO ASSET PURCHASE AGREMEENT (“Amendment No. 1”) is hereby entered into as of October 7,
2019 (the “Amendment Effective Date”), by and between Howmedica Osteonics Corp. (“Buyer”) and Conformis, Inc. (“Seller”) (collectively,
the “Parties”). Terms used in this Amendment No. 1 and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in that certain
Asset Purchase Agreement between Buyer and Seller dated September 30, 2019 (the “Agreement”).
RECITALS
A.

As part of the Manufacturing Know-How within the Purchased Assets which were conveyed from Seller to Buyer under the
Agreement and set forth on Schedule 1.1 thereto, Seller mistakenly listed two (2) documents and mistaken omitted one (1)
document; and

B.

The Parties wish to restate Schedule 1.1 in its entirety to correct the foregoing errors.
AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:
1. Schedule 1.1. The Parties acknowledge and agree that (a) documents [**] were mistakenly included on Schedule 1.1; and (b)
document [**] was mistakenly omitted from Schedule 1.1. Therefore, the Parties hereby agree to delete Schedule 1.1 in its entirety and replace
it with the First Amended Schedule 1.1 attached hereto as Exhibit A. The Parties hereby acknowledge that, notwithstanding Section 1.9 of the
Agreement, the foregoing documents have not yet been provided to Buyer, and Buyer hereby agrees and stipulates that such omission shall not
constitute a breach by Seller of the Agreement or any Ancillary Agreements. Buyer agrees to electronically deliver document [**] to Buyer
within [**] of the Amendment Effective Date.
2.

Effectiveness. This Amendment No. 1 shall be effective upon the Amendment Effective Date, subject to the signing by both

Parties.
3. Miscellaneous.
(a) Entire Agreement. This Amendment No. 1 constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties with respect to its subject
matter, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the Parties with respect to the amendment and
addition of the same. This Amendment No. 1 is not intended to confer any rights or remedies hereunder upon any person other than the Parties.
(b) Governing Law. THIS AMENDMENT NO. 1 SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, REGARDLESS OF THE LAWS THAT MIGHT OTHERWISE GOVERN UNDER
APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS.
(c) Counterparts. This Amendment No. 1 may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all
of which together shall constitute one instrument.
(d) Agreement. Except as specifically set forth in this Amendment No. 1, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect
in accordance with its terms. In the event of a conflict between the Agreement and this Amendment No. 1, this Amendment No.1 shall prevail.
The Agreement, as amended by this Amendment No. 1, shall constitute a single, integrated agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment No. 1 has been executed by the Parties hereto as of the Effective Date.

Howmedica Osteonics Corp.

Conformis, Inc.

By

/s/ Spencer Stiles

By

/s/ Mark A. Augusti

Name:

Spencer Stiles

Name:

Mark A. Augusti

Title:

Group President, Orthopaedics and Spine

Title:

President and CEO

ActiveUS 176738772v.1

CONFORMIS, INC.
PERFORMANCE-VESTED RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT
Conformis, Inc. (the “Company”) has selected you to receive the following restricted stock award, which is subject to the
provisions of the Company’s 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and the terms and conditions contained in this PerformanceVested Restricted Stock Agreement.
Name of Recipient:
Number of shares of restricted common stock awarded:
Grant Date:
Vesting Schedule:

All vesting is dependent on the level of achievement of the
performance-vesting conditions set forth on Schedule A to the
Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Agreement, and the
Recipient remaining an Eligible Participant on each applicable
vesting date, as provided herein.

Please confirm your acceptance of this performance-vested restricted stock award and of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement by signing a copy of this Agreement where indicated below.
CONFORMIS, INC.

By:
Name
Title

Accepted and Agreed:
_____________________________________
Name of Recipient
Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Agreement

CONFORMIS, INC.
PERFORMANCE-VESTED RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT
The terms and conditions of the award of shares of restricted common stock of the Company (the “Restricted Shares”) made
to the Recipient, as set forth on the cover page of this Agreement, are as follows:
1. Issuance of Restricted Shares.
(a) The Restricted Shares are issued to the Recipient, effective as of the Grant Date (as set forth on the cover page
of this Agreement), in consideration of services rendered and to be rendered by the Recipient to the Company.
(b) The Restricted Shares will be issued by the Company in book entry form, in the name of the Recipient. The
Recipient agrees that the Restricted Shares shall be subject to the forfeiture provisions set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement and
the restrictions on transfer set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement.
2. Vesting.
Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or the Plan, the Restricted Shares shall vest in accordance with, and
subject to, the performance-vesting conditions set forth on Schedule A attached hereto. Any fractional number of Restricted
Shares resulting from the application of such performance-vesting conditions shall be rounded down to the nearest whole
number of Restricted Shares.
3. Forfeiture of Unvested Restricted Shares Upon Cessation of Service.
In the event that the Recipient ceases to be an employee, director or officer of, or consultant or advisor to, the Company or
any other entity the employees, officers, directors, consultants, or advisors of which are eligible to receive restricted stock grants
under the Plan (an “Eligible Participant”), for any reason or no reason, with or without cause, all of the Restricted Shares that are
unvested as of the time of such cessation shall be forfeited immediately and automatically to the Company, without the payment of
any consideration to the Recipient, effective as of such cessation. The Recipient hereby authorizes the Company to take any actions
necessary or appropriate to cancel any certificate(s) representing forfeited Restricted Shares and transfer ownership of such
forfeited Restricted Shares to the Company; and if the Company or its transfer agent requires an executed stock power or similar
confirmatory instrument in connection with such cancellation and transfer, the Recipient shall promptly execute and deliver the
same to the Company. The Recipient shall have no further rights with respect to any Restricted Shares that are so forfeited.

Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Agreement

4. Restrictions on Transfer.
The Recipient shall not sell, assign, transfer, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of, by operation of law or otherwise
(collectively “transfer”) any Restricted Shares, or any interest therein, until such Restricted Shares have vested, except that the
Recipient may transfer such Restricted Shares: (a) to or for the benefit of any spouse, children, parents, uncles, aunts, siblings,
grandchildren and any other relatives approved by the Compensation Committee (collectively, “Approved Relatives”) or to a trust
established solely for the benefit of the Recipient and/or Approved Relatives, provided that such Restricted Shares shall remain
subject to this Agreement (including without limitation the forfeiture provisions set forth in Section 3 and the restrictions on
transfer set forth in this Section 4) and such permitted transferee shall, as a condition to such transfer, deliver to the Company a
written instrument confirming that such transferee shall be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement; or (b) as
part of the sale of all or substantially all of the shares of capital stock of the Company (including pursuant to a merger or
consolidation). The Company shall not be required (i) to transfer on its books any of the Restricted Shares which have been
transferred in violation of any of the provisions of this Agreement or (ii) to treat as owner of such Restricted Shares or to pay
dividends to any transferee to whom such Restricted Shares have been transferred in violation of any of the provisions of this
Agreement.
5. Restrictive Legends.
The book entry account reflecting the issuance of the Restricted Shares in the name of the Recipient shall bear a legend or
other notation upon substantially the following terms:
“These shares of stock are subject to forfeiture provisions and restrictions on transfer set forth in a certain Restricted Stock
Agreement between the corporation and the registered owner of these shares (or his or her predecessor in interest), and such
Agreement is available for inspection without charge at the office of the Secretary of the corporation.”
6. Rights as a Shareholder.
Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, for so long as the Recipient is the registered owner of the Restricted
Shares, the Recipient shall have all rights as a shareholder with respect to the Restricted Shares, whether vested or unvested,
including, without limitation, rights to vote the Restricted Shares and act in respect of the Restricted Shares at any meeting of
shareholders; provided that, as provided in the Plan, the payment of dividends on unvested Restricted Shares shall be deferred until
the vesting of such shares.
7. Provisions of the Plan.
This Agreement is subject to the provisions of the Plan, a copy of which is furnished to the Recipient with this Agreement.
8. Tax Matters.
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(a) Acknowledgments; Section 83(b) Election. The Recipient acknowledges that he or she is responsible for
obtaining the advice of the Recipient’s own tax advisors with respect to the acquisition of the Restricted Shares, including with
respect to the availability of making an election under Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the
Recipient is relying solely on such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents with
respect to the tax consequences relating to the Restricted Shares. The Recipient understands that the Recipient (and not the
Company) shall be responsible for the Recipient’s tax liability that may arise in connection with the acquisition, vesting and/or
disposition of the Restricted Shares.
(b) Withholding. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Company has the right to deduct from payments
of any kind otherwise due to the Recipient any federal, state, local or other taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with
respect to the vesting of the Restricted Shares. At such time as the Recipient is not aware of any material nonpublic information
about the Company or the Common Stock, the Recipient shall execute the instructions set forth in Schedule B attached hereto (the
“Automatic Sale Instructions”) as the means of satisfying such tax obligation. If the Recipient does not execute the Automatic Sale
Instructions prior to an applicable vesting date, then the Recipient agrees that if under applicable law the Recipient will owe taxes
at such vesting date on the portion of the award then vested the Company shall be entitled to immediate payment from the
Recipient of the amount of any tax required to be withheld by the Company. The Company shall not deliver any shares of Common
Stock to the Recipient or release such shares from forfeiture until it is satisfied that all required withholdings have been made.
9. Miscellaneous.
(a) No Right to Continued Employment or Other Status. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that,
notwithstanding the fact that the vesting of the Restricted Shares is contingent upon his or her continued employment by or other
service to the Company, this Agreement does not constitute an express or implied promise of continued employment or other
service or confer upon the Recipient any rights with respect to continued employment or any other relationship with the Company.
(b) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the internal
laws of the State of Delaware without regard to any applicable conflicts of laws provisions.
(c) Recipient’s Acknowledgments; Clawback. The Recipient acknowledges that he or she has read this Agreement,
has received and read the Plan, and understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan. In accepting this award,
the Recipient agrees to be bound by any clawback policy that the Company may adopt in the future.
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Schedule A
Performance-Vesting Conditions
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Schedule B
Automatic Sale Instructions
The undersigned hereby consents and agrees that any taxes due on a vesting date as a result of the vesting of Restricted Shares on
such date shall be paid through an automatic sale of shares as follows:
(a) Upon any vesting of any Restricted Shares pursuant to Section 2 hereof, the Company shall sell, or arrange for the sale
of, such number of shares of Common Stock that vest pursuant to Section 2 as is sufficient to generate net proceeds sufficient to
satisfy the Company’s minimum statutory withholding obligations with respect to the income recognized by the Recipient upon the
vesting of the Restricted Shares (based on minimum statutory withholding rates for all tax purposes, including payroll and social
security taxes, that are applicable to such income), and the Company shall retain such net proceeds in satisfaction of such tax
withholding obligations.
(b) The Recipient hereby appoints the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary of the Company to serve as his or her
attorney in fact to sell the Recipient’s Common Stock in accordance with this Schedule B. The Recipient agrees to execute and
deliver such documents, instruments and certificates as may reasonably be required in connection with the sale of the Shares
pursuant to this Schedule B.
(c) The Recipient represents to the Company that, as of the date hereof, he or she is not aware of any material nonpublic
information about the Company or the Common Stock. The Recipient and the Company have structured this Agreement, including
this Schedule B, to constitute a “binding contract” relating to the sale of Common Stock, consistent with the affirmative defense to
liability under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 under Rule 10b5-1(c) promulgated under such Act.
The Company shall not deliver any shares of Common Stock to the Recipient or free any such shares from forfeiture until it
is satisfied that all required withholdings have been made.

____________________________________
Recipient Name: %%FIRST_NAME%-% %%LAST_NAME%-%
Date:
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CONFORMIS, INC.
PERFORMANCE-VESTED RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT
Conformis, Inc. (the “Company”) has selected you to receive the following restricted stock award, which is subject to the
provisions of the Company’s 2019 Sales Team Performance-Based Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and the terms and conditions
contained in this Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Agreement.
Name of Recipient:
Number of shares of restricted common stock awarded:
Grant Date:
Vesting Schedule:

All vesting is dependent on the level of achievement of the
performance-vesting conditions set forth on Schedule A to the
Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Agreement, and the
Recipient remaining an Eligible Participant on each applicable
vesting date, as provided herein.

Please confirm your acceptance of this performance-vested restricted stock award and of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement by signing a copy of this Agreement where indicated below.
CONFORMIS, INC.

By:
Name
Title

Accepted and Agreed:
_____________________________________
Name of Recipient

Performance-Vested Restricted Stock Agreement

CONFORMIS, INC.
PERFORMANCE-VESTED RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT
The terms and conditions of the award of shares of restricted common stock of the Company (the “Restricted Shares”) made
to the Recipient, as set forth on the cover page of this Agreement, are as follows:
1. Issuance of Restricted Shares.
(a) The Restricted Shares are issued to the Recipient, effective as of the Grant Date (as set forth on the cover page
of this Agreement), in consideration of services rendered and to be rendered by the Recipient to the Company.
(b) The Restricted Shares will be issued by the Company in book entry form, in the name of the Recipient. The
Recipient agrees that the Restricted Shares shall be subject to the forfeiture provisions set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement and
the restrictions on transfer set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement.
2. Vesting.
Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or the Plan, the Restricted Shares shall vest in accordance with, and
subject to, the performance-vesting conditions set forth on Schedule A attached hereto. Any fractional number of Restricted
Shares resulting from the application of such performance-vesting conditions shall be rounded down to the nearest whole
number of Restricted Shares.
3. Forfeiture of Unvested Restricted Shares Upon Cessation of Service.
In the event that the Recipient ceases to be an employee, director or officer of, or consultant or advisor to, the Company or
any other entity the employees, officers, directors, consultants, or advisors of which are eligible to receive restricted stock grants
under the Plan (an “Eligible Participant”), for any reason or no reason, with or without cause, all of the Restricted Shares that are
unvested as of the time of such cessation shall be forfeited immediately and automatically to the Company, without the payment of
any consideration to the Recipient, effective as of such cessation. The Recipient hereby authorizes the Company to take any actions
necessary or appropriate to cancel any certificate(s) representing forfeited Restricted Shares and transfer ownership of such
forfeited Restricted Shares to the Company; and if the Company or its transfer agent requires an executed stock power or similar
confirmatory instrument in connection with such cancellation and transfer, the Recipient shall promptly execute and deliver the
same to the Company. The Recipient shall have no further rights with respect to any Restricted Shares that are so forfeited.
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4. Restrictions on Transfer.
The Recipient shall not sell, assign, transfer, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of, by operation of law or otherwise
(collectively “transfer”) any Restricted Shares, or any interest therein, until such Restricted Shares have vested, except that the
Recipient may transfer such Restricted Shares: (a) to or for the benefit of any spouse, children, parents, uncles, aunts, siblings,
grandchildren and any other relatives approved by the Compensation Committee (collectively, “Approved Relatives”) or to a trust
established solely for the benefit of the Recipient and/or Approved Relatives, provided that such Restricted Shares shall remain
subject to this Agreement (including without limitation the forfeiture provisions set forth in Section 3 and the restrictions on
transfer set forth in this Section 4) and such permitted transferee shall, as a condition to such transfer, deliver to the Company a
written instrument confirming that such transferee shall be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement; or (b) as
part of the sale of all or substantially all of the shares of capital stock of the Company (including pursuant to a merger or
consolidation). The Company shall not be required (i) to transfer on its books any of the Restricted Shares which have been
transferred in violation of any of the provisions of this Agreement or (ii) to treat as owner of such Restricted Shares or to pay
dividends to any transferee to whom such Restricted Shares have been transferred in violation of any of the provisions of this
Agreement.
5. Restrictive Legends.
The book entry account reflecting the issuance of the Restricted Shares in the name of the Recipient shall bear a legend or
other notation upon substantially the following terms:
“These shares of stock are subject to forfeiture provisions and restrictions on transfer set forth in a certain Restricted Stock
Agreement between the corporation and the registered owner of these shares (or his or her predecessor in interest), and such
Agreement is available for inspection without charge at the office of the Secretary of the corporation.”
6. Rights as a Shareholder.
Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, for so long as the Recipient is the registered owner of the Restricted
Shares, the Recipient shall have all rights as a shareholder with respect to the Restricted Shares, whether vested or unvested,
including, without limitation, rights to vote the Restricted Shares and act in respect of the Restricted Shares at any meeting of
shareholders; provided that, as provided in the Plan, the payment of dividends on unvested Restricted Shares shall be deferred until
the vesting of such shares.
7. Provisions of the Plan.
This Agreement is subject to the provisions of the Plan, a copy of which is furnished to the Recipient with this Agreement.
8. Tax Matters.
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(a) Acknowledgments; Section 83(b) Election. The Recipient acknowledges that he or she is responsible for
obtaining the advice of the Recipient’s own tax advisors with respect to the acquisition of the Restricted Shares, including with
respect to the availability of making an election under Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the
Recipient is relying solely on such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents with
respect to the tax consequences relating to the Restricted Shares. The Recipient understands that the Recipient (and not the
Company) shall be responsible for the Recipient’s tax liability that may arise in connection with the acquisition, vesting and/or
disposition of the Restricted Shares.
(b) Withholding. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Company has the right to deduct from payments
of any kind otherwise due to the Recipient any federal, state, local or other taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with
respect to the vesting of the Restricted Shares. At such time as the Recipient is not aware of any material nonpublic information
about the Company or the Common Stock, the Recipient shall execute the instructions set forth in Schedule B attached hereto (the
“Automatic Sale Instructions”) as the means of satisfying such tax obligation. If the Recipient does not execute the Automatic Sale
Instructions prior to an applicable vesting date, then the Recipient agrees that if under applicable law the Recipient will owe taxes
at such vesting date on the portion of the award then vested the Company shall be entitled to immediate payment from the
Recipient of the amount of any tax required to be withheld by the Company. The Company shall not deliver any shares of Common
Stock to the Recipient or release such shares from forfeiture until it is satisfied that all required withholdings have been made.
9. Miscellaneous.
(a) No Right to Continued Employment or Other Status. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that,
notwithstanding the fact that the vesting of the Restricted Shares is contingent upon his or her continued employment by or other
service to the Company, this Agreement does not constitute an express or implied promise of continued employment or other
service or confer upon the Recipient any rights with respect to continued employment or any other relationship with the Company.
(b) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the internal
laws of the State of Delaware without regard to any applicable conflicts of laws provisions.
(c) Recipient’s Acknowledgments; Clawback. The Recipient acknowledges that he or she has read this Agreement,
has received and read the Plan, and understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan. In accepting this award,
the Recipient agrees to be bound by any clawback policy that the Company may adopt in the future.
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Schedule A
Performance-Vesting Conditions
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Schedule B
Automatic Sale Instructions
The undersigned hereby consents and agrees that any taxes due on a vesting date as a result of the vesting of Restricted Shares on
such date shall be paid through an automatic sale of shares as follows:
(a) Upon any vesting of any Restricted Shares pursuant to Section 2 hereof, the Company shall sell, or arrange for the sale
of, such number of shares of Common Stock that vest pursuant to Section 2 as is sufficient to generate net proceeds sufficient to
satisfy the Company’s minimum statutory withholding obligations with respect to the income recognized by the Recipient upon the
vesting of the Restricted Shares (based on minimum statutory withholding rates for all tax purposes, including payroll and social
security taxes, that are applicable to such income), and the Company shall retain such net proceeds in satisfaction of such tax
withholding obligations.
(b) The Recipient hereby appoints the Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary of the Company to serve as his or her
attorney in fact to sell the Recipient’s Common Stock in accordance with this Schedule B. The Recipient agrees to execute and
deliver such documents, instruments and certificates as may reasonably be required in connection with the sale of the Shares
pursuant to this Schedule B.
(c) The Recipient represents to the Company that, as of the date hereof, he or she is not aware of any material nonpublic
information about the Company or the Common Stock. The Recipient and the Company have structured this Agreement, including
this Schedule B, to constitute a “binding contract” relating to the sale of Common Stock, consistent with the affirmative defense to
liability under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 under Rule 10b5-1(c) promulgated under such Act.
The Company shall not deliver any shares of Common Stock to the Recipient or free any such shares from forfeiture until it
is satisfied that all required withholdings have been made.

____________________________________
Recipient Name: %%FIRST_NAME%-% %%LAST_NAME%-%
Date:
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Mark A. Augusti, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Conformis, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:

11/1/2019

By:

/s/Mark A. Augusti
Mark A. Augusti
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Frederick W. Driscoll, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Conformis, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:

11/1/2019

By:

/s/ Federick W. Driscoll
Frederick W. Driscoll
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Interim Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Conformis, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended September 30, 2019 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Mark A. Augusti, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his
knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:

11/1/2019

By:

/s/Mark A. Augusti
Mark A. Augusti
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Conformis, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended September 30, 2019 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Paul Weiner, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:

11/1/2019

By:

/s/ Frederick W. Driscoll
Frederick W. Driscoll
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Interim Principal Financial Officer)

